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This annual report contains certain statements that are forward-
looking or which use certain forward-looking terminologies.
These forward-looking statements are based on the current
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control which may cause actual results or performance to differ
materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-
looking statements.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

The global economic expansion has continued to decelerate
with heightened uncertainty amidst global industrial chain
realignments, frequent geopolitical conflicts, and increasingly
complex international dynamics, coupled with divergent
monetary policies and evolving debt risks worldwide. Within this
macroeconomic context, China’s capital markets confronted both
significant challenges and opportunities. On one hand, sluggish
global economic momentum, volatile cross-border capital flows,
and fluctuating investor sentiment have created an environment
where investment risks and opportunities coexist. On the other
hand, the ongoing optimization of China’s economic structure,
targeted policy interventions, and accelerated technological
innovation have infused new vitality and growth potential into
the capital markets. Confronted with such complicated market
conditions, we responded proactively by adjusting our investment
strategies in a prudent yet flexible manner while upholding our
investment philosophy balancing stability with innovation, thus
successfully delivering stable returns with manageable risks for
the year.

In FY2024/2025, we comprehensively and systematically
optimized and upgraded our investment strategies in view
of profound changes in market environment and the new
requirements of the Company’s strategic development. We
established a robust investment system anchored in four core
strategies: unlisted equity investments targeting emerging
sectors, debt investments for stable returns, fund investments by
leveraging expertise, and listed equity investments for capturing
market opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREMESF

In terms of unlisted equity investments, we proactively identify
non-listed enterprises with high-growth potential, particularly
those at the forefront of emerging industries with proprietary
technologies and innovative business models. Through strategic
capital deployment and resource empowerment, we commit to
long-term partnerships, sharing investees’ value appreciation and
establishing a foundation for sustained growth of our investment
portfolio. Debt investments aim to seek stable returns from
debt assets of varying credit ratings and maturities via rigorous
credit assessment and granular asset allocation, while effectively
hedging the risk of market fluctuations to ensure portfolio
stability. With regard to our fund investment strategy, we
collaborate with elite domestic and international fund managers
across sectors and investment stages. We leverage their expertise
and market insights to access diversified opportunities, achieving
diverse asset allocation and effective risk dispersion with cross-
market and cross-sector exposure. For listed equity investments,
our decisions are anchored in-depth market research and
tactical timing. We employ flexible strategies to capture short-
term dislocations in secondary markets, enhancing our portfolio
liquidity and return elasticity.

Our investment portfolio demonstrates a structurally balanced
allocation, significantly enhanced risk resilience, and an organic
integration of short-term gains with long-term value appreciation.
This framework enables us not only to effectively navigate
complex market challenges but also capitalize on opportunities
arising from economic restructuring and capital market reforms
through diversified investments and targeted sector positioning,
thereby further elevating our overall investment performance and
shareholder returns. We believe China’s investment markets will
exhibit renewed vitality as the economy steadily reaccelerates and
capital markets mature. Guided by market dynamics and policy
direction, we will continue aligning with national development
strategies, supporting the real economy, enhancing project
selection and risk ‘management capabilities, with a view to
seizing emerging opportunities during market recovery phases
and deliveringsustainable value for our shareholders.

WANG Qin
Chairman

27 June 2025, Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

WEALTHINK Al OVERVIEW

Wealthink Al is a cross-border investor with a focus on China’s
fast-growing industries and the best investment opportunities.
We leverage our capital strength to invest in targeted companies,
with returns primarily generated from interests, dividends and
capital appreciation. Starting from early 2024, in view of changes
in market environment and the strategic development needs of
the Company, we underwent comprehensive adjustments and
optimization of our investment strategy, re-establishing our four-
core investment strategy, namely core-holding-centered unlisted
equity investments, debt investments, fund investments and listed
equity investments.

INVESTMENT REVIEW
Investment Activities

During the Year, the economic landscape is influenced by a
complex interplay of various factors, and risks at the external
macro level remain prominent. The Chinese mainland’s economy
exceeded RMB130 trillion in 2024, which grew by 5.0% year-
on-year calculated at constant prices, showing a recovery trend.
In 2025, the GDP in the first quarter increased by 5.4% year-
on-year, continuing a steady growth.
steadily with an optimised structure, and net exports are steadily

Investment is growing

advancing. Policy stimulus continues to be implemented through
measures such as consumption subsidies and the promotion
of investment projects. Sino-US relations have an impact on
trade and technological cooperation, which poses a significant
challenge to export-oriented industries and high-tech fields.

The Hong Kong economy saw its GDP rise by 3.1% year-on-
year in the first quarter of 2025, reaching a five-quarter high.
In terms of the capital markets, the Hong Kong IPO market has
shown remarkable momentum in the first half of 2025, recording
a significant uptake in large IPO deals. The strong performance,
which was driven by improved market sentiment combined with
enhanced market liquidity, and further been bolstered by the
growing popularity of DeepSeek which has shifted global investor
interest towards Chinese Mainland tech companies. Regulatory
encouragement has created favourable conditions for high-tech
companies to list in Hong Kong throughout 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

In the face of the complex and changing market, we adhere to
the principles of investment diversification and risk dispersion.
In the area of unlisted equity, we focus on start-ups in industries
with high growth potential such as clean energy and artificial
intelligence. In debt investment, we focus on high-quality bonds.
In fund investment, we diversify among funds with different
strategies. In listed equity, we focus on companies with strong
fundamentals in defensive sectors such as consumer goods
and healthcare. At the same time, we proactively capture new
technological trends. In addition to continuously paying attention
to artificial intelligence and big data, we also focus on cutting-
edge directions such as Web 3.0 and quantum computing,
striving to achieve stable asset appreciation in the complex
economic environment.

During the Year (as of 31 March 2025), we exercised extra
prudence on new equity investments and strove for the
maximum value of our capital and the financing capability as a
public company. Our investment and divestment decisions are
made based on comprehensive considerations and assessments
of return, risk and opportunity cost. During the Year, our
new investments amounted to HK$1,233.94 million, and our
divestments amounted to HK$1,741.73 million.

Portfolio Breakdown

During the Year, we underwent comprehensive adjustments and
optimization of our investment strategy. During the Year, our
investment strategy was comprised of four pillars, namely core-
holding-centered unlisted equity investments, debt investments,
fund investments and listed equity investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Unlisted equity investment strategy focuses on exploring and
investing in unlisted enterprises with long-term growth potential,
providing necessary capital support for the enterprises through
direct investment or purchase of economic interest, and sharing
their growth dividends. Debt investment strategy aims to
obtain stable and fixed income through purchase of bonds or
providing loans. While fund investment strategy participates in
diversified investment opportunities with the help of the industry
experience and market insights of professional fund management
companies, thereby realising the decentralized allocation and
professional management of assets. Listed equity investment
strategy mainly focusses on short-term investment opportunities
in the secondary market in and outside China to balance the
liquidity and rate of return of the portfolio. Combined with these
four major investment strategies, we strive to build a balanced
and efficient portfolio to bring continuous and steady investment
returns to the shareholders.

As of 31 March 2025, in the unlisted equity investment category,
MIBREERHEEREEERAF ("BE\EHE") was the
largest investment; in the debt investment category, Original
Code Limited Debenture was the largest investment; in the
fund investment category, the major investment was & & & I&
RrREMBRERERL ("HRREMES"), in the listed equity
investment category, the major investment was Guan Chao
Holdings Limited (1872.hk).

By Investment Strategy
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

MAJOR INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
Unlisted Equity Investment

Unlisted equity investment is our important investment strategy.
We are committed to seeking unlisted enterprises with long-
term growth potential and market competitiveness, providing
support for these enterprises through direct equity investment
or purchase of their economic interest, thereby harvesting
considerable investment returns from their growth. We mainly
divide unlisted equity investments into two categories, namely
long-term core holding and other unlisted equity investment. As
of 31 March 2025, Wealthink Al's holdings in the unlisted equity
investment category amounted to HK$5,280.94 million.

Long-Term Core Holding

As of 31 March 2025, three companies were categorized as our
long-term core holding portfolio, namely iCarbonX Group Limited
("iCarbonX"), CSOP Asset Management Limited (“CSOP”) and
OPIM Holdings Limited (“OPIM"). iCarbonX primarily focuses on
digital health management, CSOP is the largest Qualified Foreign
Institutional Investor (“RQFII”) manager globally, and OPIM is
Asia’s leading hedge fund platform. Wealthink Al’s holdings in
the core holding companies amounted to HK$838.80 million
as at 31 March 2025. Given the growth potential of the core
holding companies, Wealthink Al will continue to hold them and
support their development in the long run while pursuing long-
term investment return correspondingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

iCarbonX Group Limited

Date of initial investment: 2018
Type of deal: Core Holding

Equity ownership: 7.73%

Cost: HK$1,088.92 million
Carrying value: HK$690.40 million
Location: China

Sector: Medical & Health

In 2018, Wealthink Al invested in iCarbonX as one of its core
holding companies and established a joint venture with iCarbonX
named iCarbonX OP Investment Limited to capture potential
investment opportunities within the healthcare industry. As at
31 March 2025, the Group owned 7.73% of equity interests
in iCarbonX and the carrying value of the position stood at
HK$690.40 million.

iCarbonX is a global pioneer in artificial intelligence (“Al"”) and
precision health management and aims to build an ecosystem
of digital life based on a combination of individuals’ life data,
the internet and Al. Its main founding team comprises the
world’s top biologists with extensive experience in multi-omics
technology, medical service, biological data analysis, Al and data
mining.

In 2022, under the vision of continuing the construction of
Digital Life ecosystem, iCarbonX continues to focus on business
direction. Focusing on the unique peptide chip, which is a bias-
free protein binding technology, iCarbonX will focus on the
development of peptide drugs, in vitro diagnostics, smart chip
manufacturing, medical and technology services in the future.

In May 2025, iCarbonX announced a breakthrough in the next-
generation silicon-based multi-omics chip and Al modeling
technology, and participated in an international medical forum,
showing that its technology reserves and market recognition have
been improved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

Wealthink Al believes iCarbonX's expertise in life science and
Al equips the Group with unparalleled competitive advantages,
particularly in an era of post-COVID-19, when Al-enabled
healthcare research & development (“R&D") is given significant
prominence and people’s awareness of health management
improves. Going forward, the Group will continue to take an
active role in bridging opportunities between iCarbonX and
industry leaders to foster its development within the healthcare
industry and attain capital appreciation. The investment in
iCarbonX is believed to benefit Wealthink Al over the long run,
therefore iCarbonX is held as a long-term core holding company
within Wealthink Al’s portfolio.

CSOP Asset Management Limited

Date of initial investment: 2008
Type of deal: Core Holding

Equity ownership: 22.5%

Cost: HK$60.00 million

Carrying value: HK$121.80 million
Location: Hong Kong

Sector: Financial Services

CSOP was jointly established by Wealthink Al and China
Southern Asset Management Co., Ltd in 2008. As at 31 March
2025, Wealthink Al owned 22.5% of the issued capital of
CSOP, of which the carrying value stood at HK$121.80 million,
increasing HK$9.93 million, as compared to HK$111.87 million
as at 31 March 2024, such increase is due to its robust business
performance during the Year.

CSOP is a well-known asset management company based in
Hong Kong, which manages private and public funds, and
provides investment advisory services to Asian and global
investors with a dedicated focus on China investing. As a leading
cross-border asset management expert in respect of Asset Under
Management ("AUM"), CSOP isicommitted to providing investors
with a flexible and efficient asset allocation tool through simple,
transparent and innovative products.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREBR DA / F302024/25

ENBRERER R METHENEGNER
ATBETENEXRNBEANEEEGEER]
LR H SR FES KR RNIK20198 KK =
HE ATEEED  BEFMBEEIERR
AfRRREESRRES RENR AKH
BRI E R E RS e BT E R HE
e UHEBENBEEXNERIERE
AIBE - RREEENREREHEENT
ERERBXE AUBRELEREREEE
BRENKREHEFEREIZLOFRABRF
5o

MARREEEERERLT

MR ERE: —TTN\E
JERER ZOFR
WEREZR22.5%

RS« 756,000 7T
BREE: B%1.2180B 7T
HE B/

A &R RS

MARAHENSEREHAB I ESERER
BERRBARZZEZENFHEKNIL -RZF
—HEZAZ+ B ERNSRREEER
FREEHEITRAN225% EEEABE
121800 B -_ZE_-_WE=A=+—HH
1 118718 T IE I AB 9938 T - A Y
REHRBEARERAFEEARRIFER
gjjo

MHARRA—MEBNENEAEEEQR
EBRAERAHES YA ITHRFTERELE
MEMNREHREEEREREBMRSE - 1F
AEEEE ([EEBR|)EEBLNESE
BEEREER MAREBOAAME B
HBFMER AREEREETS NN
BEEREIR-



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CSOP is one of the largest ETF issuers in Hong Kong. CSOP ETFs
series comprehensively cover HK stocks, A-shares, thematic, fixed
income and money market, providing investors with simple and
transparent investment tools to fulfill their investment needs in
an all-rounded manner. CSOP is the bellwether in Hong Kong’s
ETF market. The products issued by CSOP account for the top ten
active trading ETFs in Hong Kong all year round. In 2024, CSOP
partnered with Albilad Capital to debut the Albilad CSOP MSCI
Hong Kong China Equity ETF (9410) on Saudi Arabia‘’s Tadawul,
marking the region’s first ETF tracking Hong Kong equities. With
an initial size exceeding USD1.2 billion, it has become the larest
ETF in the Middle East.

CSOP is the manager in Hong Kong with the largest proportion
in scale under ETF cross-border projects. Its market share in
Mainland China-Hong Kong ETF cross-listing is 99%, and the
market share in ETF interconnection is 76%. In the “New Capital
Investment Entrant Scheme” launched in 2024, CSOP is also the
manager with the largest number of ETF types of “permissible
financial assets” in Hong Kong. It has a total of 45 permissible
assets, including 2 mutual funds, 43 ETFs and leverage and
reverse products, covering Hong Kong A shares, the United States
stocks, Japanese stocks, and Southeast Asian stock markets, the
United States bonds, virtual assets and other broad markets.
Thanks to its excellent product design and strong performance,
CSOP has won many awards from various parties at both
corporate and product levels, including five awards in the annual
awards of “Best of the Best Awards” by Asia Asset Management
in 2024, and nine awards in the Offshore China Fund Awards by
HKCAMA-Bloomberg in 2023.

China has been accelerating the reforms and opening-up of
its financial market in recent years and it is one of the most
attractive investment destinations for international investors.
CSOP will continue to bridge investment opportunities in China
for overseas investors with its innovative fund products and
expertise, achieving decent returns for investors and at the
same time enhancing its leading position in the RQFIl product
management sector. Wealthink Al believes that CSOP will
continue to bring solid returns and therefore will hold it as a
long-term core holding company.

BEENWNE DN

MAREREBHZAMETFEITEZ — /M
TRAETFRIERZEBESKR AR F
BRE BAEhaka¥Bms RREER
HEBEFEHAMNBETRE 2HUmRHEE
HEREIRERBBETFMIZHHEETF
FARRBETHNERSFEBEEBNTXE
BRAK R ETF o — T —[O4F - fg /5 5 % 2 Albilad
Capital & 1& - £ 5 B £ 18 A Tadawul #
Albilad CSOP MSCI Hong Kong China Equity
ETF (9410) AR E EEEHM BT EREN
ETF o % EE mm 0 AR B iR 218 3£ T - KR
RIRBEZKAETF »

MARRRETFEIEIER THEGLZERE
EAERBA ERBEAM—-FAETFE HF
TG R A99% HETFE B BBy b Rz
76% E_T_MNFRFAMNHELREKEE
ABEE R MAREODEREARERS
ETFER [EHESMEE] NERA EBHE
ERFASE BE2EFEEE S 43EETFA
EREERAESR REBAR -ER -BR-
EEIERT EE EREESEZMS-
BREHBFNEGRARARAYRE BIR
REEZEACENERERMNSRE 81 E
“EF (GEMEEEE) [Best of the
Best Awards | FE R#EPES R4 £
— T = = FHKCAMA-Bloomberg B = F & &
SAREHREBNIBBARE-

FEEAFR—E MR EMFARE SRS -
HRBEBREEERH PR AKARSI NN
BEMZ — M REBEEREATNE
CEMMBERE REINEEEHETH
RERE FAREEAENEERNFR
FHEZEHB FERQFIEME AL E
B ER TR EREM I REKEE
HREREDSR Ae g EEAZLERA
AIREFAE-

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

ENERBREFRAT / FH2024/25



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OPIM Holdings Limited

Date of initial investment: 2008
Type of deal: Core Holding
Equity ownership: 30%

Cost: HK$59.47 million

Carrying value: HK$26.60 million
Location: Hong Kong

Sector: Financial Services

As at 31 March 2025, Wealthink Al owned 30% of the issued
ordinary shares and 100% of the non-voting preference shares
of OPIM, the position of the Group in OPIM stood at HK$26.60
million. OPIM managed over 36 funds as at the end of 2024,
and the scale of fund under management, advisory and services
exceeded US$1.6 billion.

OPIM is a leading hedge fund platform in Asia serving both global
and Asia based managers to develop funds across diversified
strategies for institutional and professional investors. It has built
a whole ecosystem linking up fund managers, service providers
and capital allocators, which enables the managers to launch
offshore funds with efficient and affordable structures. With the
ecosystem, managers are able to focus on fund performance and
build a proven track record for future expansion. OPIM has also
built strategic partnerships in Singapore, Europe and Mainland
China to continue to increase its customer base and expand the
scope of its service offerings to customers.

With the increasing scale of China’s private funds in the overseas
market, OPIM is expected to maintain the momentum of steady
growth in terms of both the number of funds and the overall
asset scale. At the same time, China has been accelerating the
opening-up of its financial markets, which improves foreign
managers’ access to the Chinese market and as a result, OPIM is
expected to benefit from it. Wealthink Al believes that OPIM has
great potential to continue to ‘grow its business, and therefore
will hold it as a long-term core holding company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Unlisted Equity Investment

Apart from long-term core holding, Wealthink Al’s holdings
in the other unlisted equity investment category amounted to
HK$4,442.14 million as at 31 March 2025. During the Year,
the Group’s new investments in this category amounted to
HK$270.00 million, and the divestments were HK$5.77 million.
In making decisions on either to maintain the holdings for future
divestment to benefit from growth of business, or to exit and
harvest returns for potential new investments, the Group is
based on prudent and extensive analysis of market condition and
investment projects’ prospect.

The major investments are listed as below:
Jiedaibao Limited (“Jiedaibao”)

Date of initial investment: 2020
Type of deal: Private Equity

Equity ownership: 2.49%

Cost: HK$900.39 million

Carrying value: HK$983.01 million
Location: China

Sector: Fintech

In 2020, Wealthink Al entered into a share purchase agreement
with an existing shareholder of Jiedaibao to purchase 1.97%
of the shares issued by Jiedaibao at a consideration of HK$700
million. Wealthink Al subsequently increased its capital by
HK$200.39 million in November 2021. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group’s position in Jiedaibao stood at HK$983.01 million,
representing 2.49% of the shares issued by Jiedaibao.

Founded in 2014, Jiedaibao is an internet fintech company
providing services of contract signing, registration and post-
loan management for borrowing and lending money between
individual users and supply chain finance of corporate users,
aiming to solve the financing difficulty problem for individuals
as well as micro-, small and medium-sized enterprises (“SME").
Jiedaibao strives to be the largest service platform for individual
borrowings and corporate supply chain finance in China.
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The mobile App EEE ("fEEE "), which is operated by
Jiedaibao, mainly provides registration tools for online | Owe
You (“IOU") issuance and supplementing and relevant value-
added services. Adopting Al visual technology, a sound cloud
storage system and online payment system, fE &% empowers
online borrowing and lending transactions and SME’s supply
chain finance. The sources of revenue are mainly coming from
registration service fee, collection service fee, marketing fee,
certification service fee, software development fee and loan
interests, etc.

By right of the universality of its function and the business
model, f§ &% has gained significant market share in Mainland
China since its launch several years ago. With licenses of online
payment, commercial banking and internet microloans, Jiedaibao
is building a complete Fintech ecosystem. Wealthink Al expects
the continuously growing business of Jiedaibao would generate

considerable medium-term return for the Group.
LBEEXBERARAR ("EZXHB")

Date of initial investment: 2022
Type of deal: Private Equity

Equity ownership: 14.9%

Cost: HK$450.00 million

Carrying value: HK$442.76 million
Location: China

Sector: Others

Metaqi Capital Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wealthink
Al, entered into a capital injection agreement with 1832 35,
with a commitment to a capital contribution of HK$600.00
million to acquire 19.9% of equity interest in 183

at 31 March 2025, the Group's position in 183 &8t stood at
HK$442.76 million, representing 14.9% of equity interests in 1B
5e R

B3 E B, established in 1999, is a comprehensive group
mainly engaged in equity investment, property investment and
commodity trading. 1E3 £ focuses on equity investment in
financial services and currently holds equity interest in more than
ten companies, including &% &£ & 2 7 and Yingkou Coastal
Bank, all of which have achieved different degrees of increase in
value. 18 5 £ B also further improves its asset allocation through
property investment and international commodity trading
business, which are operating well and continue to generate
stable income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Over the past 20 years since its establishment, 8% <8 has
accumulated substantial investment experience and industrial
layout capabilities in the fields of finance, property and
commodities. With the rapid development of the Chinese
economy driven by economic globalization, the Group believes
that under the background of further liberalization of the
financial market, 183 %8 will usher in new development
opportunities, which is expected to bring medium-term returns to
the Group.

mIERESEREEERBEARLF

Date of initial investment: 2023
Type of deal: Economic Interest
Cost: HK$1,704.86 million

Carrying value: HK$1,587.00 million
Location: China

Sector: Smart Education

Wealthink Al acquired an economic interest in 29.99% of the
equity of JB%8#(F . Such economic interest comprises entitlement
to dividend and a call option to acquire up to 29.99% of the
equity of JBEEH B . B2 E focuses on the operation of
private high schools, aiming to provide inclusive and high-quality
high school education services for students through technology.
The first school, 842 = # £ in Dazhou City, Sichuan Province,
has officially opened in early June 2021. Currently there are
three campuses in Dazhou, Ziyang and Chengdu. B8 &
adopts the “RAIC (Ruike) model”, which includes dual-classes
with video lessons and guidance from famous teachers, the
artificial intelligence feedback training system, and the innovative
model of customised teaching by precise division of disciplines,
to provide students with highly personalised and high-quality
education experience.
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group's holdings in /5% F
amounted to HK$1,587.00 million. J&%8#{& has a sound and
efficient organisational system supported by its core research
and development department, including &% & &l £ 4 5t i
and JREH B EFLE AP L, and has set up various functional
departments such as the Group’'s operation centre, course service
centre and teaching quality monitoring centre. Y% % 5 &l 24
Ftbt is committed to the research and development of teaching
content. With a team of highly educated and experienced
teaching and research personnel, it produces high-quality
teaching courseware and designs teaching plans. J& %82 5 %5 ft
= B L is responsible for the implementation of technology
empowerment, accurately matching teaching resources through
big data and multi-dimensional analysis of data, and using
artificial intelligence system to conduct accurate analysis of
mistakes and push personalised review plans.

The business model of J8%#4 & has grasped the future trend,
closely integrated technology with teaching, and has a mature
smart classroom model, which provides a competitive advantage
for future development. With its excellent technology and R&D
team, its business model has passed a small-scale test and will
soon enter the stage of large-scale commercial implementation,
showing high development potential. The Group believes that
with the combination of technological strengths and excellent
management capabilities, 8% 5 can expand its campus to
different regions in an efficient manner, which is expected to
bring medium-term returns to the Group.

Debt Investment

As at 31 March 2025, Wealthink Al's holdings in the debt
investment category amounted to HK$2,934.72 million. The
Group added investments of HK$621.10 million and exited from
investments amounting to HK$1,398.95 million in total in this
category during the Year. At the same time, our portfolio of debt
instruments recorded provision for ECL under HKFRS 9 during the
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group makes investment decisions with the consideration
of return, risk and liquidity. During the Year, the interest rate
we charged for the debt investments, of which the borrowers
were mainly investment companies, ranged from 5% to 10%
as compared to 7.00% to 10.00% for the last year. The total
interest income generated from debt investments was HK$264.40
million with loan tenures ranging from 270 days to 2 years,
while the corresponding amount and range for the last year were
HK$307.66 million and 270 days to 2 years, respectively.

Wealthink Al maintains regular communication with bond issuers
and loan borrowers. As at the end of the Year, management have
assessed the repayment ability of the issuers/borrowers for the
determination of ECL provisions.

Fund Investment

As at 31 March 2025, Wealthink Al's holdings in the fund
investment category amounted to HK$1,637.50 million. The
Group exited investments of HK$96.59 million during the Year.

FEEERAENKRERES D

Date of initial investment: 2022

Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$757.67 million

Carrying value: HK$754.62 million
Location: China

Sector: Technology, Media and Telecom

In September 2022, Wealthink Al entered into a partnership
agreement with It X EAE EEKREEEFR A F through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, in order to subscribe for the interest in
the limited partnership of FrREMES. FKREMES mainly
invests in the equity of non-listed companies in related industries
such as cybersecurity software, the internet, artificial intelligence,
integrated circuit, etc. The scope of investment includes products
such as primary equity, treasury bond, central bank bills and
money market funds. The scale of B SEMAES is RMB1.539
billion, with a total of 3 investment projects covering software
development, semiconductor, computer and other industries. The
position of the Group in X EMEE was HK$754.62 million as
at 31 March 2025.
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ItRFEEBRIEEEEBR A A, the general partner of FF{K%E
fiE %, has extensive experience, deep industry understanding
and comprehensive professional technology in private equity
investments and capital market. It is able to aggregate quality
projects for the fund and facilitate the construction of a broader
ecosystem for the invested projects. The “14th Five-Year Plan”
has elevated technology and innovation to a crucial position in
the whole field of China’s modernization, and comprehensively
supporting the development of new generation information
technology, new materials, high-end equipment, and other
emerging industries at the policy level. The Group believes that
the subscription of the B EME S will allow the Group
to participate indirectly in the emerging technology industry
investment in China and reduce the risk of direct investment
through the professional management of the investment
manager, which is expected to bring substantial medium-term
returns to the Group.

Listed Equity Investment

As at 31 March 2025, Wealthink Al's holdings in the listed equity
investment category amounted to HK$96.69 million. During the
Year, Wealthink Al made new investments in and divestments
from some listed securities to enhance the capital liquidity and
generated returns from capital gains.

Save as disclosed herein, there had been no material change in
the development or future development of the Group’s business
and financial position, and no important event affecting the
Group had occurred since the publication of the Company's
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2024.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial position

Net asset value: As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net asset value
was HK$9,947.60 million, or HK$0.95 per share, as compared to
HK$9,912.62 million and HK$0.94 per share respectively as at 31
March 2024.

Gearing: The gearing ratio, which was calculated on the basis of
total liabilities over total equity as at 31 March 2025, was 0.07
(31 March 2024: 0.15).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Investments in associates and joint ventures. It represents our
interests in companies accounted for using equity method such
as CSOP and Treasure Up Ventures Limited (“Treasure Up”), etc.
Assets value stood at HK$609.73 million as at 31 March 2025,
representing a decrease of 7.12% as compared to HK$656.50
million as at 31 March 2024, mainly due to share of loss of B %
BEmMEMRE ORI BMRAF], disposal of a joint venture and
impairment of goodwill arising from investment in an associate
during the Year.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss: It stood at
HK$6,405.41 million as at 31 March 2025, representing a
decrease of 2.66% as compared to HK$6,580.36 million as at
31 March 2024, mainly attributable to disposal of certain listed
securities in the Year.

Debt investments. It represents the investments in debt
instruments as at 31 March 2025, which amounted to
HK$2,934.72 million. The decrease of 21.73% as compared to
HK$3,749.49 million as at 31 March 2024 was mainly due to the
redemption of a listed debt investment during the Year.

Bank and cash balances: As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank
and cash balances stood at HK$58.47 million (31 March 2024:
HK$45.01 million). We manage our bank and cash balances
principally on the basis of making good use of capital to achieve
returns for shareholders and ensuring sufficient liquidity for our
working capital requirements.

RESULTS

The Group recorded a total revenue of HK$273.07 million during
the Year, representing an decrease of 11.44% as compared to
HK$308.33 million for the last year. The Group recorded profit
for the Year of HK$64.16 million as compared to HK$53.65
million for the last year. Current year's results comprised of
HK$273.07 million of revenue mainly generated from debt
investments, HK$56.90 million of net realised gains on disposal
of investments, HK$53.98 million of share of profits of associates
and joint venture but offset by HK$190.76 million of net
unrealised loss on investments, HK$33.04 million of provision of
expected credit losses, HK$45.97 million of finance costs, and
HK$37.70 million of operating and administrative expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

Revenue mainly represents the income received and receivable on
investments during the Year as follows:

ReBERAMEZEKRER

WHESHEAFED RN ERIEE WA - &F
ERUNNE

2025 2024
—E-RHE —EZNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  smTR
Dividend income!” 2B AM 8,284
Interest revenue? M B @ 264,783 308,329
273,067 308,329
(1) Dividends received and receivable from listed securities during the year (1) BE_ZT_RAF=-A=+—HLFELMHE
ended 31 March 2025. HFEREERRE -
(2) Interest revenue was primarily generated from the Group's debt  (2) FEKEEFBERAARER 2 EHRE RIBIT

investments as well as term deposit in banks.

Other income and (losses)/gains, net: The other income and
(losses)/gains, net was mainly resulted from the net gain on
disposal of subsidiaries and a joint venture of HK$3.77 million
(2024: HK$84.31 million) during the Year.

Net unrealised gain/(loss) on investments. The net unrealised loss
of HK$190.76 million (2024: HK$38.80 million) mainly represents
the net results of unlisted investment funds, private equity
investments, listed securities and artworks with unrealised loss
of HK$194.32 million, but offset by unrealised gain of HK$3.56
million.

Net realised gain/(loss) on disposal of investments: The realised
gain of HK$56.90 million (2024: realised loss of HK$41.92
million) during the Year mainly represents gain from disposal of
listed securities.and an unlisted.fund.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operating and administrative expenses: The operating
and administrative expenses totaling HK$37.70 million
(2024: HK$61.94 million) were mainly staff costs, legal and
professional fees, depreciation, etc. The decrease in operating
and administrative expenses was primarily driven by decrease
of brokage commission and trading expenses as a result of
redemption of listed bond and reduce of staff costs and legal and
professional fees.

Share of profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures: A net
profit of HK$53.98 million (2024: net loss of HK$99.10 million)
mainly accounted for share of results of CSOP and Treasure
Up. The turnaround from loss to profit was mainly due to
improvement in share of result of Treasure Up during the Year.

Other comprehensive expense. Changes in the Group's net asset
value, which are not accounted for in “profit for the year”, are
recorded under “other comprehensive (expense)/income”. Other
comprehensive expense of HK$29.17 million (2024: HK$151.79
million) represents the exchange differences, primarily due to the
depreciation of RMB during the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND PROPOSED FINAL
DIVIDEND

In considering whether to declare and/or recommend the
payment of dividends to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), the Board will take into account factors
including but not limited to the Group'’s overall financial position;
cash flow; future operating and administrative expenses; future
investment plans; the regional and global economic conditions
and other factors that may have an impact on the investment
market. The Board has resolved not to pay any final dividend in
respect of the Year (2024: nil).
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EERITHAT  BREAEEITIOBEL(ZE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's major sources of revenue currently is interest revenue
from bank deposits and financial instruments held.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank and cash balances of
HK$58.47 million (31 March 2024: HK$45.01 million). The Group
had an aggregate of HK$643.26 million loans as at 31 March
2025 (31 March 2024: HK$1,417.41 million), which primarily
comprised of bank loans from our principal bankers and interest-
bearing borrowings from third parties. The debt-to-equity ratio
(interest-bearing external borrowings divided by shareholders’
equity) stood at 6.47% (31 March 2024: 14.30%) while the
debt ratio (total borrowings divided by total assets) was 6.03%
(31 March 2024: 12.41%). The current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) was 7.48 times (31 March 2024:
4.35 times). For further analysis of the Group’s cash position,
assets and gearing, please refer to paragraphs under subsections
headed “Financial Position".

The Board believes that our operations and borrowing resources
are sufficient to provide funding to satisfy our ongoing
investment and working capital requirements for the foreseeable
future.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2025, shareholders’ equity and the total number
of shares in issue of the Company stood at HK$9,947.60 million
(31 March 2024: HK$9,912.62 million) and 10,520,324,505 (31
March 2024: 10,520,324,505), respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF INVESTMENTS

The Group had the following material acquisitions as well as
disposals of investments during the Year.

BEENWNE DN

REBERZERKRERKEE

AEBRAFEAATERRBRLERE
BHE-

New/Additional Divestment/

Investments Disposal

L EmMkE RBEHERE

(HK$ million) (HK$ million)

(BEESTT) (BEBEET)
Unlisted equity investments FEMERKE 270.000 5779
Debt investments BEERE 621.10@ 1,398.956©
Fund investments EeRE 0.59 96.59
Listed equity investments LT ERE 58.940) 240.42®

Artworks investments EM M E 283.17@ -

Others H 0.14 -

Total @t 1,233.94 1,741.73

(N

)

3)

(6)

)

(8)

Represents the Group's investment in 1 private equity investment
during the Year.

Represents the Group’s investment in 10 debt investments during the
Year.

Represents the Group's investment in 6 listed securities during the
Year.

Represents the Group's investment in 5 artworks during the Year.

Represents the Group's divestment from 1 private equity investment
during the Year.

Represents the Group’s divestment from 8 debt investments during
the Year.

Represents the Group’s divestment from 2 unlisted fund investments
during the Year.

Represents the Group’'s divestment from 7 listed securities during the
Year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 8 on page
202 of this report.

(M BASERAFEREI1BLERERE -

) BARBENAFEREI0AGRELRE -

3) BAKBENAFERECALMES -

(4) BARBERAFERESH MM -

(5) BEASBNAFERIBALERERE -

(6) BASBNAFERHNSAGERERE -

(7) BASBNAFERI2EFLTESRE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had 20 employees (31 March
2024: 32), inclusive of all Directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Total staff costs for the Year amounted to HK$11.86
million (2024: HK$16.10 million). The Group’s remuneration
policies are in line with market practices and are determined
on the basis of the performance and experience of individual
employees.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no
contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees
who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution,
nor had there been any utilization of such forfeited contributions
to reduce future contributions. As at 31 March 2025, no
forfeited contributions were available for utilization by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contributions as described in
paragraph 26(2) of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the Year, the Board did not grant any share option under
the Company’s share option scheme to any Directors or eligible
employees of the Group and there were no granted share options
exercised (2024: nil). As at 31 March 2025, there were nil (31
March 2024: nil) share options that remained outstanding under
the share option scheme.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN
EXCHANGE RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group was exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from financial instruments that are
monetary items including certain investments at fair value
through profit or loss, debt investment, investments in artworks,
interest receivables; other receivables, bank balances, borrowings,
lease liabilities and other payables (31 March 2024: investments
at fair value:through profit or loss, debt investment, interest
receivables, ‘other receivables, bank balances, borrowings, lease
liabilities and other payables). These assets were denominated in
RMB and the maximum exposure to foreign exchange risk was
RMB1,971.55 million, equivalent to HK$2,109.85 million (31
March 2024: RMB2,632.18 million, equivalent to HK$2,837.35
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held certain financial assets
which were denominated in USD. The Board is of the opinion
that the Group’s exposure to USD foreign exchange risk is
minimal as HKD is pegged to USD based on the Linked Exchange
Rate System in Hong Kong.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, save as certain interests in an associate
and investments at fair value through profit or loss are pledged
for the Group’s bank loans, these were no charge on the Group’s
assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS AND
THEIR EXPECTED SOURCES OF FUNDING

As at 31 March 2025, there were no plans for material
investments or capital assets, but the Group may, at any point,
be negotiating potential investments. The Company considers
new investments as part of its daily business, and therefore
management may publicly announce these plans as they become
necessarily disclosable to Shareholders during the course of the
financial year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Group or any of its subsidiaries has not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Group’s securities during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 December 2024, GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited
("GoFintech”), as the purchaser, and the Company as the
vendor entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to
which GoFintech has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Company has conditionally agreed to sell the 60,000,000 shares
(the "Target CSOP Shares”) of CSOP Asset Management Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
representing 22.50% of the entire issued share capital of CSOP
Asset Management Limited (the “Disposal”), at the consideration
in the amount of HK$1,110,000,000, which shall be settled by
the allotment and issuance of 1,405,063,292 shares of GoFintech
(the “Consideration Shares”) at the issue price of approximately
HK$0.79 per Consideration Share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Disposal
exceeds 75%, the Disposal constitutes a very substantial disposal
for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. As at the
relevant times, the Company is indirectly owned as to 29.13%
by GoFintech, hence, GoFintech is a substantial shareholder and
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Disposal constitutes a connected transaction
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is
subject to the notification, announcement, circular, independent
financial advice, independent shareholders’ approval and
reporting requirements under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, certain conditions precedent
to completion of the transactions contemplated under the sale
and purchase agreement which include, among other things, the
approval of the Disposal, the sale and purchase agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder by the independent
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company to be convened on 15 July 2025, have not been
fulfilled. The parties shall use reasonable endeavours to finalise
the transaction on or before 31 July 2025, being the long stop
date of the sale and purchase agreement.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated
31 December 2024, 21 January 2025, 30 April 2025, 7 May
2025, 12 May 2025 and circular dated 25 June 2025.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEAERE

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
stated below:

DIRECTOR
Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Qin, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 31 May 2023. He was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board and the chairman of the Nomination Committee
on 8 June 2023. Dr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree in
Economics from Zhengzhou University in 1987; a Master’s
degree in Finance from the Graduate School of the People’s
Bank of China in 1995; and a PhD degree in Economics from
the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in 2003. Dr.
Wang has over 30 years’ experience in finance, investment and
fund management. The major appointments of Dr. Wang include
working at the Securities Department of Hainan Hong Kong and
Macao International Trust Company Limited (& & 7% 8 B B =
AR AA) from 1991 to 1993; serving as the deputy general
manager of Sanya Oriental Industrial Company Limited ( =28 &
HEERMDARAA) from 1993 to 1995; and serving as the
head of the Research Department of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd.
from 1997 to 2001. From 2017 to 2020, Dr. Wang served as the
general manager of ChiNext Qianhai Capital Co., Ltd. Dr. Wang
has substantial fund management experience including working
as the deputy general manager for Great Wall Fund Management
Co., Limited from 2002 to 2009; as the general manager for
Baoying Fund Management Co., Ltd. from 2010 to 2016; and as
the general manager for Changan Fund Management Co., Ltd.
from 2021 to April 2023.

Dr. FU Weigang, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 29 June 2018. Dr. Fu was re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an independent non-executive Director from
15 July 2019 to 10 October 2021, and re-designated from an
independent non-executive Director to a non-executive Director
since 11 October 2021. Dr. Fu obtained a bachelor of Law degree
from Xi’an University of Technology in 2000 and a PhD degree
from Zhejiang University in 2009. Dr. Fu is currently the president
of the Sifl Institute. Dr. Fu has served in the Sifl Institute since
2003 in various positions including Assistant President and Vice
President. Dr. Fu became an executive director of F/FE &K B
f% AR A "] from 2023. Additionally, he serves as an independent
director of Kingnet Network Co., Ltd. and an independent
director of Jiaxing Kaishi Biotechnology Co., Ltd. ( 3 E gL & 4 ¥
BERBRMDBERRF) .
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkSREEAERE

Dr. WANG Shibin, aged 47, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since 11 October 2021. Dr. Wang obtained a
Bachelor's degree in International Trade from Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics in 2000, a Master’s degree in Economics
from the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in 2004,
and a PhD degree from the Graduate School of the People’s
Bank of China (now known as PBC School of Finance (PBCSF),
Tsinghua University) in 2010. Dr. Wang has nearly 20 years’
experience in international finance and investment banking. He
served as a foreign currency trader at China Development Bank
from 2004 to 2008 and the vice president in the Fixed Income
Rates and Derivatives Department of Goldman Sachs Asia from
2008 to 2010. Dr. Wang was appointed as the executive director
of Deutsche Bank, Greater China region, from 2010 to 2015. Dr.
Wang served as the managing director as well as chief marketing
officer of the Company from 2015 to 2017. Currently, Dr. Wang
is the co-founder and chief operation officer of Hong Kong Digital
Asset Ex Limited, as well as the chairman of the board of Chenghe
Acquisition | Co., a company listed on NASDAQ.

Ms. SUN Qing, aged 64, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in November 2024. Ms. Sun graduated from Beijing
Correspondence College of Finance and Commerce in 1988
majoring in industrial accounting. Ms. Sun also obtained the
accountant qualification awarded by the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC in 1994. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked in
Everbright Securities Company Limited (listed on both the main
board of the Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange)
for nearly 20 years, mainly responsible for the company’s finance,
human resources and comprehensive back office management.
She has over 20 years of working experience in the financial
industry and has extensive experience in various management
tasks such as finance, auditing and human resources. Ms. Sun
was a non-executive director of IBO Technology Company Limited
(listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from July 2020
to February 2021. Ms. Sun is an executive director of GoFintech
Quantum Innovation Limited (listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) since April 2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAN Xiaotian, aged 65, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of Corporate
Governance Committee and member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee since 22
April 2022. Mr. Yan obtained his master degree in economics
from Graduate School of the Financial Research Institute of the
People’s Bank of China in 1986 (now known as PBC School
of Finance, Tsinghua University) and is a senior economist.
Mr. Yan has extensive experience in economic, financing and
management. Mr. Yan served as the president of the head office
of Bank of China Limited, the vice president of the Guangzhou
branch of CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (formerly known as
CITIC Industrial Bank Limited), the general manager of CITIC
Securities Co., Ltd. (Guangzhou), and a director and an executive
president of South China International Leasing Co., Ltd. Mr.
Yan is currently an independent non-executive director of ISP
Global Limited, a company which shares are listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8487) and an independent
director of Dagang Holding Group Ltd., a company which shares
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300103.
SZ). Mr. Yan previously served as an executive director of China
Youzan Limited (formerly known as China Innovationpay Group
Limited, a company which shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8083)), and, an independent non-
executive director of both Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Ltd
(formerly known as China Billion Resources Limited) (stock code:
274) and Prosperity International Holdings (H.K.) Limited (stock
code: 803), companies which shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of Remuneration Committee
and member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee since 22 April 2022.
Mr. Zhao obtained his Bachelor degree in Monetary Banking
from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
1989, and a Master degree in International Finance from the
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in 1992. Mr. Zhao
previously served as the general manager of Guangzhou Business
Department (from 2000 to 2005 and from 2009 to 2011) and
Beijing Business Department (from 2005 to 2009) of Southwest
Securities Company Ltd. From 2012, Mr. Zhao became the
deputy general manager of the Institutional Client Department,
Southwest Securities Company Ltd..
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkSREEAERE

Mr. YANG Songbin, aged 49, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of Audit
Committee and member of Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
since 4 September 2024. Mr. Yang obtained his Bachelor’s degree
in auditing from Harbin University of Science and Technology
in 2001, and an EMBA degree from Guanghua School of
Management, Peking University in 2018. Mr. Yang served at the
Audit and Inspection Department of TBEA Co., Ltd. from 2001
to 2008. From 2008 to 2016, Mr. Yang joined Xinte Energy Co.
Ltd. as the chief accountant. Mr. Yang joined China Electronic
Cowan Science & Technology Co., Ltd. as the board secretary
from 2016 to 2018, and as the chief financial officer of CMIG
Drawin Housing Company Limited (F REXEEZEEGR A
7)) from 2018 to 2019. From July 2019 to October 2021, Mr.
Yang joined Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Limited (formerly
known as China Billion Resources Limited) (stock code: 274),
a company which shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, as the chief financial officer. Currently, Mr. Yang
is a supervisor of Hunan Da Qing Tong Chang Private Equity
Fund Management Company Limited. Mr. Yang was awarded
the professional designation of certified internal auditor by the
Institute of Internal Auditors in November 2007. He was admitted
as a member of the Institute of Public Accountants of Australia in
November 2019.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. QIAO Bingya, aged 54, was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in March 2022. Dr. Qiao obtained a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in
1993, a Master degree in Economics from Graduate School of the
Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of China in 1996
and a Doctor of Philosophy in Economics from Renmin University
of China in 2001. Dr. Qiao has years of experiences in securities
regulation and inspection. Prior to joining the Company, Dr. Qiao
held a number of. senior management positions at the China
Securities Regulatory Commission from year 1998 to year 2012
and he also.served as an assistant executive president and a
member of the executive committee at Bank of China Investment
Management Co., Ltd from year 2012 to year 2016. From
June 2019 to September 2021, Dr. Qiao served as an executive
director of Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Limited (formerly
China Billion Resources Limited), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. Currently, Dr. Qiao also serves as the director of a
subsidiary of the Company.
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The directors (“Directors”) of Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are pleased to present
this annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the
"Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment company incorporated with
limited liability as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands
on 26 July 2002. The principal investment objective is to achieve
earnings for the Company in the form of medium to long term
capital appreciation through investing in a diversified portfolio
of global investments in listed and unlisted enterprises. The
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in the section headed
“19. Subsidiaries” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in the section
headed “8. Segment Information” under Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and the section headed “35.
Reserves” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity and the section headed “33. Share Capital”
under Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holdings in Shares.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2025
amounted to HK$8,649,831,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association (the “Articles”) or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders
("Shareholders™).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in Financial Summary.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622, laws of Hong Kong) when this
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report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with A&

section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.
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The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report AEFEEFEARBEABREERACEENT:

were:
Executive Director

Dr. LIU Zhiwei (resigned on 4 October 2024)
Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Qin

Dr. FU Weigang

Dr. WANG Shibin

Ms SUN Qing (appointed on 29 November 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Yuming (resigned on 4 September 2024)
Mr. YAN Xiaotian

Mr. ZHAO Kai
Mr. YANG Songbin (appointed on 4 September 2024)
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Article 113 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. Dr. Fu Weigang,
Ms. Sun Qing and Mr. Yang Songbin will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with Article
113 of the Company’s Articles of Association. All of them, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the
INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
INEDs are independent. The reasons are given in the “Corporate
Governance Report” to this report.

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” to this report.

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors either has entered into a service contract
or appointment letter for a specific term with the Company or
was appointed for a specific term, any of which is not more
than three years. All of the Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. No director offering
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has
entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than the normal statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions” in this report and in the sections headed “13.
Directors’, Chief Executive's and Five Highest Paid Employees’
Emoluments” and “40. Related Party Transactions” under Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no other contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which any Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The following Director is considered to have interests in business
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Company (“Competing
Business”) during the Year:
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Dr. LIU Zhiwei (note) GoFintech Quantum Innovation
Limited
MEEELT () BEEfal¥ERAT mE

Note Dr. Liu Zhiwei resigned as an executive Director on 4 October 2024.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation(s) (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "“SFO")) which were
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

Long positions and/or short position in shares
and underlying shares of the Company:

(L)  denotes Long position.
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Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company
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As to % to the
capital of the

Interests under Company as at

Name of director ~ Nature of Interests Interests in shares  equity derivatives 31 March 2025
AL
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Dr. LIU Zhiwei Beneficial owner 23,612,000 (L) - 0.22
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Notes:

(1) The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the
Company'’s issued share capital of 10,520,324,505 shares as at 31
March 2025.

(2) Dr. LIU Zhiwei resigned as an executive Director on 4 October 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as the Directors or Chief Executive
of the Company are aware, the following corporation and
persons other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company had an interest or a short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares, which were required to be disclosed pursuant
to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were required pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein:
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Long positions and/or short position in shares
and underlying shares of the Company:

(L) denotes long position.

L HEHE-

Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company

REAARSALEER HBROHUA

As to % to the

Interests capital of the
Capacity in which under equity Company as at
Name of shareholders interest are held Interests in shares derivatives 31 March 2025
NN
R-BZ-HF
BAGTETAR =A=+-H
[y BEEZZEH R 2 EE BT R ZREAES
(note 1)
(BIzET)
GoFintech Quantum Innovation  Interest of controlled 3,064,454,515 - 29.13
Limited (note 2) corporation
BEEFaMERAR (H:2) ZEHlzAqES
Marvel Champion Investment Beneficial owner 2,751,339,130 - 26.15
Limited (note 2)
mEREBRAR (Mi2) EmBEEA
Acorn Harvest (note 3) Beneficial owner 955,550,622 (L) - 9.08
Acorn Harvest (Fff3£3) BELEAA
YANG Fan (note 3) Interest of controlled 955,550,622 (L) - 9.08
corporation
YANG Fan (Fi7E3) 2 AN
Ming Yang (note 4) Interest of controlled 1,087,539,000 (L) - 10.34
corporation
Ming Yang (fi7E4) 2 /N
Tycoon Champ (note 4) Interest of controlled 1,087,539,000 (L) - 10.34
corporation
= (fisEd) SIEH 2 DN EE R
Bright Victory (note 5) Beneficial owner 978,260,870 (L) - 9.30

Je Bk (HYEES)
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Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company

REAARALEER HBROHA

As to % to the

Interests capital of the
Capacity in which under equity Company as at
Name of shareholders interest are held Interests in shares derivatives 31 March 2025
L NN
R-BZ-HF
BRAHGTETIAR =A=+-H
ey BEEREZZEH RBR7D 2B BTER ZBREES
(note 1)
(Bg3E1)
TCHL (note 5) Interest of controlled 978,260,870 (L) - 9.30
corporation
TCHL (BI&E5) e /NG
TIMGCL (note 5) Interest of controlled 978,260,870 (L) - 9.30
corporation
TIMGCL (P 5E5) L A/NGI -
TJIHCL (note 5) Interest of controlled 978,260,870 (L) - 9.30
corporation
TIHCL (P 5ES) AN
WU Gang (note 5) Interest of controlled 978,260,870 (L) - 9.30
corporation
WU Gang (Fff5E5) ek /NI o
Hong Sheng (note 6) Beneficial owner 812,263,200 (L) - 7.72
Hong Sheng (i 76) ERERA
CHEN Jiabin (note 6) Interest of controlled 812,263,200 (L) - 7.72

CHEN Jiabin (Hizt6)

Notes:

corporation
RSz RAER

(1) The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the (1)

Company'’s issued share capital of 10,520,324,505 shares as at 31

March 2025.

BREBDEDEARARZZE_RAF=A
=+—HZB #7788 7410,520,324,5058% A% 1

BEEHE
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This represented an aggregate of 3,064,454,515 shares, in which
2,751,339,130 shares were held by Marvel Champion Investment
Limited (“Marvel Champion”), 28,500,000 shares were held by
Galaxy Way Development Limited (“Galaxy Way”), and 284,615,385
shares were held by Fortune Growth Fund SPC (“Fortune SPC”). As
Marvel Champion, Galaxy Way and Fortune SPC are wholly owned by
GoFintech, GoFintech is deemed to be interested in these shares by
virtue of the SFO.

This represented 955,550,622 shares held by Acorn Harvest Holdings
Limited (“Acorn Harvest”). Acorn Harvest is wholly owned by Mr. YANG
Fan. By virtue of the SFO, both of Acorn Harvest and Mr. YANG Fan
are deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company held by Acorn Harvest.

This represented an aggregate (“Aggregated Shares”) of the
20,000,000 shares held by Ming Yang International Opportunities
SPC, acting on behalf and for the accounts of Ming Yang International
Opportunities Fund SP6, the 279,752,000 shares held by Ming
Yang International Opportunities SPC, acting on behalf and for the
accounts of Ming Yang International Opportunities Fund SP2, and the
787,787,000 shares held by Ming Yang International Opportunities
SPC, acting on behalf and for the accounts of Ming Yang International
Opportunities Fund SP1. By virtue of the SFO, Ming Yang Capital
Limited (“Ming Yang”), and Tycoon Champ Limited (“Tycoon Champ”)
who owns 100% of the issued share capital in Ming Yang, are deemed
to be interested in the Aggregated Shares.

This represented 978,260,870 shares held by Bright Victory International
Limited (“Bright Victory”). Bright Victory is a wholly owned subsidiary
of Tong Chuang Holdings Limited (“TCHL"). TCHL is in turn a wholly
subsidiary of Tongchuang Jiuding Investment Management Group Co.,
Ltd. ("TIMGCL") while 46.29% of the issued share capital of TIMGCL is
owned by Tongchuang Jiuding Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. ("TJIHCL").
35.00% of the issued share capital of TJIIHCL is beneficially owned by
Mr. WU Gang. By virtue of the SFO, each of TJIHCL, TIMGCL, TCHL and
Mr. WU Gang is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company held by Bright Victory.

This represented 812,263,200 shares held by Hong Sheng Universe
Limited (“Hong Sheng”). Mr. CHEN Jiabin owns 100% of the issued
share capital in Hong Sheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. CHEN lJiabin is
deemed-to-be interested in theshares held by Hong Sheng.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company
has not been notified by any other persons, not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company, who has interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
representing 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital.
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DIRECTORS" RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or its associated corporations a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executive of the
Company to acquire any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are subject to
review and recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration
Committee and then fixed by the Board with the authorization of
the Shareholders at a general meeting.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is a public float of more than 25% of
the issued capital of the Company.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS, OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at 31 March 2025, no convertible securities, options, warrants
or similar rights issued or granted by the Company remained
outstanding.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph below the Investment
Management Agreement and the section headed "“40. Related
Party Transactions” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and employment contracts, no other contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following connected
transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance
with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company's INEDs have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that all continuing connected
transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Fully exempt continuing connected transactions
Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the investment management agreement dated 29
December 2023 (the “Investment Management Agreement”), the
Company appointed Honor Capital (HK) Limited (formerly known
as Blue Carbon Taiyue Capital (HK) Limited) (“Honor Capital”)
as its investment manager to provide investment management
services for a period commencing on 1 January 2024 to 31
March 2025, which was subsequently renewed for three years
starting from 1 April 2025. Under the Investment Management
Agreement, the Company will pay Honor Capital a management
fee. The management fee under the Investment Management
Agreement will be HK$960,000 per annum.

During the Year, the management fee paid/payable by the
Company under the Investment Management Agreement to
Honor Capital was HK$960,000 (2024: HK$240,000).
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Honor Capital is regarded as a connected person of the
Company by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules because
it is the investment manager of the Company. The Investment
Management Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company. As all the applicable percentage
ratios with reference to the largest annual cap of the Investment
Management Agreement are less than 0.1%, the Investment
Management Agreement is fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

All of the connected transactions entered by the Group above
have complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

VERY SUBSTANTIAL DISPOSAL AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 31 December 2024, GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited
("GoFintech™), as the purchaser, and the Company as the vendor
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the GoFintech has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Company has conditionally agreed to sell the 60,000,000 shares
(the “Target CSOP Shares”) of CSOP Asset Management Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
representing 22.50% of the entire issued share capital of CSOP
Asset Management Limited, at the consideration in the amount
of HK$1,110,000,000, which shall be settled by the allotment
and issuance of the 1,405,063,292 shares of GoFintech (the
"Consideration Shares”) at the issue price of approximately
HK$0.79 per Consideration Share.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Disposal
exceeds 75%, the Disposal constitutes a very substantial disposal
for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. As at the
relevant times, the Company is indirectly owned as to 29.13%
by GoFintech, hence, GoFintech is a substantial shareholder and
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Disposal constitutes a connected transaction
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is
subject to the notification, announcement, circular, independent
financial advice, independent shareholders’ approval and
reporting requirements under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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As at the date of this annual report certain conditions precedent
to completion of the transactions contemplated under the sale
and purchase agreement which include, among other things, the
approval of the Disposal, the sale and purchase agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder by the Shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
convened on 15 July 2025, have not been fulfilled. The parties
shall use reasonable endeavours to finalise the transaction on or
before 31 July 2025, being the long stop date of the sale and
purchase agreement.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated

31 December 2024, 21 January 2025, 30 April 2025, 7 May
2025, 12 May 2025 and circular dated 25 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair review of the Company’s business and likely
future development

Please refer to the section headed “Investment Review"” under

Management Discussion and Analysis.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Please refer to the section headed “5. Financial Risk
Management” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

Important events after the end of the financial
year

Please refer to the section headed “Events after the Reporting
Period” under Management Discussion and Analysis.

Environmental protection

Please refer to the section headed “Environmental Responsibility”
under the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

Please refer to the section headed “Compliance Operation”
under the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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Operating policies

Please refer to the sections headed “Responsible Investment”
and “Social Responsibility” under the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

Company’s key relationships with its employees
Please refer to the section headed “Human Resources

Responsibility” under the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.

Community investment

Please refer to the section headed “Social Responsibility” under
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out
in the sections headed “3. Material Accounting Policies”, “12.
Profit for the Year” and
Five Highest Paid Employees’ Emoluments”
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Chief Executive's and
under Notes to the

“13. Directors’,

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. Amongst other duties, the principal duties of the Audit
Committee are to review the interim and annual results and
internal control system of the Company.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yang Songbin, Mr. Yan Xiaotian
and Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr. Yang Songbin is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited, will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for years ended 31 March
2024 and 2025 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited.

On behalf of the Board
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited

WANG Qin
Chairman

Hong Kong SAR, 27 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (the “Company”) and
its board (the “Board”) of directors (“Director’) strongly believes
that strict adherence to the highest governance standards is vital
to fulfilling its corporate responsibilities as a listed company.
The Directors and employees all endeavor to uphold and
nurture accountability, transparency, fairness and integrity in all
aspects of the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”). We are committed to the highest governance
standards by regularly reviewing and enhancing our governance
practices.

The principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code"”) in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules have been
adopted to shape our corporate governance structure. Except
otherwise stated in this corporate governance report (“Corporate
Governance Report”), the Company has complied with the
principles of the CG Code during the financial year ended 31
March 2025 (the “Year”). This report describes how the principles
of the CG Code were applied during the Year under different
aspects.

VALUES AND CULTURE

The primary purpose of the Company is to create value for our
shareholders. In recognition of the Company’s commitment to
corporate responsibility, the Company strives for maintaining
accountability to its employees, shareholders, investors and the
community. These purpose and values shape the Company’s
strategy and business model, which are geared towards building
a professional, market-oriented and international investment
platform whereby identifying opportunities and creating values
for shareholders.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the
foundations of the Company's corporate culture. Our corporate
culture is based upon adherence to high ethical standards and
practices, and striving for sustainable corporate development.
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In an effort to uphold high ethical standards and practices
in all aspects of the operations of the Group whereby
promoting alignment of our purpose, values and strategy
with that of our culture, the Board approved the adoption
of the "Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy”
in December 2022, embodying and replacing the “Policy on
Acceptance of Advantage and Handling of Conflict of Interest”
which had been implemented since 2011. With a view to creating
an anti-fraud culture and maintaining high ethical standards in
our operations, the Board approved the adoption of the “Policy
on Anti-Money Laundering, Counter-Terrorist Financing and
Counter-Proliferation Financing” in March 2024. Details of the
Company's “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy”
are available on the Company's website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG")

The Company believes that a good corporate governance
system is the key to sustainable corporate development. As one
of the leading cross-border investors with its focus on China’s
fast-growing industries, the Company recognises its social
responsibilities to run a sustainable business that benefits its
stakeholders, namely its employees, shareholders, investors and
the community. To this end, the Company has been embracing
environmental, social, and governance concepts in its daily
operations and apply those concepts and considerations in
investment analysis (including evaluation of ESG risks) and
decision making.

The Company adheres to the principles of responsible investment
and strives to direct funds to solve urgent issues such as
environmental, social and governance issues while continuing
to explore green investment opportunities. During the Year,
the Company targeted its investments in “green” industries to
account for not less than 5% of the Company’s total investments.
In addition, the Company has paid particular attention to the
ESG-related risks associated with new investments and investment
targets, and is committed to leveraging its capital strength
to address the pressing ESG issues, including environmental
degradation and climate change. More information can be found
in the Company’s Environmental, Social, and Governance Report
2024/2025, which is available on the Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
COMPLIANCE

Except otherwise stated herein, none of the Directors is aware
of any information that would reasonably indicate that the
Company is not, or was not, at any time during the Year, in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

Code Provision D.1.2

Under Code Provision D.1.2, management should provide all
members of the board with monthly updates which may include
monthly management accounts. During the Year, although
management accounts were not circulated to board members
on a monthly basis, regular verbal reports were given by
management to Directors from time to time, which Directors
consider to be sufficient and appropriate in the circumstances
in giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company's performance to enable Directors to discharge their
duties.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a “Policy for Director and Employee
Dealings in the Company's Securities” the terms of which are
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the model
code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
("Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. It is
also a regular practice of the Company to remind all Directors of
the black out period and the Model Code immediately before the
commencement of each black out period.

All Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the Model Code and the aforesaid internal policy regarding
Directors’ securities transactions throughout the Year.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s interests and/or short positions in
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation are disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive's Interests and/or Short Positions in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company or Any Associated
Corporations” in the Directors’ Report.
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THE BOARD
Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, namely four
non-executive Directors (“NEDs"”) and three independent non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”). The INEDs are either accounting or
financial experts.

The Board's constitution is governed by (i) Article 105 of the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) under
which the number of Directors shall not be less than two;
and (ii) Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules under which
every board of Directors of a listed issuer must include at least
three independent non-executive Directors, at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise, and an issuer must appoint independent
non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
board.

Guided by the principles laid down in the GC Codes, the Board
has a balanced composition of NEDs and INEDs to ensure
that there is a balance of skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements of the business of the Group and strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) among
members of the Board.

Non-executive Directors

The NEDs of the Company are Dr. Wang Qin, Dr. Fu Weigang,
Dr. Wang Shibin and Ms. Sun Qing. Dr. Wang Qin was appointed
the Chairman on 8 June 2024. During the Year, Dr. Wang Qin,
Dr. Fu Weigang, Dr. Wang Shibin and Ms. Sun Qing did not hold
any management or executive role in the Company other than
holding the office of NEDs and attending Board meetings.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREBR DA / F302024/25

i
REMRE

E=gHMABLEKE ANEIFNTES
(IERTEF)R=ZRBRBIUFANTES
(MBYFATEFR]) BUFKTEFTHOR
SR RMBER -

BRg ARSI ARREEERMAA ([E
SAAN)E10KEE BRHESHE T
DR R (i) % Em R AIE3.10%3.10A
BREE Bt BRLTMETAZESSE N
ARREL=ZBUERTEET MEFK
L—RBIUFPTESVEEEEERESE
KRR e HETBEERIER  URBEITA
FIZERNBLIENTEENANESTETHE
ABEL=H2—-

EeEERTAFRENRAUMNIESIT &
EEARIFNTERNBELIFRTEFTENT
BHKEHEE UERBEDEIREREES
R mEAKBEEBE R RBAEEES
AEBREB I /] AR T 58 HIE -
EZeBeABERER (BEME 25
REXHMERBR)

FHUTES

RATBFFHATEFTRHINEL BEMEL
FHERBEIRAFTLL - EFHRBLIR-F
“OEANANBEREREFE -RAFE:
BECIFATEZTRLFEZTSSHI X
FEL BEREEL THEBLIRETX
T I R AR BRI B R ST BB



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independent Non-executive Directors

The INEDs of the Company are Mr. Yan Xiaotian, Mr. Zhao Kai
and Mr. Yang Songbin.

Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai were appointed as INEDs since
April 2022. Mr. Yang Songbin was appointed as an INED since
September 2024.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

To determine the independent non-executive Directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration. The appointment of the INEDs are subject to
retirement by rotation of at least once every 3 years in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the Articles.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the
INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
INEDs are independent in character and judgement, and fulfill
the independence guidelines.

Since the appointment of Mr. Yan Xiaotian, Mr. Zhao Kai and Mr.
Yang Songbin as INED, they have not held any management or
executive role in the Company other than holding the office of
INED and attending Board meetings and committee meetings.
They and their immediate family members are not connected
with any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company. They and their immediate family members did
not have any material interest in any business activity of or were
involved in any business dealings with the Company, its holding
company or any of their subsidiaries or with any core connected
persons of the Company. They and their immediate family
members are not financially dependent on the Company, its
holding company or any of their subsidiaries or core connected
persons of the Company. As at the date of this report and within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Mr. Yan Xiaotian, Mr. Zhao Kai and Mr. Yang Songbin do not
have any interests in the shares of the Company.
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Other than the above, the Board is satisfied that none of the
factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules applies to their
appointment as INEDs. Accordingly, the board is satisfied and has
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Stock Exchange that they
are independent to act as INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.14 of the
Listing Rules.

The list of Directors identifying their roles and functions and
whether they are INEDs are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

Chairman and CEO

Dr. Wang Qin served as the Chairman of the Board, and Dr.
Qiao Bingya served as the CEO of the Company. There is a clear
division of the management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of business of the Group between the roles of the
Chairman and the CEO to ensure that power is not concentrated
in any one individual. The Chairman is mainly responsible for
providing leadership for the Board and ensuring that the Board
works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all
key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. The CEO is mainly responsible for implementing the
strategies and policies approved by the Board, monitoring the
performance and managing the day-to-day operation of the
Group. There is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material relationship) between the Chairman and
the CEO.
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Board Diversity

The Board adopted its Board Diversity Policy in August 2013. A
summary of the policy is as follows:

Board diversity can be achieved through consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, or professional experience
appropriate to the Company’s business model and specific needs.
The Nomination Committee will: (i) discuss, agree and review
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption; (ii) report
annually, in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company’s
annual report, a summary of the policy, the measurable
objectives set for implementing the policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives; and (iii) review the policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the policy and discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board will review the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis with a view to ensuring that the
Board will have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company’s operation. The Board
is committed to gender diversity, and has appointed at least one
director of a different gender in November 2024.

During the Year, the gender ratio of the employees of the Group
was 9:11 and the gender ratio for senior management was 7:2.
More information regarding the Group’s gender diversity at
workforce levels can be found in the Company’s Environmental,
Social, and Governance Report 2024/2025, which is available on
the Company's website.
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Responsibilities

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting
success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs. All
Directors make decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Group. The Board takes the responsibility for all major matters
of the Company including: the preparation of the accounts, the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies,
risk management and internal control systems, appointment
and retirement of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. It will regularly review the contribution
required from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company, and whether he is spending sufficient time to perform
his duties. The executive Director is responsible for overseeing
the day-to-day management of the Group's operations and
implementation of the strategies set by the Board. The NEDs and
INEDs participate in board meetings bringing in their respective
expertise and experience to the Board. In addition, the INEDs
serve on the audit, remuneration, nomination and corporate
governance committees to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments, standards of conduct and potential conflicts
of interests, if any. The management team, led by the CEO, is
delegated with the responsibilities of implementing the strategies
and policies approved by the Board, monitoring the performance
and managing the day-to-day operation of the Group. As the
Company is an investment company, investment management
services have been delegated to the investment manager; the
custodian services have been delegated to the custodian. The
delegated functions and performance are reviewed periodically
by the Board.

Independent Views

The Company has established the following mechanisms to
ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board:

o When selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship, the Nomination Committee is required to
consider whether the candidates for INEDs satisfy the
independence requirements of the Listing Rules;
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o The chairman would hold meetings with the INEDs without
the presence of other directors at least annually; and

o The Board may seek independent professional advice, at the
Company's expense, to ensure that they will have access to
accurate and relevant professional views in the performance
of their responsibilities.

During the reporting period, the Chairman has held 1 meeting
with the INEDs without the presence of other directors to discuss
the Company's strategy, director’s contributions, and their
independent view. The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should keep abreast of their responsibilities as
Directors and the Company’s business and activities. The secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) continuously
updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance of the same by all Directors. All Directors are also
encouraged to attend relevant training courses and seminars
that may require keeping abreast with the latest changes in
laws, regulations and the business environment. Pursuant to
Code Provision C.1.4, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, all Directors participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities either by
attending training courses or by reading materials relevant
to the Company’'s business, corporate governance, the latest
development of the industry or the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. Each Director has confirmed that he has
participated in continuous professional development by attending
training course or reading relevant materials on the topics related
to corporate governance and regulations. During the Year, the
Company Secretary Ms. Yan Xin undertook no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training.
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Meetings

Each Director makes every effort to contribute to the formulation
of strategy, policy and decision-making by attending each
meeting, whether in person or by telephonic conference, and
each of them is prepared to contribute to the Group’s business.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend general meetings
and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
Shareholders. Besides general meetings, regular Board and
committee meetings are held for reviewing, discussing,
considering and approving the financial and operating
performance, the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

23
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There were 10 full Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee’s ARBRAFEHETTIONLBEES S
meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee’s meetings, 3 Nomination # 2AEBEREZE@EH 2AFHEEe e
Committee’s meetings, 2 CG Committee’s meetings and 1 :*‘B}K?;Egﬁéfi@;\m RiEEEREER
general meetings for the Year. The attendance record of each E&HFNIABREAE- X%%Z A 8%
Director during the Year was as follows: HE AT :
Meetings attended/held
BHE/BEH
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors By General ~ Regular Board Committee Committee Committee  CG Committee
BTN Ezefle ENZER ¥HzER REZE® (EENZRE

(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)

(M) (W) (W) (W) (W) (W)
Executive Director HnEs
Dr. Liu Zhiwei MEEET " 4/6 - - - =
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Dr. Wang Qin ik A 1N 1010 - - 33 -
Dr. Fu Weigang BEMEL N 8/10 = - - -
Dr. Wang Shibin FREL 1N 1010 = = = =
Ms. Sun Qing KERt - n = 5 5 S
Independent non-executive Directors B F#7ES
Mr. Chen Yuming REREE N 5/5 N 0 22 N
Mr. Yan Xiaotian BRETE N 9/10 0 0 33 0
Mr. Zhao kai il ke I 10110 22 22 313 22
Mr. Yang Songbin BT A - 5/5 N - 10 N

Note: The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of
meetings a-director is entitled to attend throughout the Year.
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Performance Evaluation

The executive Board conducts an evaluation of the Board’s
performance on an annual basis with the aim of ensuring
continuous improvement in the functioning of the Board. The
evaluation will focus on the Board structure, culture, decision-
making processes, proceedings of meetings as well as the
performance of the Board as a whole, with a view towards
recommending areas for further improvement. The results of the
evaluation will be presented to all Directors, including the INEDs,
for review. The executive Board has conducted an evaluation for
the Year which revealed that the Board performed well with a
strong composition. The Board continued to operate efficiently
and was well aligned with the Group's overall objectives.

BOARD COMMITTEES

A total of 4 Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the CG Committee (collectively referred to as the “Committees”)
have been formed, each of which has specific roles and
responsibilities delegated by the Board.

The Committees’ terms of reference are reviewed and updated
regularly to ensure they continue to be at the forefront of best
practice, and they are available on the Company’s website. Each
Committee’s membership is also reviewed by the Board annually.

The member lists of the Committees are set out below in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, namely,
Mr. Yang Songbin, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr. Yang
Songbin is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The major role and function of the Audit Committee are to
review the interim and annual results and risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and perform other
duties under the CG Code. More details of its duties are set out
in its terms of reference.
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EEBRE

During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following

duties:

made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of the external auditor, the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

reviewed and monitored the external auditor’'s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations;

made recommendations on the engagement of the external
auditor to supply non-audit services;

monitored integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and interim report and reviewed significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

held two meetings with the external auditor;

held one meeting with the internal auditors;

reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal
control systems with the management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective
systems; and

reviewed and discussed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualification and experience of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three INEDs,
namely, Mr. Yang Songbin, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai.
Mr. Zhao Kai is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The major role and function of the Remuneration Committee
are to review and provide recommendations on the policy for
the remuneration of all Directors and senior management. It
will make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. More details of its duties are set out in its terms of
reference.

The Remuneration Committee has determined the policy for the
remuneration of the executive director, assessed performance
of the executive director and approved the terms of the service
contract of the executive director.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises one NED, Dr.
Wang Qin and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Yang Songbin, Mr. Yan
Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai.

The major role and function of the Nomination Committee
are to review and provide recommendations on the policy for
the nomination of directors. The policy for the nomination of
directors during the Year is set out in the subsection headed
“Nomination Policy” under this Corporate Governance Report.
More details of its duties are set out in its terms of reference.

The Nomination Committee has also reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board, assessed the independence
of INEDs and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of retiring Directors to the Board. Re-appointments of Directors
were approved by the Shareholders at the AGM held on 23
August 2024.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee currently comprises three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Yang Songbin, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr.
Zhao Kai. Mr. Yan Xiaotian is the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee.

The major role and function of the Corporate Governance
Committee are to review and provide recommendations on the
policy for the corporate governance of the Company. More
details of its duties are set out in its terms of reference.

During the Year, the Corporate Governance Committee developed
and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, reviewed and monitored training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
as well as compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.
Except for the Company’s non-compliance with Code Provisions
D.1.2 of the CG Code, which have been disclosed in this
Corporate Governance Report, the Corporate Governance
Committee concluded that the Company has complied with other
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code and all other
Directors have fully complied with the Model Code during the
Year. The disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report has also
been reviewed by the Corporate Governance Committee.
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NOMINATION POLICY

1. Criteria for the selection and recommendation
of candidates for directorship

The Nomination Committee should consider the following

criteria when selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Experience and expertise: whether the candidates
have the professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
expertise and experience relevant to the business
development of the Company.

Integrity and character: whether the candidates
are a person of honesty, integrity and have a good
reputation.

Time commitment: whether the candidates can
provide sufficient time to discharge their duties
as a director, including attending board meetings,
participating in director training and other matters of
the Company.

Diversity policy: whether the candidates satisfy the
Board Diversity Policy of the Company, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background.

Independence: whether the candidates for
independent non-executive Director satisfy the
independence requirements of the Listing Rules,
have a conflict of interest with the Company, are
independent in character and judgment, and able
to act on behalf of and in the best interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Other factors that the Board or the Nomination
Committee may further consider from time to time.
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2.

Nomination procedures

(1)

(2)

Appointment of new director or replacement of
director

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment
of new director or replacement of director,
the Nomination Committee identifies and
selects candidates through various channels,
including but not limited to shareholders,
Directors, management, the Company’s human
resources department and external headhunting
companies.

The Nomination Committee may evaluate
candidates in such manner as they think
fit, including but not limited to face-to-face
interviews, background checks, and third-party
verification.

The Nomination Committee submits the list
of shortlisted candidates to the Board for
consideration. The Board, after consideration,
makes the final decision on the appointment of
the candidate based on the recommendation by
the Nomination Committee.

Re-election of director and nomination by

shareholder

(i)

The Board should review the contribution of
the retiring director to the Company and his/
her level of participation and performance on
the Board. The independence and the year of
service should also be considered for the retiring
non-executive director. Where a retiring director,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election,
and the Board- considers appropriate, the Board
shall recommend such retiring director to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the information on such retiring
director will be sent to shareholders prior to a
general meeting in accordance with the Listing
Rules.
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(i) No person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of
Director at any general meeting unless, during
a period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed
for such election and ending no later than seven
days before the date of such meeting, there has
been given to the Company Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being
the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice
is given, of his intention to propose such person
for election and also notice in writing signed by
the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
accounts for each financial period and to ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Board also ensures the
timely publication of the consolidated financial statements. The
Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed with the external
auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, of the Group with regard
to their independence, their appointment, the scope of their
audit, their fees, and the scope and appropriate fees for any non-
audit services provided by them.

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited in respect of audit services and non-audit services
amounted to HK$1,360,000 and HK$120,000 respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. Yan Xin, is responsible for
facilitating the Board process, as well as communication among
the Board members, with the Shareholders and management of
the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT
Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for the Company’s
performance and activities. It recognizes the importance of
promoting mutual understanding between the Company and the
Shareholders through ongoing engagement and communication.

The Company maintains ongoing dialog with the Shareholders,
for example, through annual general meeting or other general
meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation. The Board always ensures that the Shareholders’
and other stakeholders’ views are heard and welcomes their
questions and concerns relating to the Group’s management and
governance.

The Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send
their enquiries and concerns to the Company by addressing
them to the Company Secretary or the Investor Relations Officer
by post or email at ir@1140.com.hk. The contact details of the
Investor Relations Officer are set out in the Company’s website.

Details of the Company’s “Shareholder Communication Policy”
are available on the Company’s website. The Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the policy and the results were satisfactory.

Dividend Policy

In considering whether to declare and/or recommend the
payment of dividends to the-Shareholders, the Board will take
into account factors including but not limited to the Group’s
overall financial position; cash flow; future operating and
administrative  expenses; future investment plans; the regional
and global economic conditions and other factors that may have
an impact on the investment market.
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Convening Extraordinary General Meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to Article 79 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General meetings shall also be
convened on the written requisition of:

o Any two or more members of the Company; or

o Any member(s) of the Company which is a clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions
to be added to the meeting agenda and signed by the
requisitionist(s), and such requisitionist(s) shall hold as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the
voting rights at general meetings of the Company, on a one
vote per share basis, in the share capital of the Company. If
the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by
the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date
of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Pursuant to Article 80(a) of the Articles, an annual general
meeting shall be called by notice in writing of at least 21 clear
days (or such longer period as may be required by the Listing
Rules), and a general meeting other than an annual general
meeting shall be called by notice in writing of at least 14 clear
days (or such longer period as may be required by the Listing
Rules), which notice shall be given in the manner prescribed by
these Articles to all members, to the Directors and to the Auditor.
Notice of a general meeting shall be given to such persons as
are, under these Articles, entitled to receive such notices from
the Company. The notice shall be exclusive of the day on which
it is served or deemed to be served and of the day for which it
is given, and shall specify the time, place, and agenda of the
meeting, particulars of the resolutions to be considered at the
meeting and in the case of special business (as defined in Article
82) the general nature of that business. The notice convening
an annual general meeting shall specify the meaning as such,
and the notice convening a meeting to pass a special resolution
shall specify the intention to propose the resolution as a special
resolution.
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Further details of the procedures for shareholders to convene
general meetings and put forward proposals at a general meeting
are set out in the Company’s Articles which is available on the
Company'’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Constitutional Documents

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.

General Meetings

A general meeting is an important forum where communications
with the Shareholders can be effectively conducted. During the
Year, one annual general meeting was held at the principal place
of business of the Company on 23 August 2024. The AGM took
the form of a hybrid meeting whereby Shareholders were able to
attend the AGM via the e-Meeting System from any location with
access to the internet via smartphone, tablet device or computer.
Details of the poll results of the general meetings were posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Group is committed to set up and maintain an effective risk
management and internal control systems which is devised to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage and minimize rather than
eliminate the risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems.
The risk management and internal control systems are subject to
review on an annual basis.

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems particularly in
respect of the controls on financial, operational, compliance and
risk management, to achieve the Group’s business strategies and
business operations and safeguard the Shareholders’ investment
and the Group's assets.

During the Year, the outsourced internal auditor, Cheng &
Cheng Risk Advisory Services Limited (“Cheng & Cheng”),
has reviewed and appraised on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems. The objective of this
internal audit service was to assist the Audit Committee and
the Board of Directors in carrying out their responsibilities in
accordance with Code Provision D.2.1 to conduct a review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and to report the findings in the Corporate
Governance Report. Such review is based on the Integrated
Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisation of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") Framework and the Internal
Control and Risk Management, and covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. As disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 25 July 2024 in relation to, among other
things, the Company’s subscriptions of the guaranteed bonds
(the “Bonds”), the Company would take remedial actions and
continue to enhance its internal control management and
strengthen its compliance framework. In particular, Cheng &
Cheng has reviewed and examined the internal control defects
and the remedial actions taken by the Company in relation to the
Company's subscriptions of Bonds issued by Hong Kong Nanshan
Development Ltd (the “Issuer”).
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The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
subscribed for the Bonds in the respective principal amount
of HK$197,000,000, HK$197,000,000, HK$330,000,000, and
HK$251,000,000 on 25 and 30 May, and 5 and 8 June 2023.
The aggregated consideration of the subscriptions of the
Bonds amounted to HK$975,000,000. The Bonds bore interest
rate of 7.5% per annum and matured on 23 May 2024. The
Bonds were fully redeemed by the Issuer on 23 May 2024.
As the subscriptions of the Bonds were made by the Group
within a 12-month period and were all made with the Issuer,
pursuant to Rule 14.22 of the Listing Rules, the subscriptions of
Bonds would be aggregated as a series of transactions. Upon
aggregating the subscriptions of the Bonds on 25 May, 30 May,
5 and 8 June 2023, as the highest applicable percentage ratio
(as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in relation
to the subscriptions of Bonds exceeds 25%, the subscriptions
of Bonds constituted major transaction of the Company which
would have been subject to announcement, circular and
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
As the aggregated principal amount of the subscriptions of the
Bonds exceeds 8% under the assets ratio (as defined under Rule
14.07(1) of the Listing Rules), the Company was also required
to issue an announcement in compliance with Rules 13.13 and
13.15 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules, the Company should have issued an announcement and
sought shareholders’ approval as soon as possible in respect
of the subscriptions of the Bonds. The Company should also
have issued an announcement in compliance with Rules 13.13
and 13.15 of the Listing Rules. The Company announced the
subscriptions of Bonds constituted a major transaction and an
advance to an entity on 25 July 2024, which was over 13 months
after the disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules were first
triggered. The delay in compliance with the relevant requirements
was due to the Company’s misconception that the Company was
not required to aggregate transactions under Rules 14.22 and
14.23 of the Listing Rules for major transactions.
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The Company has identified 3 internal control defects from the
subscription of the Bonds, namely failure of the Directors, senior
management and employees to fully understand the requirements
of the Listing Rules; failure to establish proper monitoring
system on investment projects and failure to establish proper
reporting and approving system on investment projects. The
review performed by Cheng & Cheng examined the Company’s
remedial plans in response to the internal control defects
identified. Such remedial plans include, among other things,
providing training to the Directors, the senior management and
employees of the Company on the compliance requirement of
notifiable transactions; formulating written policy requiring the
investment team to consult the Department of Legal, Compliance
& Risk Management on whether the transactions constitute
potential notifiable transactions before investment decisions are
made; and formulating written policy requiring the investment
team to report all transactions which may constitute potential
notifiable transactions to the Board for approval and assessment
of the obligations under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules prior
to entering into those transactions. Cheng & Cheng has
confirmed that the Company had completed the abovementioned
rectification works in relation to the internal control defects
identified and concluded that there was no material defect and
mistake in risk management and internal control system. The
Group would continue to monitor the implementation of the
remedial measures.

The Audit Committee accepted the reports and then report to
the Board. After discussion with the Audit Committee, the Board
was of the view that the existing risk management and internal
control systems were generally effective and adequate, but the
Group should consider the internal auditor’s recommendations
regarding risk management and internal control to support the
growth of the Group.

During the Year, the Company has adopted the “Policy on Anti-
Money Laundering, Counter-Terrorist Financing and Counter-
Proliferation Financing”.
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PROFILE

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “"Group”, “Wealthink Al”, “we"”, "us" or “our”)
adhere to the business philosophy of “driving cross-border,
cross-sector and cross-cycle operations via pooling networks,
talents and opportunities”, committed to building a professional,
market-oriented and international investment platform. Anchored
in Hong Kong and leveraging the advantages of offshore capital
markets, the Group combines offshore financial resources with
China's industrial development opportunities. We empower
industries with capital and foster future growth through
committed partnership, creating substantial returns for our
investors while enabling the success of our investee companies.
Wealthink Al embraces the mission of “serving national
strategies, creating social value, and practising responsible
investment” to propel industrial upgrading and sustainable
development, thereby contributing to economic and social
progress.

OVERVIEW OF THE REPORT

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report for the year ended 31 March 2025
("FY2024/2025") (the "“Report”), which sets out the Group’s
approach and performance in terms of ESG management and
corporate sustainable development for FY2024/2025. For the
corporate governance section, please refer to pages 49 to 71 of
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the
“2024/2025 Annual Report”).

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group recognizes the
importance of prudent environmental and social management
in achieving sustainable economic growth, building strong
relationships with stakeholders and maintaining a good
reputation. In achieving our objectives and business goals, we are
committed to-minimizing and-managing the environmental and
social impacts arising from our daily operations and contributing
to the long-term prosperity of the communities in which we
operate.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES & BOUNDARY
Basis for Preparation of the Report

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
"ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), with
reference to the Guide for Business Action on the Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) issued by the United Nations, the
Sustainability Reporting Standards (2021 Version) of Global
Reporting Initiative (“GRI Standards”), Guidelines on Corporate
Social Responsibility Reporting for Chinese Enterprises (CASS-
ESG 5.0) issued by Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, China
National Standards — Guidance on Social Responsibility Reporting
(GB/T 36001-2015) and SASB Standards issued by Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board. The Report has been prepared in
compliance with the mandatory disclosure requirements and
“comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide and
on the basis of the four reporting principles, namely materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency set out in the ESG
Reporting Guide:
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Materiality

B2

Quantitative

g1

Consistency

—H

Balance

T

The Group determines its material issues through materiality assessment. The
materiality assessment process includes identification of ESG issues, stakeholder
engagement, ranking and verification of material issues. Please refer to the sections
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Analysis on Material Issues” in the Report for
further information.
AEEFREENTMETAEEMZBE -EENN M ITIERIEESGHEARA - A=
HEAFT2E ZREENHFRZESBRE - FRE—TFE FL2HULABEFOF
wmEER BRI R EEEEENT] EE -

In order to fully assess the Group's ESG performance for FY2024/2025, the Group
disclosed the applicable quantitative key performance indicators (“KPIs”) in the ESG
Reporting Guide and set out the criteria, methods, assumptions and references used
in the calculation of the quantitative KPIs, including the sources of the key conversion
factors.
REENEAEER TN/ T _AWFOHESGER AEEEE TESGHREIE
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The methodologies used in the Report are consistent with those used in the reporting
period for the year ended 31 March 2024 (“FY2023/2024") to allow readers to make
meaningful comparisons of the Group’s ESG data.
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The Report presents the Group's ESG performance in an objective manner, and the
application of such principle is reflected in various sections of the Report.
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Description of Content

The sources of data used in the Report include, but are not
limited to, the raw data of actual operation of the Group,
publicly available data from government authorities, annual
financial data, relevant internal statistical reports, and third-party
questionnaires. The financial data in this Report are expressed
in Hong Kong dollars. In addition, for ease of presentation, the
Report presents information on the Group's fulfillment of its ESG
responsibilities, with typical examples drawn from the subsidiaries
of the Company. For the specific scope of subsidiaries covered
in the Report, please refer to the Group's 2024/2025 Annual
Report.

Reporting Boundary

Given the nature of the Group's business, the scope of the
Report remains the same as in previous years. The reporting
boundary has been determined based on the significance of the
businesses under the Group's direct operational control and their
impact on the Group's ESG performance, covering primarily the
performance and management policies of the Group's investment
business. Except for the specific environmental performance
disclosures which only focus on the operations based in Hong
Kong, other disclosures in the Report cover the operations of the
Group as a whole.

MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD

As a forward-looking investment company, the Group
remains steadfast in its strategic objective of “building a
professional, market-oriented, and international investment
platform”, dedicated to delivering long-term superior returns
for shareholders while creating greater societal value. During
the FY2024/2025, amid global supply chain restructuring and
multifaceted capital market challenges, the Group adhered to
prudent investment principles. By optimizing asset allocation,
the Group constructed a diversified portfolio encompassing
unlisted equity:investments, debt investments, fund investments,
and listed equity investments, achieving risk-adjusted
reasonable returns in key sectors including biotechnology, smart
manufacturing, and new energy. We continue to deeply integrate
ESG principles into investment decision-making, increasing
investments in green industries, driving low-carbon transitions
within investee companies, and enhancing long-term value
creation capabilities through improved governance mechanisms.
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Looking ahead, China’s innovation-driven economy and high-
quality development will continue to present new investment
opportunities. The Group will further strengthen its industry
research capabilities and risk management systems, leveraging
an international perspective to capture opportunities in strategic
emerging industries. We firmly believe that only by organically
combining financial returns with social value can genuine
sustainable development be achieved. The Board would like to
take this opportunity to thank all shareholders, partners, and
employees for their trust and support. We shall continue to work
together in a professional and responsible manner to create a
brighter future.

ESG Strategy and Philosophy

To demonstrate our commitment to responsible investment in our
business activities, we not only pursue high-growth investment
opportunities, but also pay special attention to ESG factors
in our investment activities. Therefore, we incorporate ESG
performance into our selection criteria for investment projects to
prevent related risks and build a robust risk identification system.
The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) attaches
great importance to ESG management and is responsible for
supervising, reviewing and making decisions on the Group’s ESG
matters, and ensures that a meeting is convened at least once a
year to collectively discuss ESG-related issues. The Board has also
authorized an ESG Working Task Force to assist in the handling
of related matters. For details of the structure, please refer to
the section headed “"ESG Management Structure” in the Report.
Through these measures, we ensure that our investment strategy
is not only economically efficient, but also environmentally and
socially responsible and promotes sustainable development.

The Group acknowledges that the steady development of
its business is closely related to the support of its various
stakeholders, and therefore attaches great importance to
communication with internal and external stakeholders to
gain a deeper understanding of their needs. In formulating
our sustainable development strategy, we identify our business
priorities and focus our sustainability efforts to better fulfill our
responsibilities. Stakeholder feedback will be fully discussed at
the Board and the actual work will be focused on responding
to the issues they are most concerned about. Through this
interaction, we not only enhance transparency and trust, but
also ensure that our strategies and actions truly reflect the
expectations and requirements of our stakeholders.
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During FY2024/2025, the Group continued to set environmental
targets to highlight its commitment to sustainable development,
and the Board was responsible for ensuring that these targets
would be achieved by holding regular meetings to discuss,
analyze and monitor the progress of their achievement.
Considering its potential impact on the environment and society
during the course of its operations, the Group has been actively
exploring green operations and encouraging its employees,
suppliers and other stakeholders to adopt green office practices
through internal and external incentives to promote low-carbon
lifestyles and work styles, comply with the concept of green and
low-carbon development, and work together to create a low-
carbon office environment.

In addition, the Group highly values the cultivation of talents
to ensure continuous innovation and steady development. The
Group strives to develop a team with cutting-edge technology
and innovative spirit to meet the needs of its stakeholders,
thereby building up a good corporate reputation and a
foundation for long-term development. The Group carefully
screens suppliers during the selection process in a bid to identify
and build win-win relationships with qualified suppliers. The
Group also actively encourages its employees and suppliers to
fulfill their social responsibilities and contribute to the community.

OUTLOOK

To demonstrate its strong commitment to corporate social
responsibility, the Group has set a clear target of investing at least
5% of its total investment in green industries. As we continue
to grow our core business, we are flexible and responsive to
market changes, with a particular focus on ESG governance. We
strictly adhere to ESG principles and pay attention to major issues
raised by our stakeholders. We firmly believe that sustainable
development can only be realized by striking a balance between
economic, environmental and social aspects. The Group will
continue to implement a prudent investment strategy, deepen our
presence in the smart technology sector, enhance our strategic
execution ability and promote the integration of technological
innovation and sustainable development, with the aim to achieve
economic returns alongside environmental and social benefits,
while further diversifying our investment portfolio. In our day-
to-day operations, we integrate ESG strategy into our business
processes, continuously improve our ESG management system,
and enhance transparency and the quality of information
disclosure.
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Furthermore, we have set up a dedicated ESG Working Task Force
to regularly evaluate and update our ESG policies to ensure their
effectiveness and foresight, as well as to advocate a green and
low-carbon work and lifestyle to further promote the construction
of a green culture within the company. Through these initiatives,
we have not only achieved economic success, but also made
positive contributions to the environment and society, aiming
to bring long-term stable returns to all shareholders. Thanks to
these efforts, the Group has not only intensified its internal green
culture, but also ensured that its strategies and actions are in line
with the requirements of environmental and social sustainability.
We firmly believe that balanced economic, environmental and
social development is the key to long-term steady growth.

SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT
ESG Management Structure

The Group focuses on the responsibility management in the ESG
area and continuously strengthens its responsibility governance.
In addition, it cultivates a responsible corporate culture and
improves its responsibility management system to enhance
its ESG effort in a pragmatic manner. The Group regards the
Board as the highest authority for ESG management. The Board
leads and supervises the management of the Company's ESG
affairs and includes major responsibility issues related to ESG
in its meeting agenda. Under the leadership of the Board, all
departments and employees implement relevant environmental,
social and governance policies and report on material matters
in the performance of their duties. Meanwhile, the Group has
established up an ESG Working Task Force, comprising staff
from departments such as the Company Secretary, Department
of Legal, Compliance & Risk Management (the “Legal
Department”), Investment Team, Investor Relations Department,
Human Resources Department and Administration Department.
Under the leadership of the Board, the CEO is responsible for
supervising and managing the ESG Working Task Force. The ESG
Working Task Force is responsible for coordinating daily ESG
management, developing and implementing annual ESG plans
and organizing internal ESG-related activities for the participation
of all employees of the Group, and reporting on significant
matters in the performance of its duties.
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Chart of ESG Management Structure

Board of Directors
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Secretary Department Team Department Department Department
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In order to have a better assessment of its ESG-related risks
during business development, while the Group integrates ESG
considerations into operations including investment analysis,
due diligence, decision-making and investment portfolio
management, etc., its management framework and community
strategy enable timely identification, reporting, discussion,
and analysis of material ESG risks and opportunities faced by
different departments, which allows the Group to formulate and
implement effective countermeasures in an efficient manner.
The Group pays particular attention to the ESG-related risks
associated with new investments, and is committed to leveraging
its capital strength to address pressing ESG issues, including
environmental degradation and climate change.

To manage the ESG-related risks in its investment portfolio, the
Group gathers relevant ESG information via regular reports and
feedback from various departments, and monitors and measures
the ESG performance of investees and associated potential risks,
so as to take appropriate measures to protect investors’ interests
and promote sustainable development.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values communication and exchange with internal
and external stakeholders, and communicates with its
stakeholders through various channels to continuously listen to
and understand their expectations and demands. The Group is
committed to fulfilling its social responsibilities and earnestly
performing its duties by optimizing the relevant management
work.
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Stakeholders Communication and Response Expectations and Demands
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Government and - Supervision on the compliance with - Compliance with laws and regulations
regulatory authorities local laws and regulations - Adherence to the development policy

- Routine reports and tax payments
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Shareholders - Timely information disclosure

- All-round risk management

- Unhindered communication

channels with investors

- Enhanced integrity supervision
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Employees - Performance appraisal
- Diversified training courses
- Unhindered and democratic
communication channels
- Medical Insurance
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of the government
- Anti-corruption policies
- EBFERERERER
- EBRBEREREX
- REBHEX

- Corporate governance

- Compliance with laws and regulations
- Dividend policy

- Investor relations management

- Compliance with business ethics
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- DAEBR

- RELEBMERER

- BATHRER

- Remuneration and benefits
- Career development and training
- Health and safety in the workplace
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Stakeholders
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Community and People - Media conferences and responses
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- Corporate website
- Social media platforms
- Volunteer services
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ANALYSIS ON MATERIAL ISSUES

In order to make the Report more responsive to stakeholders’
expectations, the Group conducts materiality assessment on a
regular basis to identify ESG issues that have a significant impact
on the Group and its stakeholders as one of the references for
sustainability work planning. During FY2024/2025, the Group
invited internal and external stakeholders to participate in the
materiality assessment by completing an online questionnaire.
External stakeholders ranked materiality from the perspective of
“importance to stakeholders”
materiality from the perspective of “

, while internal stakeholders ranked
importance to the Group”.
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The following is the materiality matrix for FY2024/2025: UTARZTZN/ T _AMFHNEEN
I

Materiality Matrix EEMEME
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CHAPTER ONE - PRACTICING THE
PHILOSOPHY OF RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT

As an influential investment company focusing on investment
opportunities in China’s high-growth industries, Wealthink
Al is progressively improving the organizational structure and
management, investment strategy and application, research
and communication of responsible investment. We incorporate
environmental protection, social responsibility, and other
sustainable development principles into our investment strategies
and objectives.

Recognizing that every investment decision has a profound
impact on the portfolio and on society as a whole, we take
responsibility for prudent assessment of the risks of all
investment decisions and are committed to making a meaningful
contribution to the allocation of capital in the future. At the
same time, in order to achieve a win-win situation for our
stakeholders, we continuously strengthen our efforts in anti-
corruption, information security protection and compliance-based
operations while upholding investment accountability.

Section 1 - Responsible Investment

Currently positioned at the critical phase of China’s 14th Five-
Year Plan and the pivotal window for achieving dual-carbon
targets amidst emerging opportunities and challenges, Wealthink
Al has proactively responded by committing to advance the green
finance transition. We recognize that every investment decision
may profoundly impact both our portfolio and society at large.
Consequently, we bear the responsibility to conduct careful and
meticulous risk assessments for each investment decision and are
committed to contributing positively to future capital allocation.
Adhering to responsible investment principles, we fulfil our
duties to all stakeholders, prioritize investment in areas that
address ESG-related issues, and actively explore green investment
opportunities to advance sustainable development.

In the course of our operations, Wealthink Al places great
emphasis. on communication” and collaboration with all
stakeholders. At the same time, we maintain the foresight and
effectiveness of ‘our investment practices through regular risk
assessment and policy adjustments. Wealthink Al will continue
to focus on innovation and responsibility, actively explore
new opportunities in green finance, contribute to sustainable
development, and strive to achieve economic goals while bringing
about a lasting positive impact on society and the environment.
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Responsible Investment Principles and Strategies

Wealthink Al adheres to the principles of responsible investment,
including but not limited to the principles of ESG integration,
prudence and information transparency. By taking ESG factors
into account in its investment decisions and practices, Wealthink
Al works to optimize the overall performance of its investment
portfolio and enhance investment returns to meet the needs of
its investors.

After more than two decades of accumulation, the Group has
established four major investment strategies: unlisted equity
investment, debt investment, fund investment and listed equity
investment. The core of our unlisted equity investment strategy
is to seek long-term returns. We are committed to identifying
and investing in unlisted companies with great growth potential,
providing them with capital and resources and sharing the
dividends of their long-term development. The debt investment
strategy aims to achieve stable returns in a volatile market
environment. The fund investment strategy utilizes the industry
experience and market acumen of professional fund management
companies to broadly allocate assets and diversify risks while
capturing more investment opportunities. The listed equity
investment strategy focuses on seizing short-term investment
opportunities in the secondary market. These investments
strategies are structured around context, sector dynamics,
and cyclicality, with capital allocated accordingly across these
dimensions.

Under the existing investment strategies, the Group actively
pursues ESG-related investment opportunities. Addressing
climate change has become a global consensus, and within the
context of carbon neutrality, the new energy sector — particularly
photovoltaic, wind power, and new energy vehicles — holds broad
development prospects. The Group plans to invest more resources
in the future in innovative technology companies that can help
mitigate the impact of climate change and in companies exposed
to risk of global warming, so as to contribute to the fight against
energy depletion and climate change, and to create green returns
for our shareholders.

In addition, the Group is committed to improving its internal
systems to support the investment team and to help the Group
understand the impact and process of sustainability through
the establishment of an ESG committee for ESG integration and
research. The Group is now actively promoting the establishment
of the ESG committee. In the future, it is hoped that through the
establishment of an independent and effective ESG committee,
we can realize our ESG investment goals and expand the
influence of the Group’s responsible investment, so as to ensure
that our investment strategies are in step with ESG principles
and at the same time promote the realization of sustainable
development.
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Responsible Investment Management Policy
Management System of the Investment Committee

The Group places great emphasis on enhancing its corporate
governance framework and deeply integrating ESG principles.
The Investment Committee under the Board (the “Investment
Committee"”), serving as the Group's core decision-making body,
underwent systematic reforms and functional enhancements
during the reporting period. Pursuant to the new version of the
Investment Committee Management System approved by the
Board in May 2024, the scope of authority and responsibilities
of the Investment Committee has been further clarified and
strengthened to ensure all major investment projects strictly
comply with the requirements of the Group's investment
management system. By embedding ESG criteria into the
whole process of investment decision-making, Wealthink Al
demonstrates its commitment to responsible investment, setting a
new benchmark for sustainable development in the industry. The
Board has defined the Investment Committee's decision-making
authority and mandated responsibilities as follows:

Decision-making Authority e
of the Investment
Committee

RESHRKER

AEERATEN

REZBEEEEHE

AEESEERARREERANTSHMESG
BoMFAERA BT THEREZEE (M
TEBIRES D) EAREENZ L REE
B ERSHEETT RRMRBEEBE
BoMRIB2024F5 R EF S EZ B BAIIR
(REZBSEEHE) RESHEES
EFRE—SHBEMRL BRABERR
BEEVERAEEREEEHENRRE
K BBFESGERRERAREREKE DR
BOENEEREINERTHRITASAE
BEMEE BITEB L TARBEEROMN
ER - BEZZARTERT T RARERUAK
AREBARR:

For non-connected transactions where the total investment cost, total
amount involved, or total value of the investment target is below 8% of the
Company’s latest published net asset value (NAV) as at project initiation, the
Investment Committee holds full authority to review and decide.

HNRERREBE PRNESHEIAREFNEBENIER FEFNAR AR
MAMHNBEEEFES% HWFMERSIAE AREG2RERLFLHAEK -
. For connected transactions (regardless of amount) and/or investments
amounting to 8% or more of NAV, the Investment Committee conducts
preliminary deliberations (either in writing or convened sessions at the
chairperson’s discretion) and subsequently submits recommendations based
on such deliberations to the Board for final resolution.
HRAER S (BERESE)M SIRESEANENEEEFESR NIREE
B BRZGHEALATHZ(ERARTRNEEALAXCHEESER

A E W EE R ETTHE
HESSFLRZ-
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Mandated Responsibilities
of the Investment
Committee

RESHRREHR

Rk - HEREBHRE

Investment Decisions: Within its authority, deliberating and determining
investment proposals, terms, and approvals for new projects.

BREARR HHRRERAN BRMARFTKREBENRETR REGK-
RREHERE -

Financing Decisions: Within its authority, reviewing and determining financing
activities under the Investment Committee's governance framework,
including necessity, benefits, risks, structures, terms, and approvals.
MERR - EERRERA BRTRARREZESEENERTHRER
B AERELENNES AR RMESRMER REGHERE -
Post-Investment Modifications: Reviewing and approving significant changes
to ongoing or existing investments, provided such modifications remain
within the Committee’s authority; otherwise refers to the Board.
REBERAR - BRMARS S EUREPNER BREBIEHERE
FRE EMERBZNAHEETHEBNRZGARER ARRXHEFS
SRR o

Post-Financing Modifications: Reviewing and approving material alterations
to existing financing arrangements, provided such modifications remain
within the Committee’s authority; otherwise refers to the Board.
MERFERR BRNARECHAEAFETHOREREFHEARERE -
BRERENEHEETEBNRZGARER MEXAEEGAEK
Exit Decisions: Evaluating and deciding on exit, divestment, liquidation plans,
or similar dispositions for investment/financing projects.

RERR FBRNRARRBMEFEENRL M ZRIEIHMBELURD
MEET N -

The Group requires all members of the Investment Committee AEBEREZSZRKEBELTE HHAE
to comply with laws and regulations, exercise due diligence, i  HEEST  BIRIR TR XM E B8 F 25

oo

maintain professional integrity, observe business confidentiality, &EX® #E B SEEMNZF ESEHETH
avoid conflicts of interest and safeguard the Group's interests. TR R B R R ZHEEE-
They should also conduct regular self-reviews and proactively

disclose conflicts of interest in a timely manner.

New Project Introduction Management HEBESIAEE

In terms of responsible investment management, the Group has ASEBETAEXEFREFEKAT 8 LM T
adopted a two-way model of “top-down” and “bottom-up”. METMEIWERRERETER
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Responsible Investment Models

BEAREER

“Top-down” model: the management identifies “Bottom-up” model: the investment team identifies
investment opportunities, conducts research and investment opportunities, conducts research, prepares
due diligence with the investment team to form an a report submit the same to the management for
investment recommendation report and submit the approval. Upon endorsement, the investment team
same to the Company’s Investment Review Committee will conduct due diligence and prepare an investment
for approval. If approved, escalation to the Board for recommendation report, which will be submitted to the
Company's Investment Review Committee for approval.
If approved, escalation to the Board for final approval is
determined based on investment size.

BEEMTIRA - EREERRERG AREEK BTMLEIRE- REBGKBRRER S ETRAMAL
—EHEAMNERALT TRREEZRE RRE FARET RXEEEEH -BESEREEHER ARSE
ARAREFEZESENR -MREFTBEE BRE BAS PERREEZBZRET RRXEARARENEER
RESERN RERERREZTGEN - EEEHR-NREFSRE BRERESEXNNARER

BRRXEFEF-

final approval is determined based on investment size.

SEBIRE KRR

External Investment Manager Selection

The Group prioritizes responsible investment principles in
selecting and managing external investment managers.
Accordingly, three criteria and management regulations have
been established, requiring that external investment managers
and candidates must demonstrate proven capabilities in
responsible investment practices to be eligible for engagement.
This approach aims to mitigate the impact of potential ESG and
climate-related risks on the Group's investment portfolio. The
criteria and management regulations are as follows:

Selection and management of external investment managers:

1)  Good investment management performance and no record
of violation of laws and regulations;

2)  Compliance. with anti-corruption, anti-money laundering
and other relevant laws and regulations;

3) Compliance with the labour laws in Hong Kong in terms of
employment and management of employees.
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Investment Decision-Making Tool

The Group's business objectives extend beyond pursuing
economic returns to encompass sustainable development and
societal well-being. Therefore, the Group always insists on
making scientific and reasonable investment decisions that are
environmentally and socially responsible, and ensuring that
ESG factors are taken into account in the investment process.
In addition, we are committed to ensuring that our investment
portfolio meets environmental and social standards through a
rigorous and comprehensive assessment of potential investment
targets using a combination of positive and negative screening.

In addition, the Group has actively responded to the “carbon
peak and carbon neutral” dual-carbon goal proposed by the
PRC government by formulating a clear strategy and action
plan, aiming to contribute to the realization of the country’s
environmental protection goal while bringing long-term economic

Rk - HEREBHRE

RERKTIHA

AEENEHBETMEER B REERD R
FRIREERNLSRIL -At A&
EEREBRETHABRFMENMBSE
ERRENEEEENRERT THRAEY
ESGRZME TN RAZXIREA L
EMBEHEGEREAN A HEENRE
B RETEAS B 2 m A RF o - DA TR B
MEBREHETARENLERE.

e S+ 7S 5% B 78 4R 2 FE P B BT 4R A A
R kR A BB R B AR - I E T B RE A B
MBS EERBE N ERREER
REEZLEBENZNRE EESBERERDY
RREGZEMANE-

benefits to investors through its efforts.

Screening Methods
BER*

Positive Screening: taking the new energy sector as
a key investment focus. Within this sector, potential
investment targets undergo in-depth investigation,
assessment, and analysis to identify projects delivering
environmental and social benefits while also
generating economic returns.

TESE: BSHERERBEHBINRERAH I — &
ZAEA - HEEREFHETRARN  FHEFAE -
NBZHREAREUREERENEEHERBER D
BEEE -

Negative Screening: The Group strictly prohibits
investments in the following sectors: military, tobacco,
and gambling. etc. We are also determined to stay away
from other sectors with significant ESG risks. Specifically,
these prohibited industries include but not limited to
military industry which involves the manufacture and sale
of weapons, the industries that produce and sell tobacco
products, and the gambling-related gaming industry.
BEHE  AEBBRBRILRENUTTR T E&E -
BRE R HRHEMFAEEANESGRARENITE B
hEREMEzZ - ARME ELRBILNTERREE
PERPERBSREMBEENELTE LENHEEE
BRENTE AREEEREBNEYITE-
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Results of Full-chain Responsible Investment

The Group has formulated specific implementation methods
for each asset class based on its own investment philosophy,
target characteristics, and operational realities. Through ESG
quantitative evaluation, specialized risk assessment, prudent
principles, sustainability-themed investment and other responsible
investment strategies, the Group advances ESG integration
throughout the investment lifecycle through multiple methods
and channels, and adequately manages the ESG risks of each
type of investment targets. The Group’s internal management
framework and community strategy are capable of identifying,
reporting, discussing and analyzing major issues faced by
different departments in relation to ESG risks and opportunities,
allowing efficient formulation and implementation of
countermeasures.

In FY2024/2025, the Group invested in a total of 84 projects and
exited from 16 projects. The Group not only actively invested in a
number of projects, but also focused on the development of the
green finance sector, specifically participating in green finance
projects and actively exploring more related green opportunities.
At the same time, the Group actively seeks to cooperate with
relevant partners to further promote green economy and
sustainable development.
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Case Study: Investing in Eco-Enterprise to Advance Green Circularity

The Group maintains sustained focus on investments within the hazardous waste management sector, having
invested in Dexing Yifeng Recycled Nonferrous Metals Co., Ltd. (“Dexing Yifeng”) since 2019. As a high-tech
joint venture established by domestic and Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macao investors, Dexing Yifeng specialises in
resource recovery from hazardous waste and comprehensive recovery and recycling of polymetallic materials.
Following the Group’s strategic investment in 2019, Dexing Yifeng has consistently implemented circular
economy models. Leveraging 41 patents (including newly granted inventions) and engineering R&D capabilities,
Dexing Yifeng advances harmless waste residue treatment and resource regeneration. During FY2024/2025,
it secured provincial recognitions as a “Specialized, Sophisticated, Distinctive and Innovative SME of Jiangxi
Province” and “Little Giant Enterprise of Jiangxi Province” while applying for green factory certification,
underscoring its technological leadership and environmental compliance.

Dexing Yifeng has established an end-to-end hazardous waste management chain, deeply engaging in
industrial waste recovery. Its operations span nonferrous metal smelting/processing and solid waste treatment,
achieving industry-leading annual processing capacity. Post-equity financing completion in 2024, its workforce
expanded to 28 employees. Through competitive bidding and external investments, Dexing Yifeng enhanced
its technology transfer capabilities to drive industry-wide green transformation. As the Group's ESG exemplar,
Dexing Yifeng empowers industrial transformation through capital infusion, optimizes resource recovery
systems, and co-creates a sustainable ecosystem with value chain partners. Future initiatives include deepening
circular economy deployment, advancing low-carbon production and technological innovation, fulfilling
environmental stewardship commitments, and delivering replicable hazardous waste valorization solutions
supporting national dual-carbon goals.
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Case Study: Investing in iCarbonX to Drive Green Healthcare Innovation

Amidst the global digital and intelligent transformation of the healthcare industry, the Group maintains a
professional focus on cutting-edge opportunities, exemplified by its investment in iCarbonX. As a global leader
in digital life sciences and precision health management, iCarbonX integrates multi-omics biotechnology
with artificial intelligence to build a digital health ecosystem. Following its 2016 Series A financing led by
Tencent, iCarbonX secured its position among global unicorns with a US$1 billion valuation. iCarbonX anchors
its operations in 41 patents (covering core multi-omics analytics and Al algorithms) and ISO/IEC 27001
certification. iCarbonX was ranked among “2019 Al Unicorns TOP 50” and among Fast Company's “Top 10
Most Innovative Companies in China”, demonstrating its technological compliance and industry leadership.

iCarbonX has established a world-leading digital life multi-omics platform, integrating genomics, proteomics,
and other frontier technologies to advance precision diagnostics and therapeutics for cancer, chronic diseases,
and infectious diseases. Its Al-powered biomarker discovery system achieves 91% accuracy in early lung
cancer screening, reduces diabetes misdiagnosis rates by 5%-10%, and increases the sensitivity in COVID-19
neutralizing antibody testing by 50%, significantly reducing healthcare resource waste and advancing green
medical practices. In 2023, it obtained BSI certification to enhance its data security and privacy protection
capabilities for delivering internationally compliant health solutions to global partners.

As an ESG innovation exemplar, iCarbonX deeply engages in global public health governance. Collaborating
with top research institutions and pharmaceutical firms, it employs algorithm optimization (e.g., four-time
DREAM Challenge champion technology) to shorten drug development cycles and lower trial-and-error costs,
indirectly reducing industry carbon footprints. iCarbonX continuously delivers intelligent health management
tools enabling personalized medicine and dynamic diagnostics, building sustainable “prevention-intervention-
tracking” health ecosystems.

ROPE REBREER DHIBCBEEH
FRRBERREEXETL BREEUNBET ASEUEERABRER TTEMAIKSE BE -MET
R HETADMBEERFETEENEECE KEEMZHEBEATEREFERARNT BRH TR
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Case Study: Investing in Chunhua Hydrogen Energy - Empowering Dual-Carbon Goals with Green
Hydrogen

Amidst accelerating global energy transition toward clean sources and hydrogen's rising strategic significance
as a “zero-carbon” energy, we maintain a focus on core hydrogen technologies and industry leaders,
exemplified by our investment in Chunhua Hydrogen Energy. As China's leading enterprise in PEM water
electrolysis-based hydrogen production technology, Chunhua holds 50+ authorized patents (including national
invention patents), led drafting of 2 national standards, and carries accreditations as a National High-
Tech Enterprise and Specialized, Sophisticated, Distinctive and Innovative Enterprise of Hunan Province. Its
proprietary technologies enable fully independent production across the entire industry chain, with its products
exported to Japan, South Korea, Germany, and Russia, serving multi-trillion-dollar renewable hydrogen
production and energy storage markets. Its megawatt-scale PEM electrolyzer were designated a benchmark
project in Hunan Province's hydrogen high-end manufacturing initiative.

Regarding environmental contributions, Chunhua Hydrogen Energy won TERA-Award's “Rising Star”
(competing against 450 global entries from 59 countries). By replacing fossil fuels with green hydrogen
technology, it drives upgrades in hydrogen equipment manufacturing systems. Its industrial park integrates
hydrogen business platforms and international R&D centers, accelerating commercial scaling across the
hydrogen ecosystem to contribute to China’s dual carbon goals.
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Section 2 - Information Security

In the investment sector, corporate information data and network
security are of great importance as they are directly related to the
accuracy of investment decisions and the protection of investor
information. Wealthink Al recognizes that any data leakage or
network security bug may have a serious impact on its reputation
and investor trust. Therefore, we attach great importance
to information security management and have formulated a
series of policy documents, including the Employee Handbook,
Disclosure Policy and other data security policies, which clearly
stipulate the requirements for the protection and management
of confidential information including trade secrets. In addition
to the formulation of relevant policies, the Group has adopted
multi-pronged management measures, including physical,
administrative and technical means. All staff and data users are
required to strictly comply with the requirements in all aspects
in terms of network, hardware, software, electronic information,
data backup, anti-virus, account password maintenance and user
responsibilities.

In terms of information security, the Group prohibits any
unauthorized person from accessing or logging into the Group’s
information systems and reduces operational risks arising from
information technology system malfunctions through regular
data backups of its major data processing systems. This helps
to strengthen the management of confidential information
and confidentiality agreements. In addition, the Group
requires its employees not to disclose any critical information,
including investor information, departmental information,
office information and staff information, to external parties
or unrelated colleagues, and requires them to strictly observe
the Group’s internal rules. Employees are required to properly
handle confidential information before leaving the office, such
as placing it in a dedicated filing cabinet and locking it up, and
all confidential documents that are no longer needed for use
must be shredded. In terms of information technology, to ensure
the security of confidential information storage, the Group has
encrypted computer terminals and record access to confidential
documents to prevent unauthorized access, thereby effectively
preventing data leakage and information tampering and
protecting the interests of the Group and its investors
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Moreover, to protect trade secrets and prevent the risk of
information leakage, the Group enters into confidentiality
agreements with counterparties or incorporates confidentiality
clauses in commercial contracts in accordance with actual needs
during business operations. At the same time, we provide
information security training every year to all employees and all
third-party personnel who have access to information assets to
enhance their information security awareness and information
protection capabilities. Through the above measures, we are not
only able to effectively minimize the risk of information leakage,
but also further enhance the overall level of information security
to ensure the robustness of our business operations and the
security of our data, and to safeguard our reputation and the
trust of our investors. In FY2024/2025, the Group experienced no
incidents of confidential or sensitive data breaches.

Section 3 - Compliance Operations

Wealthink Al is committed to continually improving its internal
compliance levels, always upholding the core values of honesty,
integrity and fairness. To ensure that our operations meet the
highest standards, we constantly improve our internal compliance
level and enhance our employees’ compliance awareness and
capability through training. In our operations, we ensure strict
compliance with the laws and regulations of various countries
and regions, including but not limited to the Civil Code of the
People’'s Republic of China, the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, as well as the Listing Rules, the Companies
Ordinance and the Securities and Futures Ordinance of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. We firmly believe that only
on the basis of compliant operations can an enterprise achieve
long-term steady development and sustainable growth and win
the trust of investors and partners.

Management System

Wealthink Al is persistent in improving and refining its
compliance management system. In particular, the Legal
Department severs as the primary function responsible for
compliance governance, while various departments such as the
Finance Department, Human Resources Department, Investment
Department and Investor Relations Department assist in the
execution and implementation of compliance requirements within
their respective scope of responsibility. The Board is primarily
responsible for ensuring the soundness and effectiveness of the
Group's compliance management system.
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The Group understands that lawful and compliant operations
form the cornerstone of sustainable development. To this end,
we have established a standing mechanism for the identification
of laws and regulations and have assigned the Legal Department
as the department primarily responsible for identifying,
coordinating and evaluating laws and regulations that may have
a significant impact on our operations. The Legal Department is
also required to report to the management in a timely manner
based on the extent of the impact of these laws and regulations
on our operations. Other departments are also expected to
assist the Legal Department in executing and implementing
compliance requirements within their respective scope of
responsibility. Meanwhile, to manage different compliance
issues, the Board, with the assistance of the Legal Department,
will formulate corresponding systems to strengthen internal
control management, ensure compliance operations and enhance
corporate reputation.

The Group keeps improving its compliance management system
to respond to regulatory changes in the future and has taken the
following measures:

- The Board has established the Group's purpose, values and
strategy, and disclosed the same in the Annual Report.
The Board believes these purpose, values and strategy are
aligned with the Group’s culture.

- The Group has formulated the Policy on Succession Planning
for Directors and Senior Management ( (R EZ=K oM
EIABHIEZEE) ) to facilitate the alignment
of the objectives of medium- and long-term talent
management planning and succession planning, so as to
insulate the Group’s daily operations from, and mitigate the
risks associated with, the potential negative impact of the
departure, temporary absences and personnel transitions of
directors, senior management or other key position holders.

- In active response to the concerns and requirements
outlined in the joint-statement of the Securities and
Futures Commission (SFC) and the Accounting and
Financial-Reporting Council (AFRC) in relation to loans,
advances, prepayments and similar arrangements made
by listed issuers released on 13 July 2023, the Group has
formulated the Debt Investments Management System and
will continue reviewing and revising its existing policies and
procedures for debt investments.
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The Group has formulated the Policy on Anti-Money
Laundering, Counter-Terrorist Financing and Counter-
Proliferation Financing Policy to ensure fully legal and
regulatory compliance in its daily business operations,
including but not limited to the aspects of combating
money laundering, terrorist financing and financing for
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction.

The Group has adopted a “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery
and Corruption Policy” that supports anti-corruption laws
and regulations. The “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and
Corruption Policy” embodied and replaced the “Policy on
Acceptance of Advantages and Handling of Conflicts of
Interest” which had been implemented since 2011.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy and
system for employees and those who deal with the Group.

The Group has established a policy to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the Board, and
disclosed the policy in its Corporate Governance Report.
The policy will be reviewed annually.

The Group has implemented a Board Diversity Policy. The
policy is reviewed annually to ensure the Board maintains
an appropriate balance of skills, experience, and diverse
perspectives aligned with the Group's operations. The Group
is committed to board diversity, and one female director
was appointed to the Board on 29 November 2024. As of
31 March 2025, the Board comprises six male directors and
one female director.
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Business Ethics

The Group has a zero-tolerance approach to business ethics
compliance. Leading by example under the Board’s oversight, the
Group strictly abides by the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Anti-Monopoly Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Securities and Futures Ordinance, Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter
615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
laws and regulations. By implementing these stringent compliance
measures, we not only ensure the legality and compliance of
our operations, but also set an example for our employees,
urging all of them to comply with the relevant regulations more
conscientiously and to work together to safeguard the integrity
and reputation of the Group.

We are fully aware that business ethics is the key to achieving
long-term and steady development of an enterprise. Therefore,
the Group continues to improve its internal control system and
constantly strengthens its control procedures and measures to
ensure that compliance requirements are effectively implemented.
At the same time, the Group attaches great importance to
business ethics and is committed to incorporating this concept
into the daily work of its employees. To ensure that employees
strictly comply with laws and regulations and adhere to business
ethics, the Group has formulated and implemented a series of
rules to address business ethics-related issues such as conflict
of interest and anti-corruption, and has ensured that the
requirements of the rules are strictly and effectively implemented
by employees through training. The rules related to internal
control and management of business ethics include but not
limited to the Reporting and Anti-corruption and Bribery Policy,
Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy (For Internal Use), Securities
Trading Policy for the Company’s Directors and Employees,
Employee Handbook, Investment Committee Management
System and others.
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Conflict of Interest

To avoid unethical behavior such as irregular operation or
insider trading, the Group sets out requirements in the
Employee Handbook, that all employees are required to declare
their interests in their own accounts and those of their direct
relations, and to report transactions in their accounts for the
current period. In addition, in order to prevent the occurrence
of transactions related to target companies, the Group has
formulated the Declaration of Relationship with Listed Companies
and/or Listing Applicants And Outside Directorships and/or
Business Interests and other internal management systems,
requiring employees to report truthfully and timely to the Legal
Department and continuously update any changes in their
affiliations with target companies.

Resolution of matters involving conflicts of interest
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Anti-Corruption

Anti-corruption is the key element for sound and compliant
operations. At the same time, maintaining business integrity not
only helps to enhance productivity, but also improves employee
morale and the overall work atmosphere. By strictly adhering to
business ethics, we are committed to fostering a transparent, fair
and positive working environment, thereby realizing sustainable
corporate development. To ensure strict compliance of relevant
regulations by our employees, the Group not only sets out clear
requirements to prevent bribery, acceptance of advantages,
offer of advantages, abuse of authority and improper use of
company data, but also provides training to employees from time
to time. The main purpose of these trainings is to strengthen
the compliance awareness of our employees, ensure their strict
compliance with the requirements and to effectively prevent
the risk of law breakers taking advantages of our employees for
illegal activities.

To ensure that the Group's zero-tolerance approach to bribery
and corruption is implemented among its employees, it has
formulated and implemented a series of measures, including
investment compliance assessment form, relationship declaration
with listed companies and/or listing applicants, anti-money
laundering risk assessment form, investment management form
and anti-corruption training, etc., to prevent any misconduct or
negligence in duties, and to raise the compliance awareness of
employees on the relevant laws and regulations. Through these
measures, we are committed to safeguarding the integrity and
reputation of the Company and ensuring sound and compliant
business operations. In FY2024/2025, there was no internal staff
disciplinary violation or corruption lawsuits in the Group.
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Case Study: Actively Promoting Anti-Corruption Training and Education

On 24 March 2025, the Group invited an external consulting agency and a law firm to provide compliance and
anti-corruption training for all directors and employees for FY2024/2025. The training was delivered through
both online and off line sessions to provide full participation accessibility for directors and staff across different
locations. The training covered topics related to anti-corruption policies and measures, board functions
and responsibilities, disclosure and management of inside information, as well as the latest provisions and
compliance requirements of the updated Corporate Governance Code.
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Whistleblowing Mechanism

While upholding corporate ethics, we attach great importance
to the rights and interests of whistleblowers. Our Reporting and
Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy is designed to protect the
rights of employees or any third-party whistleblowers by ensuring
that the identity of the whistleblower will not be disclosed
without his/her consent or legal mandate, and that confidentiality
requirements are strictly enforced, so that whistleblowers can
safeguard our ethical standards without any worries. The Group
provides a variety of reporting channels, including written reports,
postal mail and e-mail, to ensure that whistleblowers can submit
their reporting information conveniently and securely, and to
further enhance transparency and integrity within the enterprise.
Regardless of the outcome of the report, we highly value the
protection of whistleblowers to ensure that their legitimate rights
and interests will not be infringed upon.

Reporting Channels

Reporting by post
THERR

Correspondence address:
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Investor Services and Marketing

In FY2024/2025, the Group abided by the applicable relevant
rules, regulations and standards that have a significant impact
on the Group with regard to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters with respect to its operations and
services and methods of redress, including but not limited to the
following:

- Listing Rules;
- Code on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs;

- Companies Act (2023 Revision), Laws of Cayman Islands;

- Company Law of the People’s Republic of China;
- Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China;
- Trust Law of the People’s Republic of China;

- Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China;

- Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

- Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

- Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong); and

- Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap. 216 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

As an investment company within the meaning under Chapter
21 of the Listing Rules, the. Group does not provide services
or products to any investors during its business operations.
Therefore, issues! such as “Percentage of total products sold or
shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons” and
“number of products and service related complaints received”
are not applicable to the Group.
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The Group firmly believes that integrity is the cornerstone of
building investor trust and maintaining the reputation of a
company. Therefore, we strictly comply with the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations
relating to advertising, and any form of false or exaggerated
publicity is strictly prohibited. All promotional materials are
subject to the approval of the Legal Department before release
to check for potential misrepresentation or exaggeration so that
timely corrections can be made. Through this stringent review
mechanism, we ensure the truthfulness and compliance of our
promotional content to further enhance the credibility of the
Company.

To better take into account the expectations and needs of
investors in our decision-making process, the Group has set up
a dedicated feedback channel to ensure that they can easily
express their concerns and expectations. To this end, in addition
to establishing various channels to maintain close communication
with our stakeholders, the Group also actively participates in
industry forums and roadshows through which we engage in in-
depth dialogues with our stakeholders to discuss their concerns
and the latest industry trends. At the same time, these activities
not only enable us to understand the real needs and concerns
of our stakeholders in a timely manner, but also enhance
transparency and their trust in us.

Section 4 - Intellectual Property Rights

Wealthink Al attaches paramount importance to the application
and protection of intellectual property rights, and manages
intellectual property rights throughout the entire process of
its business and strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations. The Group has investment activities as its principal
business operation. The major intellectual property rights involved
in the Group’s operation process include its trademarks, research
reports produced by the Group and similar works, and do not
involve intellectual property rights such as invention and utility
model patents.
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Intellectual Property Rights Management

We are well aware of the importance of effective intellectual
property rights management to the security of business
operations. The Group strictly complies with the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other relevant laws and regulations, and
continuously improves its internal control system. The Group is
committed to standardizing and streamlining the processes of
application, approval, management and use of various types of
intellectual property rights, improving the intellectual property
rights management system and elevating the level of intellectual
property rights management.

Regarding the Group's copyright, we will attach a copyright
description to the independently produced research reports,
industry analysis, and other materials of similar works to clarify
the ownership. Apart from protecting our own intellectual
property rights, the Group also highly respects and protects
the copyrights of every work and material. Therefore, to
avoid infringement and other negative incidents, we require
our employees to cite the source or obtain the consent and
authorization of the original copyright owner when quoting
materials such as text, statements, pictures and films, etc. This
ensures that we respect and protect intellectual property rights,
prevents legal disputes, and enhances the reputation. Respecting
the intellectual property rights of others helps to build good
industry relations and promotes the innovation and healthy
development of the entire industry.

In FY2024/2025, the Group's trademarks, including words,
graphics, and collections of pictures and words, have been
registered at the Trademark Registry of the Intellectual Property
Rights Department of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, effectively protecting the Group ‘s technological
innovations and enhancing its intellectual property advantages.
These trademarks remain in force under the applicable trademark
classes to meet the Group’s actual business needs. In addition,
the Group will regularly review, and apply for and/or change
trademark registration as needed according to the development
of new business.

The Group has established a daily monitoring and rights defense
mechanism for intellectual property rights such as trademarks and
copyrights. When the Group's rights and interests are infringed
upon, such as when external organizations reproduce or publish
the Group’s research reports for profit without permission, the
Group will refer the matter to the relevant department for action,
and safeguard the Group’s legitimate rights and interests in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
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CHAPTER TWO — ENVIRONMENTAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Wealthink Al advocates the concept of low-carbon and
environmental protection, pays attention to the impact of its own
development on the environment and society, and endeavors
to integrate the concept of green and low carbon development
into the whole process of daily operation and management,
and strives to reduce the impact of various business activities
on the environment. In daily operation, employees’ awareness
of environmental protection are enhanced through the
implementation of relevant energy-saving and emission reduction
measures, and resource-saving plans in regulating energy
consumption, use of water resources, waste management, etc.,
are established to further build a green operating environment.

Section 1 - Environmental Management

As the Group is principally engaged in investment management,
it does not have any direct effect on the environment. However,
the environmental management concept and strategy of the
Group put emphasis on improving energy efficiency, reducing
resources usage, promoting the green development, formulating
a sustainable development mechanism for operation and
enhancing the environmental awareness and code of conduct of
all employees. In addition, the Group has integrated the concepts
of sustainable development and ESG system into its business
strategy to create green workplaces incorporating sustainable
elements.
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Green Office

The Group has always been committed to sustainable
development and aims to establish green offices and
environmentally friendly workplaces. The Group was awarded
the Green Office and Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards for the
years 2019 and 2020 by the World Green Organization in
recognition of our continuous efforts and excellent performance
in sustainable development. We not only aim to realize our
own green transformation, but also contribute to the global
achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals. The Group
has also adopted relevant green office initiatives, including but
not limited to:

- Set up recycling box next to photocopiers to facilitate waste
recycling;

- Encourage electronic means as a principal means for
communication to reduce the use of paper;

- Replace energy-intensive lights with LED lights; and

- Post stickers with environmental-friendly slogan such as
saving paper, green office, saving water, reducing use of
plastics, etc., in prominent places.

Section 2 - Use of Energy

Given the nature of the Group’s business, the major resources
and energy consumed by the Group during the FY2024/2025
were unleaded gasoline, electricity, water and paper. For data
and details of specific consumption, please refer to Table 2 in
the section “Appendix | — Key Performance”, which discloses
the year-on-year data of the Group's resource consumption for
FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024.
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Unleaded Gasoline Consumption

Due to its business nature, the Group needs vehicles for
research and travel, and the major energy for transportation is
unleaded gasoline. In FY2024/2025, the gasoline consumption
of the Group was 187.13 liters, representing a decrease of
approximately 67.74% as compared with FY2023/2024. This
achievement was mainly due to the expected effect of the
gasoline consumption control measures implemented by the
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and other vehicles by the Group, which significantly reduced the F=-°
use of company vehicles.
Gasoline Consumption (Unit: liter)
VURSHAEE (%h: 7
5,400.38
L0 187.13
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FY2022/2023 FY2023/2024

To reduce the consumption of gasoline resources, the Group has
implemented specific measures to save gasoline consumption
and at the same time control Scope 1 (Direct Greenhouse Gas
("GHG") Emissions) emissions, which include but not limited to:

- Promote low-carbon travel and encourage public
transportation such as subways;

— Turn off the engine when the vehicle is idle;

- Make regular vehicle inspection and maintenance to ensure
optimum engine performance and fuel usage;

- Coordinate employee travel plans and carpool as much as
possible; and

- Use technological applications such as online visualization
to organize more online conferences.

FY2024/2025

RBPAUMBERERE AEBEERT AR
i URBERER RO gEsSE (B
ERERE(DREREDHBONHERE
HEERERETRER

- REEWRHT FEHEZTLAHE:

- GEWREREEEALIE:

- THETERRELRRE URRKE
B 5| ZE M RE R BHE A -

- WHEBTHTEE FREHELT:
&

- MRERARCERRER ABEZ
EREZ-

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

ENERBREFRAT / FH2024/25

105



106

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - tEREBHRE

Electricity Consumption

The Group is committed to conserving electricity resources,
reducing electricity consumption and at the same time lowering
Scope 2 (Energy Indirect GHG Emissions) emissions. The Group
has taken “power saving” as an important consideration in its
business strategies and operations. In FY2024/2025, the Group
actively promoted energy-efficient office operation, electricity
consumption was comparable to those for FY2023/2024.

Electricity Consumption (Unit: kWh)
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FY2022/2023 FY2023/2024

To reduce energy consumption, the Group has implemented
a series of specific energy saving measures, including but not
limited to:

- Encourage employees to set their computers to energy-
saving modes to reduce energy consumption;

- Enhance employees’ environmental awareness by posting
slogans and organizing environmental activities, fostering
voluntary reduction of unnecessary energy and resource
consumption;

- Turn off all lights, electronic equipment and other power-
consuming equipment at the end of work and when
working from home;

= Switch off all idle electrical appliances including lights and
air conditioners;

- Use energy-efficient electrical systems, replace high-energy-
consuming lamps with LED lights, and utilize energy-saving
equipment;

- Maintain indoor temperature at 25° C, and adjust the usage
of lights and air conditioners in the office properly during
non-peak-occupancy hours; and

- Cooperate with the property management company to
clean the dust filter and fan coil unit regularly to improve
equipment operating efficiency.
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Use of Water Resources

Recognizing that water is a precious natural resource, the Group
has put in place a series of practical measures to help employees
better understand their water footprint and achieve water
conservation. In FY2024/2025, the Group consumed 86.94 m?
of water!, representing a decrease of approximately 59.37%
as compared with FY2023/2024. The water used by the Group
was mainly for office use, which did not exceed within scope of
daily use. In FY2024/2025, the Group did not have any issue in
sourcing water fit for its purpose.

Water Consumption (Unit: m?)
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The Group has formulated policies and raised recommendations
to guide its employees in conserving water. Committed to
improving its efficiency and performance in water consumption,
the Group will continue its efforts on monitoring and
benchmarking the water usage in its operations, and realize
water conservation by implementing a series of practicable
measures, including by not limited to:

Organize regular training for employees to understand the
concept of water conservation.

- Make timely report on dripping faucets for repair and
maintenance;

- Cooperate with external parties to promote employees’
active participation in water conservation actions;

- Set up water quotas and targets, and procure employees to
save water;

- Use water-saving sanitary ware to save water consumption;

- Adjust the water supply according to the season and non-
business hours;

FY2024/2025
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- Make full use of the rainwater recycling system to maximize
the use of water resources by collecting rainwater in the
rainy season and irrigating greenery in the dry season;

- Install water filters and advocate water reuse; and

- Post water-saving slogans next to faucets and in pantries in
the office to raise employees’ awareness.

Note:

1. Given that the water consumption of the Group was provided and
managed by the property management company of the building
where it was located, it is difficult to obtain accurate figures of water
consumption and, therefore, water consumption data was obtained by
estimating the daily water consumption per person.

Paper Consumption

Given the Group’'s business nature, paper is one of the
primary resources consumed throughout its operation. During
FY2024/2025, the Group consumed 40,000 pieces of paper
and the corresponding weight was approximately 199.58 kg
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The Group has long been promoting the concept of “Paperless
Office” and "Office Automation” and encouraging its employees
to use less paper in the workplace while strengthening their
efforts to recycle the wastepaper. The Group has implemented
specific paper-saving measures at its offices, including but not
limited to:

Post paper conservation slogans on office equipment;

- Promote office automation and communicate by electronic
means online as much as possible;

- Collect single-sided paper for reuse, with double-sided
printing set as default;

- Put a single-sided paper collection box and paper-recycling
box near the photocopiers;

- Encourage all staff to reuse one-side printed papers as
drafts; and

- Prioritize the use of recycled paper products over
conventional virgin paper products to support the recycled
paper industry.
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Environmental Targets

We are committed to taking a holistic approach to environmental,
social and economic benefits, and are proactive in assuming
our responsibilities in our operations. The Group has set
environmental targets and reviews progress on ESG targets
annually to optimize the management of the Group’s material
issues and sustainability performance. The following table
summarizes the Group's environmental targets, its progress in
achieving them and the related measures to address them:

BREBRR
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R EBEEBTIHAEBCHET -A5&E
EREREFENEEZE XEHFRITESG E
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FEBRBEM - TRBMAEBNIREF Fj :
HEEBRBESTEERAREERAEE:

Resource
Category Description of Target Target Progress Solutions
ARER EEE3i:E BREE R 16 e
Electricity Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline Under progress - Increase employees’ awareness of
year, the Group targets to maintain power saving
its electricity consumption intensity — Power saving equipment
within the same range under the same — Turn off power when not necessary
boundary in the next 5 years. — Reduce energy consumption by fully
utilizing natural light to decrease
light intensity
W ANZBZ— /ZT__BFREEFE - ETH - BERETIHEEX
$%IE’JET@7%BA5KJK5¢WH1H%’“E - HERME
AR EERERFER KT - FMEREREDN
- RAVBERKARIERRE KW
Water As the Group's water consumption is N/A - Increase employees’ awareness of

collectively metered and processed at

the building level, accurate consumption

data is not available. Therefore, specific

water consumption reduction targets

cannot be formulated.
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water conservation

- Report leaking equipment for repair
and maintenance

- Install water filter

- Rainwater recycling system
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SR

Resource
Category Description of Target Target Progress  Solutions
ERER B Z BRERE R 15 i
Paper Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline Under progress -  Office automation
year, the Group targets to keep its paper - Paper recycling bin
consumption within the same range - Double-sided paper
under the same boundary in the next 5 —  Paper saving slogan
years
R AZEZ— /B _MFREEFE . ETF - BREEH
$%l%§%ﬁ%*%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ - RO
AR AR B RIFER —KF - - ZEA4H
- MREORE
Air Emissions Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline Under progress -  Public transportation
year, the Group targets to keep its air - Improve usage efficiency in office space
emissions under the same boundary in and minimize idle space
the next 5 years. -  Regular vehicle maintenance to improve
fuel efficiency
ERBEN WZBZ— /—Z__MEREEFE . #ETH - REXBHT
AEBENBRER/RRKSFAEER & - REBAEBEEREE HHREERH
BARFEZERENE- - TEHETRESE Mkmﬁ&ﬂ%

GHG Emissions

BH
B
i
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e

Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline
year, the Group targets to keep its GHG
emissions under the same boundary in
the next 5 years.

N2 — /"B HEREEFE
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Under progress

-
a1
|

Purchase emission-reducing furniture
for new offices

Control energy consumption in energy-
saving office

A E B E R KA
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Waste and
Sewage

BER Y MK

Due to the Group's business nature, all
wastes are domestic wastes which are
collected and processed in the building
collectively. Therefore, accurate emission
data is not available. Specific waste
reduction targets cannot be formulated.
AEBUEZ - HREEEY AEFRE
MR RE R ERERGNE
RAEBBNHTRERR-

N/A

i

Strengthen daily environmental
protection promotion

Increase data collection and further
effective supervision in the future
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Section 3 - Climate Action

As a leading investment company, we understand that the impact
of climate change has extended to all sectors. Promoting green
transformation is not only a social responsibility, but also the
only way for achieving sustainable development. Therefore, we
actively promote green initiatives in our internal management
and operations to support the cause of environmental protection.
In our daily operations, we actively take measures to reduce our
carbon footprint and energy consumption, such as implementing
an energy management system and promoting green offices. In
addition, in terms of our investment strategy, we are committed
to supporting the development of green business by actively
seeking out and investing in companies and projects with
sustainable development potential.

To ensure the effectiveness and transparency of our green
investments, we have put in place a well-established ESG
assessment system and incorporated ESG factors into the
investment decision-making process, and regularly assess the
environmental and social impact of our investment projects and
monitor their sustainable development performance. We firmly
believe that green investment not only creates economic value,
but also brings positive environmental benefits to the society
and contributes to the combat against climate change and the
realization of sustainable development. In FY2024/2025, the
Group was not aware of any violations of laws and regulations
related to air and GHG emissions, discharge to water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, and noise
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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Emissions

Due to its business nature, the Group does not generate
significant air emissions during its business operations. Air
emissions were mainly generated from fuel combustion of
vehicles. In FY2024/2025, the air emissions of nitrogen oxides
("NO,"), sulfur oxides (“SO,”) and particulate matter (“PM")
were approximately 0.15 kg, 0.0028 kg and 0.01 kg respectively.
In response to China’s commitment to the “Dual-Carbon
Strategic Goal”, the Group has been striving to reduce its carbon
footprint during business operations. In FY2024/2025, the
Group’s GHG emissions were mainly generated from the burning
of gasoline by vehicles and electricity consumption. Specifically,
the Group’s total amount of GHG emissions was approximately
15.54 tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent, representing a decrease
of approximately 12.40% as compared with FY2023/2024.

Since the solid waste and sewage generated by the Group were
collected and managed collectively by the building property
management company where the Group operates, the Group had
no detailed records of the amount of waste in FY2024/2025. Due
to its business nature, the Group did not generate any hazardous
waste in FY2024/2025. The Group’s emissions for FY2024/2025
are summarized in Table 1 in the section “Appendix | — Key
Performance”.
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Risk of Climate Change

Although the principal business of the Group is not directly
linked to climate or environment, global climate change and the
increase in extreme weather will indirectly affect the operations
of the Group's investees, which may lead to capital expenditures,
capital reallocation or allocation, acquisitions and asset
divestitures, among other things. In the face of escalating climate
challenges, the Group has established a climate risk identification
framework, which identifies and evaluates climate risks in terms
of both the impact of the risk and the probability of occurrence.
The following lists the potential risks that may be brought by
climate change:

RIRZ AR

BEARENEIZXRHTERERIKRIIRR
MR RE - (B 2 BRR IR B L AN AR ik K SRS N
EXEREERRKRENANER Ere
BYEASH BRAEHORKEE KB
MEEHBHSEBERABE - BMHTHEAROR
R AEBEEEET RIRE R IFEAER
KRB EANTERENBERSERER
JZ - BB R SRARE R o AT 518 T | AR
BT RNEERR

Risk Degree of
Category Current Status Impact Solutions
[ B JE B Bk FERE BRER
Transition Policy Risk —  The government may increase ESG  Low to - Place high priority on
Risks report disclosure requirements and medium monitoring the promulgation
standards, resulting in increased and update of relevant laws
operating costs and regulations, and the Legal
- Existing businesses may be Department will follow up
adjusted due to policy changes and make improvements
which may result in diminished
gains
BE R 2640 - BUFFIREEIEMESGMERE EKEF - BERMERARERNBEMN
ERARBRE BHEE K BT AR AP IR MO
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Risk Degree of
Category Current Status Impact Solutions
B 3 A Bk FEEE BRER
Brand Risk - Environmental pollution or Low —  The Group will take climate
product quality problems exist change into consideration
in the production process of when investing in new
the investee projects, and actively focus
- High carbon emissions in on identifying investment
the production process of opportunities in areas
the investee lead to a risk of such as clean energy and
stranded assets environmental protection
- Support public relations
policies to address social
issues related to climate
change
o R [ B - REMNQALEEBETEFER K - AEEEREFBEAR 248
BaidEmEERE RIEZCMAZBHE 2R
- RENRQBEEBRERBREEN BRETBRER RREE
= BEFERZRAR HHREKS
- XRHEHREZCHEBLE
R A AR BR
Market Risk — Climate change may lead to Low - Regular industry analysis
rising prices and fluctuations in - Focus on the follow-up action
the supply chain of climate-related indicators
and target information
™5 E B - RIREB(CAREEWME LK K - EHITELMN
K - ERREHEBEHANARE
B R
Physical Risks  Risk of Extreme -  Damage the business of Low - Work from home when necessary
Weather investees to reduce commuting
- Affect the safety and health of - Reserve additional communication
employees time
- Damage office equipment - Strengthen the disaster-resistant
- Communication failure construction of the office
- Carry out responsible investment
and diversify investment
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Responding in conjunction with the Group's enterprise risk
management and implementation of related solutions is an
ongoing direction for the Group in the future. Our management
will adapt to the risks posed by climate change and capitalize on
the potential opportunities it presents.

CHAPTER 3 — HUMAN RESOURCES
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group firmly believes that employees are an important asset
of a company. We care for our employees and value their health
and safety. We not only provide our employees with market-
competitive benefits package, but also endeavor to create a
healthy and safe working environment. At the same time, we
cultivate our employees to give full play to their strengths and
help them to enhance their professional skills, adhering to the
talent development concept of "T.E.A.M=Together, Everyone
Achieves More”, to achieve the common growth of the enterprise
and its employees, and to realize the sustainable development of
the Group.

Section 1 - Employee Rights

The Group adheres to a people-oriented approach, respects every
employee and actively protects the rights and interests of every
employee. It strictly complies with labor and employment laws
and regulations such as Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
and Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The Group manages the recruitment process, including
recruitment requirements, interview screening and approval of
offers, to ensure that employees can meet the Group’s cultural
and development needs. The Group has also formulated the
Annual Recruitment Plan, which concludes the position vacancies
of each department, and the Human Resources Department
is responsible for selecting talents for the Group’'s business
development. The Group treats all candidates equally, eliminates
discrimination’ in gender, race, religion or any other aspects,
and resolutely prohibits the employment of child labor and
involuntary labor. During FY2024/2025, the Group did not
experience any significant violations of labor and employment
laws and regulations.
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The Group enters into employment contracts with employees,
strengthens the compliance management of employee
employment, protects the basic rights and interests of employees
in accordance with the law, realizes fair and compliant
employment and recruitment, and establishes a stable and
sound labor relationship between the Group and employees. In
FY2024/2025, the employee contract signing rate of the Group
was 100% and the employee turnover rate was 105.00%. The
total number of employees of the Group was 20, all of which
were based in Hong Kong, China.

Employee Percentage by Gender

RIEHIB D8 TLAI

Female
ZHE
55%

FY2024/2025 —m—=

e s
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Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group promotes an equal and inclusive corporate culture
internally and strictly prohibits any discrimination and promotes
equality in the workplace. The Group actively encourages its
employees to report any incidents involving discrimination to the
Human Resources Department of the Group, which takes the
responsibility for assessing, dealing with, recording and taking
any necessary disciplinary actions. Meanwhile, the Group attaches
great importance to the diversity of its employees and maintains
strict non-discrimination policies in the recruitment, employment,
salary and promotion and development of employees irrespective
of its employees’ gender, age, nationality, religion, belief, color,
race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, political affiliation, family and
health status, etc. The Group continues to be committed to
promoting gender equality and equal pay for employees, and
continues to increase the proportion of female employees in the
senior management, with women accounting for approximately
22% of senior management in FY2024/2025.
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Compensation and Benefits

The Group adheres to the principles of fairness, equity and
transparency in remuneration and performance, and offers
competitive remuneration to its employees to fully mobilize
their motivation and foster a positive and progressive working
The Group will offer fair and competitive
remuneration and development opportunities to applicants
based on their educational background, personal attributes, job
experience and career aspirations. Furthermore, the Group has
also established a comprehensive welfare protection system in
accordance with national and regional laws and regulations.

environment.

In order to continuously improve the welfare of our employees
and to care for employees in need and their families, the Group
actively introduces various non-salary benefits and extends them
to all employees to create a corporate culture of respect and
responsibility, including but not limited to:

Statutory benefits
JETE 48 A

FHEER
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ERMEEX EFEEENER:

Leave entitlements: statutory holidays, rest days, annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave, marriage leave, funeral leave, examination leave, personal leave, etc.

Social insurance: basic pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, work
injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing fund

KB R %
HERE: EAEZRR BERR

Health insurance Medical insurance, health check-ups

2 B AR [E BERR BEER

Women's Care
el

breastfeeding friendly workplace

TERE -KEB -FHRE - FER ER BER &K BER: %Wﬁ =RE
CRERR
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Provide adequate supporting mechanisms to achieve best breastfeeding practice and create a

REASIHOIFHRHIRERSESURBRER EYSARBRENTIESHM

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREBR DA / F302024/25



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Caring for Employees

The Group attaches great importance to communication
and exchanges with employees, respects their opinions and
suggestions, actively listens to their voices, and provides all
employees with a variety of complaint and feedback channels.
The Group encourages employees to actively put forward
suggestions and report complaints in their real names or
anonymously, and they can contact the relevant departments
through channels such as emails, bulletin boards, telephone calls,
weekly company meetings, weekly reports, quarterly reports and
team building activities, etc., so as to safeguard the employees’
rights to freedom of speech and expression. Upon receipt of
employee feedback or complaints, the department concerned will
send feedback to the business unit by email for investigation and
follow-up, and effectively respond to and help employees solve
their problems.
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Case Study: Extending Care to an Ill Employee

During the reporting period, the Group delivered a care package including fresh fruits to a colleague on sick
leave to express our genuine concern and support. This thoughtful gesture not only reflected our commitment
to employee wellbeing, but also strengthened team cohesion, conveying a message of compassion and
warmth. Through such thoughtful care, we hope to make every employee feel the support and heartfelt
concern of the Company.
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Section 2 - Employee Safety

Every employee is an important part of the Group. The Group
strives to create and maintain a healthy and safe workplace
for its employees, and in particular, commits to addressing any
exposures of its employees to occupational health and safety
risks. The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations
in relation to health and safety protection, such as the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Cap 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), implements
the ISO 45001 occupational health and safety management
system, and carry out relevant measures to protect the safety of
employees:

- Ensured employees’ desk setup is ergonomic;
- Encouraged employees to take regular breaks and lower
overall sedentary exposure;

- Arranged emergency response drills and safety meetings
regularly;

- Maintained and cleaned the air-conditioning systems
regularly;

- Promoted the “5S” concept in workplace management;

- Ensured the ventilation in the offices complies with the
guidelines and standards of the building;

- Organised professional disinfection of carpets; and

- Prohibited smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace.
The Group regularly organizes fire evacuation drills and
fire safety education and training to popularize fire safety
knowledge, enhance 'employees’ awareness of fire safety
and improve their emergency self-rescue capabilities.
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The Group attaches great importance to the health of its
employees, and thus all full-time employees of the Group are
entitled to medical plans covering out-patient clinical visits,
hospitalisation, dental checkups and surgical treatment. Besides,
the Group had upgraded the medical plan to provide wider
coverage, such as body check-ups, vaccinations, and vision
care, and increased the upper limit of each claim of dental
consultation. The Group has also partnered with the insurance
service provider to adopt an e-claim mobile application. The
Group has developed a response mechanism to deal with any
emergency, by providing immediate support for the injured,
launching investigations to examine root causes and taking
corrective actions to avoid recurrence. In FY2024/2025, the
Group invested HK$347,000 in occupational health and safety
for employees in medical and labor insurance, and invested
HK$5,494 in work safety for office insurance. The Group had
zero work-related fatalities and work-related injuries (work-
related fatality rate was zero) and zero work-related injuries lost
days in the past three years (including FY2024/2025).

Section 3 - Employee Training

The Group emphasizes in-house talent cultivation. Based on
the long-term corporate development, the Group invests
large amount of resources to establish a staff training system,
and continuously builds a talent team to adapt to business
development. It provides its employees with transparent
promotion channels and career growth space and formulates
complete talent training programmes to improve employees’
capability and competitiveness. To solve employees’ deficiency
in knowledge and professional skillsets, the Group encourages
and supports its employees to further improve and develop their
job-related skills and knowledge for career development and
participate in courses of recognised institutions.

Professional teams are the core competitiveness of the Group.
In order to enhance its employees’ professional competence
and further strengthen the Group's core competitiveness in
the market, the Group has been committed to designing and
providing suitable training programmes to its employees based on
the nature of their jobs. The Group has covered the introduction
to industry background, professional knowledge and skillsets,
laws and regulations in its training programmes.
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Given the nature of the Group’s business, it is crucial for
its employees to keep updated with the latest regulatory
requirements and significant economic and market changes.
The employees of the Group are highly encouraged to take
professional qualification examinations and participate
in external training programmes to further improve their
professional knowledge in consistent with the Group’s
investment objectives. Employees who have taken professional
qualification examinations and obtained vocational qualification
certificates relevant to their roles in the Group will receive
reimbursements from the Group. A copy of the “Examination &
Training Reimbursement Form” can be obtained from the Human
Resources Manager with a list of pre-approved examinations
and procedures of reimbursement. In FY2024/2025, the Group
provided a total of 20 hours of training for its employees. The
breakdown of the Group’s training data by gender, employee
category and training hours is detailed in Tables 5 in the section
headed “Appendix | — Key Performance”.

CHAPTER 4 — SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group upholds the principle of corporate social responsibility
and constantly strives to create sustainable value for the society.
We strictly screen suppliers and maintain stable cooperations with
them. Meanwhile, we actively participate in improving the well-
being of community groups in difficult times and continuously
explore more opportunities to create value for the society.

Section 1 - Supplier Management

Given the nature of the Group’s business, suppliers play an
integral role in its operations. The Group has established good
business relationships with a number of suppliers of office
supplies and technical support and prioritizes green office
supplies during selection, such as the use of recycled paper
as much as possible; In order to effectively identify and avoid
potential social and environmental risks in the supply chain and
promote the sustainable development of the entire supply chain,
the Group is committed to establishing a standardized system
for supplier management, which is applied to the process for
screening and reviewing suppliers. In FY2024/2025, the Group
had 1 supplier from-Mainland China and 20 suppliers from Hong
Kong, China.
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Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
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Supplier Screening and Review

The Group takes great care in selecting suppliers and the
Administration Department is responsible for the overall
supervision on the selection of suppliers and the procurement
process. In the process of selecting a supplier, the Administration
Department considers a range of criteria and conducts a detailed
assessment of suppliers’ compliance before entering into an
agreement. The Group adheres to the principle of “comparing
three or more relevant suppliers” by collecting and requesting
quotations from three or more relevant suppliers. We conduct a
comprehensive assessment on multiple dimensions such as social,
environmental and governmental regulations and standards, and
ultimately select the most suitable suppliers for contracting to
ensure the establishment of stable cooperation. Through rigorous
screening and assessment processes, we strive to not only build
long-term cooperation relations with our suppliers, but also
promote the sustainable development of the supply chain.

Six Factors for Evaluating Suppliers
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Supplier Quality Control

The Group attaches great importance to quality control of
our suppliers to ensure the sustainability of our supply chain.
We are fully aware that the behavior of our suppliers has far-
reaching impacts on our overall business and the environment,
and have therefore put in place a stringent supplier evaluation
and monitoring mechanism to ensure their compliance with
our sustainability criteria. During our cooperation, we regularly
review and evaluate our suppliers, focusing on monitoring their
performance in environmental management, labor conditions,
business ethics as well as other aspects. If a supplier is found
to have failed to meet the Group’s criteria or contractual
requirements, we will terminate our cooperation and blacklist
it. We have set up various feedback channels to encourage our
employees and stakeholders to report any identified violations
to take corrective actions in a timely manner. At the same time,
we maintain close communications with our suppliers and
provide necessary support to encourage them to improve their
ESG management. Through these measures, we not only ensure
the quality and reliability of our supply chain, but also promote
the improvement of our suppliers’ environmental and social
responsibility, ultimately realizing the sustainable development of
the entire supply chain.

Green Supply Chain

The Group integrates the concept of “green procurement”
into the establishment of the supplier system, giving priority
to local suppliers and the purchase of environmental-friendly
products under the same conditions. By doing so, we hope to
reduce the carbon footprint and environmental impact caused by
procurement, while promoting the development of local economy
and creating more job opportunities.

Section 2 — Social Investment

The Group gives back to the society through practical actions and
endeavors to contribute to the society with social development as
the foundation. Through the formulation of relevant policies, the
Group actively encourages its employees to participate in various
activities to-help-those in need in society. By making donations
to specific organizations, we protect the environment and create
more possibilities for the poor, thus contributing to the common
progress and development of society.
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APPENDIX | — KEY PERFORMANCE ot 8% — — B SR 45 20
Table 1 — The Group’s Emissions by Category in FY2024/2025 X1-ZX&EER-ZT_-_N —ZE_HHERK
and FY2023/2024' SR /CECNUFRERFERERE
Key Performance Amount in Intensity in Amount in Intensity in
Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2024/2025 FY2024/2025° FY2023/2024>  FY2023/2024¢
—E-m/ —E-@m/ —E-=/ —E-=/
Emission SECRHE ZBC-EME —ToUBE —EoNEE
Category HHER BRENER Efy NEHE NERERES MEEmE? MENERES
Air Emissions  Z=RHEM S0, Kg 0.0028 0.00014 0.01 0.00031
T
NO, Kg 0.15 0.008 0.46 0.014
T
PM Kg 0.01 0.0005 0.03 0.00094
Tr
GHG Emissions BZERBHH Scope 1 Tonnes of COze 0.50 0.025 1.54 0.0481
(Direct GHG Emissions)®
#E1 B-ElKEE
(ERREREHN)?
Scope 2 Tonnes of COze 15.04 0.752 16.20 0.5063

(Energy Indirect
GHG Emissions)*

#E2 B-alREE
(RERERREREHR)
Total (Scope 1 & 2) Tonnes of COe 15.54 0.777 17.74 0.5544
@5 B-ElKEE
(BE1K2)
Non-Hazardous EEBEEY Wastewater® m? 86.94 4.347 214.00 6.6875
Waste
5K AAK
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B

Notes:

HEREG®RS

“Tonnes of CO2e"” and
including but not limited to,
to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, Guidelines to
Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals
for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong
Kong and the 2021 IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change)

The data of GHG emissions is expressed in

is calculated with reference to, “"How

Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (AR6).

The amount and intensity in FY2023/2024 were extracted from the ESG
report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2023/2024.

The Group's Scope 1 (Direct GHG Emissions) included only the
consumption of unleaded gasoline in motor vehicles.

The Group's Scope 2 (Energy Indirect GHG Emissions) only included only
electricity consumption.

Given no record of water consumption was provided by the property
management company of the building during the year under review,
the amount of water withdrawal was based on the estimation of water
consumption per capita per day.

Intensity for FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024 were calculated by dividing
the Group's emissions in that year by the number of employees in that
year. During FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024, the number of employees
was 20 and 32, respectively.
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Given the nature of the Group’s business, no packaging materials were
used.

The amount in FY2023/2024 were extracted from the ESG report set
out in the Group's annual report for FY2023/2024.

Intensity for FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024 was calculated by dividing
the Group’s emissions in that year by the number of employees in that
year. During FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024, the number of employees
was 20 and 32, respectively.

For the convenience of readers to make comparisons, the Group
also expresses the data related to the use of unleaded gasoline in
the unit of kWh'000, and the unit conversion calculation is based on
the conversion factors in “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the
International Energy Agency. During FY2024/2025, the use of unleaded
gasoline was approximately 1.81 kWh'000. During FY2024/2025,
the intensity of use of unleaded gasoline was approximately 0.1392
kWh'000 per employee. During FY2023/2024, the use of unleaded
gasoline was approximately 5.62 kWh'000. FY2023/2024, the intensity
of use of unleaded gasoline was approximately 0.1756 kWh'000 per
employee.

oo el U N e
RIS 75': KZ B oS
Table 2 - The Group’s Resource Consumption in iEZ—_ EPA= F — F R o=
FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024 ==/ =t J= EJJfT:ZIS%l BERER g%zﬁ
Amount of Intensity of Amount of Intensity of
Resource Resource Resource Resource
Key Performance Consumption in  Consumptionin  Consumptionin  Consumption in
Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2024/2025  FY2024/2025 FY2023/2024 FY2023/2024°
—E8-pm/ —E-m/ ik —F==/
“ECRHEN —EBCEREN —ToNEFH —ToMEER
Use of Resources' &R A BRENER By EREAE BREARE BREAE BREAERE
BR Electricity kWh'000 25.06 1.2530 24.55 0.7672
B TETRE
Unleaded Gasoline* L 187.13 9.3565 580.15 18.1297
mam N
Total kWh'000 26.87 1.3435 30.17 0.9428
B TRTER
X Water® m’ 86.94 4.3470 214.00 6.6875
A K
ST Paper tonnes 0.1996 0.010 0.2694 0.0084
HR i
et

ERAEENEBNLE  UREABEME -

—E-= /T NHENHERE
RAEE-_ZT=-=/"%F=
MIRE - HEREARS -

e
MEFFFRERE P

N ERPERE = /=%
7mﬁﬁ¢m§§EIﬁi@H#$$.mE¢Eﬁ¢
Wmﬁiﬁfiﬁﬁéﬁbxdx’il*iﬁﬁimél
AB(ZZ N/ T AW FHB20A =
—Z /TR FEARA)KE-

ABHEEEETHE AEBMRETFUTET
FUBS 5 B8 A7 B2 3R 4§ 00m (A AR B B B
B AR R R EREEM (RERAET R
) RMEREHAE - TN,/ =T = F
PENESTREREN A TETRE -
:f:@/f77ﬁﬁ7f¢mﬂfum/ﬂﬂfﬁﬁi
WELNBIZNRTETEE ETAH (=

—=/=F= EWimﬂ&mEﬁﬁ;mﬁ
562FEFRE - —T-=/"Z - NEEH
EHTUHERERENA0TS6TETERE,
BT AZ) -
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° Given no record of water consumption was provided by the property
management company of the building during the year under review,
the amount of water withdrawal was based on the estimation of water
consumption per capita per day.

Table 3 — Employees of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024

s ERABNEERATREEEENLERE
KERBRE KERRREALSAMKE
fidt o

RI-BE-E-_HF=RA=+—-—HEKEZE
—E_NE=ZA=1+-HFXKEEEIHE

As at As at

31 March 2025 31 March 2024!

S BZE

—EBE-RE —EomE

=A=+—-H =R=+—8'

Number of employees BT AH Total BAY 20 32
By gender &R Male 1 9 15
Female pogid 1 17

By region RihE Hong Kong BB 20 29
Mainland China ey N 0 3

By age BEEiR Aged 51 or above SRR KA 8 1
Aged between 41 and 50  41%E5073% 7 3

Aged between 31 and 40 31%407% 5 14

Aged 30 or below 30 R AT 0 4

By type BRETIEA  Senior Management aRERE 9 13
Middle Management HRERE 6 10

Entry level employee HEEET 5 9

By professional REXE Investment Management & EHE 10.00% 21.88%
category Operations Management B & & 12 20.00% 25.00%
Financial officer HBAR 20.00% 15.63%

Director s 35.00% 21.88%

Internal control personnel ~ WA & 5.00% 12.50%

Human Resources AHER 10.00% 3.13%

Note: e

1 The data of employee as at 31 March 2024 were extracted from the ' HE_Z-_WHE=A=1+—HWEIHEEM

ESG report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2023/2024.
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oo =z =r Vo =
IRE - 2 RERRE
Table 4 — Employee Turnover of the Group in FY2024/2025 5?54 B — = A= = T ek
and FY2023/2024 == =t e m%iﬁ%lﬁlﬁﬁﬂﬁ
As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024’
BZE BHE
—E-HF —TWEF
=A=+—H =A=+—8"
Number of Employee BBIE T AZ Total FEUN 21 6
Turnover
Employee turnover rate?& Tifi %k #2 Percentage BA 105.00% 18.75%
By gender (%)? BHERI(%)?  Male i 7 (77.78%) 2 (13.33%)
Female % 14 (127.27%) 4 (23.53%)
By region (%)? Bi#bE(%)® Hong Kong B 18 (85.71%) 6 (20.69%)
Mainland China B K BE 3(REAY) -
(N/A%)
By age (%)? RER(%)® Aged 51 or above 5185 & A & 3 (37.50%)
Aged between 41 and 50 412505% 3 (42.86%) 1(13.33%)
Aged between 31 and 40 312405% 14 (280.00%) 4 (28.57%)
Aged 30 or below 30mRAT 1(FER) 1(25.00%)
(N/A3)
Notes: fi=Fs

The data of employee turnover in FY2023/2024 were extracted from
the ESG report set out in the Group's annual report for FY2023/2024.

Employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the total number
of employee turnover for the financial year by the total number of
employees for the financial year and multiplying by 100%.

Employee turnover rate by type is calculated by dividing the total
number of employee turnover of such type for the financial year by
the total number of employees of such type for the financial year and
multiplying by 100%.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of employees in Mainland China is
nil and the formula for the calculation of the employee turnover rate is
not applicable.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of employees aged 30 or below is nil
and the formula for the calculation of the employee turnover rate is not
applicable.

1 —T=—=/=%
BHINAEE —F
BEPHRE

T ENE TRBEERE
et il
R ERERRE -

BETRAENHAELAARZIFNESRRA
ANB %I FOREBAB X100% °

ZERESME TRRENFEARNBEZUF
ZERMEEEBAAS RV FZERNNE
B4 AE X 100% °

HE-_ZT-_AF=ZA=+—HB $FEAKEEET
AT BIRARFENAXTEA-

HEZ
ITHAT BEIRKAX

TZ-RF=A=+—H 305 K&UTE
HHEARTEA
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HERE

/l:l #& ]

Table 5 - Employees Trained of the Group in FY2024/2025 XR5-—f_-_@N /- ZE-_HAHE K=

and FY2023/2024 :z/_s_ﬁﬂﬁmiﬁltggjugyg
FY2024/2025 FY2023/2024"
—s-m/ —2-=/

SE-REBE —ToNHE
Number of employees BEZEIN Total BAY 20 32

trained BEIA%
By gender &R Male B 9 15
Percentage of employees trained? CEAER S 45.00% 46.87%
Female g3 1 17
Percentage of employees trained? RilEEB DI 55.00% 53.13%
By type BETEN Senior Management ARERE 9 13
Percentage of employees trained? CEER S 45.00% 40.63%
Middle Management HREERE 2 10
Percentage of employees trained? RilEEBAL? 10.00% 31.25%
Entry level employee EEST 9 9
Percentage of employees trained? CEER S 45.00% 28.12%
Total training hours? ETEZEI Hours N 20 33
HEE RS
Average training hours* BT FEHHH®  Hours N 1.00 1.03
By gender &R Training hours for male SUEIE & 9 16
Average training hours® TR 1.0 1.1
Training hours for female T EFIR R " 17
Average training hours® TR 1.0 1.0
By type RETER Training hours for Senior Management ~ SHREEEEZ K 9 13
Average training hours® g3 50 8 1.0 1.0
Training hours for Middle Management £ & 32 B 55 3l & 2 10
Average training hours® TR e 1.0 1.0
Training hours for entry level employee  EE & T 9 10
Average training hours® TR e 1.0 1.1
130 Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
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The data of employee training in FY2023/2024 were extracted from the
ESG report set out in the Group's annual report for FY2023/2024.

Percentage of employees trained by type is calculated by dividing the
number of employees trained of such type for the financial year by the
total number of employees trained for the financial year and multiplying
by 100%.

During FY2024/2025, the Group recorded a decrease in training
demand of employees, mainly attributable to the decrease in the
number of employees. Therefore, training hours decreased as compared
to FY2023/2024.

Average training hours are calculated by dividing the total training
hours of employees for the financial year by the total number of
employees trained for the financial year. Among them, all directors
receive at least 1 hour of anti-corruption training.

Average training hours by type are calculated by dividing the training
hours of employees of such type for the financial year by the number of
employees trained of such type for the financial year.

Table 6 — Employees Safety of the Group in FY2024/2025,

BRIR - g kEaRmE

o= /FBFHNE THIEEERE
HEIRAKE _T-_= /" _NHEFE
BEPHRE HERERRS -

RERESNZIREREE S LA E AN BZ
M EZBERESEINE TASR 2R FES
FHETEAZ X100% °

REZZB-W/ T _AF AEEETHE
NFEFRMD TEHRE T AR Bt
BR T = /TN F EHIBRER
DERAR

ST FHHINBNAEANAZTFETE
ZEIMB R AW FEZBIOETRA
o Bep BEOEIEDVNRHRESHE -

REBBIAMBE T FHEIKHENAERIRXA
M EFZBER B IRIRGRZMFZERE
RFIHE T AL

R6—-—T-_W,/ —E-_HHRE -—B==/

FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023 CECNMMER-ZBRIZCEIZPER
SEEIZ2HE
FY2024/2025  FY2023/2024"  FY2022/2023'
—E-@m/ —E-=/ —E-C
Unit Bt ZBoRRFE —ToNRF —ToZHE
Employee occupational health and safety ETRXBER2RA HK$'000  FrAk 347.12 338.00 324.10
commitment
Safety production commitment ZREERA HK$'000  FriE% 5.5 15.5 14.5
Number of work-related injuries or fatalites ~EIZEZXTAZR People A - - -
Rate of injuries or fatalities (per hundred ZERAXTHE(BEEIA) % % - - -
workers)
Lost days due to work injury FIZBMERNBERE Day x - - -
Note: fEar:

The data of employee safety in FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023 were
extracted from the ESG report set out in the Group’s annual report for
FY2023/2024.

1

—E = /T _NBER =T == /=%
CoHENEIRREERBASIINALE
—ECZ /B CIMEEERETHERE.

HaRERRE-
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Table 7 - Corporate Governance of the Group in
FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024

RI-ZEB-_N/-_ZBE_EHER=-F
CE /BB EAEEQATRERE

FY2024/2025 FY2023/2024"
—E-m/ —F-=
SSCERE —ToREE
Number of Board Meetings EZEAE Number Py 10 4
Held BHERE
Board size EE-PN People A 7 7
By gender BRI Male 514 6 7
Female g 1 =
By type RER Independent director BuEE 3 3
Non-independent director 3FBUESE 4 4
Directors’ average ESTYHMN HK$'000 Fbk 250.00/year 285.71/year
remuneration 250.00,/ % 285.71,/ %
Number of trademarks and ~ ZREEEHE Number & 4 4
word registration rights BEMXTF
held under Intellectual HfEZE
Property Rights
Note: it

! The data of corporate governance in FY2023/2024 were extracted from
the ESG report set out in the Group's annual report for FY2023/2024.
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Table 8 - Anti-corruption of the Group in FY2024/2025 and

F*E=_—_T Wy =

RIE - B RERHRE

FE_EMERZ-

FY2023/2024 TECNUEFAEERRSEE
FY2024/2025 FY2023/2024'
—E-m/ fime o=
“ESEBE T omEE
Number of anti-corruption RESREHEHESHE Number & - -
and anti-corruption reporting
incidents
Average hours of employees BIESREFREHR  Hours ANz 1 1
receiving anti-corruption 325 5 09 F 35 B 2
training
Number of employees receiving EZREFTREHIEI  People A 10 28
anti-corruption training WETAH
Average hours of directors ESHRIRERBBIEIN Hours N 1 1
receiving anti-corruption MEE R
training
Number of directors receiving EZEZIREITREHR  People A 7 7
anti-corruption training BEINH A
Note: i
1 The data of anti-corruption in FY2023/2024 were extracted from the ! —ECZ /B BFENRESEERTEA
ESG report set out in the Group's annual report for FY2023/2024. BINALEE T -= /“T_NHEFER
EHMRE HERERRSE -
Table 9 - Suppliers of the Group in FY2024/2025 and ®R9-—--—Z - /- ZT_-_HEHERKR=
FY2023/2024 :E/_S_lyﬁﬁiau@ﬁﬁﬁ
FY2024/2025 FY2023/2024
—g-m/ 2=/
“ECREBE T oNEE
Number of Suppliers HEHHE BmyE 21 20
By region ZibE Hong Kong, China  HEI& 20 20
Mainland China Hh B K e 1 -
Note: Ear:

1. The data of suppliers in FY2023/2024 were extracted from the ESG

report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2023/2024.

1

:?:E/igiﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁfgﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
HINARE - -_= —Z_NMHFFER
EHORE HERERRE-
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APPENDIX Il — CONTENT INDEX OF ESG fiigk — - ESG¥HEHESIRNB RS
REPORTING GUIDE
Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
EERA it 1B GRI % & REEH
A. Environmental Areas
ABRRER
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1:#EN
General Disclosure Information on: GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 1.3 Climate Action
(@  the policies; and GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and requlations that have  GRI 305: Emissions 2016
a significant impact on the issuer GRI 306: Waste 2020
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
—HREE BUERAZERBHN mKkRies BEREE  GRI2: —HKIBE2021 1380&7H
BENMNELEN: GRI3: EAF /2021
@ HE:R GRI 305 : # 582016
b) BFHRTABEAYENEBEERRM GRI 306 : BEZ #2020
MER o
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. GRI'305: Emissions 2016 1.3 Climate Action,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 1
BRENERALL BRmERREBREREE- GRI 305 : B #2016 13RETE WE——
BRERR
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  GRI 305: Emissions 2016 1.3 Climate Action,
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per Appendix | - Key
unit of production volume, per facility). Performance Table 1
BRENERAL B (8E1) ReRREE (BE)RERBHERE (UHEE  GRI305: HR2016 13RETE WE——
B)R(nEh)BE (M BESEN BEREHE) - BsENRI
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where GRI306: Waste 2020 1.3 Climate Action,
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Appendix | - Key
facility). Performance Table 1
BRENERALS MELRERENAS (WA E)REE -FMELBEE  GRI306 : BEEY2020 13RETE ME——
EZNEs (D8R (WER)EE (MAGESER EEpes
BRRMHAE) -
KPI A14 Total non-hazardous ‘waste produced (in tonnes) and, where GRI 306: Waste 2020 1.3 Climate Action,
appropriate; intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Appendix | - Key
facility). Performance Table 1
BRENEITA4 frErmEEEnEE (U8 )R (NER)EE (ML GRI306 : BEE%2020 13R&78 Mis——
BEEEN BERMFE) ELe
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Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
EERR gl HAPEGRIZER RESEH
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve  GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 1.3 Climate Action

BRANERAT

KPI'A1.6

BRANERAT

them.
TLFTRT MBI E B R R AEEEL B SR 8 o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HAREREREEEEMM A A Kb Pl S 05
BRRAEINELEBAFRNTR -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 : EREH
General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A2.1

BREMIERALY

KPI A2.2

BRBAMIEITAL2

KPI A2.3

BREAMIEIRAL3

KPI A2.4

BRENETA24

KPI A2.5

BREWIREAS

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BREAER (BHEER KREMENH)OHE-

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

RERUSNERR/RREER (NE Rk BRE
(UTETREFE)REE (WAEEEEN BAERE
itH)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BRKERERE (MABEREN 8BEREHE)
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
HWPTET R RE RS
HNFRe

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

Ha SR BRE KR £ ] AR A7 P8 - A BB T S 0 PR K 3
HARRAENELARMRRN SR

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
HkmAAaEnEngs (BT8R (NER) 84
EEAGE-

BERAEDELE BHMRR

GRI 305: Emissions 2016
GRI 3 : EXE /2021

GRI 305 : #ERR2016

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 306: Waste 2020

GRI3: EAEE2021
GRI 306 : EEE412020

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 2 : —#& 52021

GRI3: ERERE2021

GRI'302: Energy 2016

GRI 302 : &1F2016

GRI 303: Water and Effluents 2018

GRI 303 : K& AT K2018

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI'302: Energy 2016

GRI3: EAF 2021

GRI 302 : 82)72016

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 303: Water and Effluents 2018

GRI3 1 EAEE2021
GRI 303 : AKHEATFK2018
GRI'301: Materials 2016

GRI 301 : %2016

130{E7E

1.3 Climate Action

/.

13R{ETE

1.2 Use of Energy

1288k A

1.2 Use of Energy,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 2
R R s ——
Eﬁﬁk%xﬁ(ﬁz

1.2 Use of Energy,

Appendix | - Key

Performance Table 2
Hra/ @ﬁﬁ Wﬁ**

FﬁfU ME2
1.2 Use of Energy

1288k A

1.2 Use of Energy

1. 28R R
1.2 Use of Energy

1288 R A
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IRIE - £ RERWRE
Indicators Description
EERA fiiit

Relevant GRI Standards
HEREGRIZES

Relevant Section

REEEH

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EEA3 RERRRER

General Disclosure

—RKE

KPI A3.1

BREMETA3L

Policies on minimising the issuers significant impacts on the

environment and natural resources.

HRRBEYHRARRRERNEATERCRAERE

ARTENTY-

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to

manage them.

HRCERARGHRTAELYENEARRERZE

&Eﬂﬁ@

Aspect Ad: Climate Change

EBEA RES
General Disclosure
—RER

KPI Ad.1

BRENERAMI

B. Social Areas
BHEHE

Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1: ER

General Disclosure

~REE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may

impact, the issuer.
BRI ESEER A
BEEMEE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the

actions taken to manage them.
BREERTHEHETAREYENERRRRESE
REHTE-

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion,-working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

AHEMRRE FEREE THREX RY TERE

Sl RIE@AR G BREF L :

@ HER R

b) BTHBRSABEAYEMBBEZZRAN
BB R
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CEHETAEAYENEAREKR

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI2 : — 18 H2021

GRI3: EAE2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 303: Water and Effluents 2018
GRI 305: Emissions 2016

GRI 306: Waste 2020

GRI3: EAE2021

GRI 303 : KELRRE7k2018

GRI 305 : #£ 512016

GRI 306 : FEE112020

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI2 : — % 1E§2021
GRI3: EAEE2021
GRI 201:
2016

GRI 201 : &Z 45792016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 406: Non-discrimination 2016

GRI2 : —f518§E2021
GRI3 : EARFE2021
GRI 406 : 182016

Economic Performance

1.1 Environmental
Management, 1.2 Use
of Energy
BEE 128008

ﬁ%
1.1 Environmental
Management, 1.2 Use
of Energy, 1.3 Climate
Action

TIRBEE 12608
ﬁ%\ 3RETY

1.3 Climate Action

13R&ETE

1.3 Climate Action

13R&ETE

3.1 Employees' Rights,
3.2 Employee Training

3B IHER
328183
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RIS

HERE

= AHRE

Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
EERR gl HAPEGRIZER RESEH
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-  GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 3.1 Employees' Rights,

or part-time), age group and geographical region.

BERERIETRBI RN EREY FRANRBEAINES B

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

RS MIR1RB1.2 R FRARN MRS MEERALE-

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EHB2 REHZ2

General Disclosure Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

—REE BRRHZ2IRERREEEREBENLEN:
@ BER
b) EBFHETABEATZENBBZEZRAN
HER

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

R NIERB2.1 TR MOABRILE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

BREMIREB22 TIEEXTIEBE-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BREAIERBL3 HEFRANBERREZ2HEE URABRTRER

Fike

GRI 405: Diversity and Equal

Opportunity 2016
GRI2 : — 21852021

GRI 405 : E T % it B SH

£2016
GRI'401: Employment 2016

GRI 401 : &5 E @ %2016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI'403: Occupational Safety and

Health 2018

GRI2 1 — ;18522021
GRI 3 : EARFE2021

GRI403 : B ¥ Z2FH2018

GRI 403: Occupational Safety and

Health 2018

GRI403 : B EZ2F%2018

GRI 403: Occupational Safety and

Health 2018

GRI403 : Bi¥Z2F%2018

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 403: Occupational Safety and

Health 2018
GRI3: EAERE2021
GRI403 - BEZ 242018

Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 3
3IB TR fisk——
BRENR3

Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 4

ik —— RIS R4

3.3 Employees' Safety

33BT1%%

3.3 Employees' Safety,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 6
338122 Mgk——
BRENR6

3.3 Employees' Safety,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 6
338I%% Mgk——
BRENR6

3.3 Employees' Safety,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 6
338I%% Mgk——
B ENRe
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IRIE - £ RERWRE
Indicators Description
EERA fiiit

Relevant Section

REEEH

Relevant GRI Standards
HEREGRIZES

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EmB3 : BERE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI B3.1

MR IR 1283 1

KPI B3.2

R E IR 128322

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

AERMTEERTITERANMBRRENRR
A&

o fH il IR

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RUERIRERER (WRRERE TREEE)EINT
IEEBAL

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

RURNREEEHED BLERTHZIINTFIRR-

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

BEB4: S TEH

General Disclosure

~REE

KPI B4.1

BREMERRA

KPI B4.2

BAENIEIRRA2

Information on:

@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and requlations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BHMEEIHRHIAIMN:

@ BE R

b) EBTFHETABEATENBBZZLAN

MER

Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.

Rl REEINERARSET RRHST

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

RIERRERENE BRARBRARRN SR -
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GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 404: Training and Education
2016

GRI2 - —fR 182021

GRI 3 : EXF 2021

GRI 404 : SR EH 52016

Not directly covered under GRI Appendix | - Key
Standards Performance Table 5

GRIERIY BERRE 8% —— BRI RS

3.2 Employee Trainings

328 T8

GRI 404: Training and Education Appendix I - Key
2016 Performance Table 5
GRI 404 : FIREH 52016 sk —— B REBARS

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 407: Freedom of Association
and Collective Bargaining 2016

3.1 Employees' Rights

GRI 2 - —#R1BFE2021 1B TR
GRI3: EAERE2021

GRI 407 - &4t B EE R IHE
2016

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 408: Child Labour 2016

GRI 409: Forced or Compulsory
Labour 2016

GRI3 : EXE /2021

GRI 408 : £T2016

GRI 409 : 38 iA 53 11582016

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 408: Child Labour 2016

GRI 409: Forced or Compulsory
Labour 2016

GRI3: ERE®E2021 3B TR
GRI 408 : £T2016

GRI 409 : 3B 558 5|25 812016

3.1 Employees' Rights

RN £

3.1 Employees' Rights
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Rk - HEREBHRE

Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
EERR gl 18 7E GRI % 8 RESEH
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
EEBS : {tERER
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
supply chain. GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Management
—REE ERHEENRERESRARIR GRI 2 : —#&#HE52021 4AHERER
GRI3 : EXE /2021
KPI BS.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
Management, Appendix
| - Key Performance
Table 9
BRRBAIEIRRS. BHREADNHERHA - GRI 2 : — R 1BFE2021 AERER Hiix
——BRENKI
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number ~ GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and  GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Management
how they are implemented and monitored. GRI 308: Supplier Environmental
Assessment 2016
GRI 414 Supplier Social Assessment
2016
FRS I IR1RB5.2 WRBERMARENE) MARTABENNMRES  GRI2:—KREBE2021 AVHERER
B ARRERTRER A GRI 3 - EAE #2021
GRI 308 : R ERR R 142016
GRI 414 : L FER 1 & 71152016
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Management
implemented and monitored. GRI 308: Supplier Environmental
Assessment 2016
GRI 414 Supplier Social Assessment
2016
BRS R IR1RB5.3 HRERARNEEEGEHRSNRERMEAROEN .  GRI2:—#RIBFE2021 AVHERER
AREBHTRER T E- GRI 3 - EAE 2021
GRI 308 : R BRI 142016
GRI 414 : L FER 1 & FF(52016
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally ~ GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 4.1 Supplier
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and Management
how they are implemented and monitored.
BRENERRS4 HREREHEARRESRRRERRREOEN A GRI3: ERTE2021 AREREE

RABRTRER N
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IRIE - £ RERWRE
Indicators Description
EERA fiiit

Relevant GRI Standards
HEREGRIZES

Relevant Section

REEEH

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

EEB6 - EmEfE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI B6.1

BB AR 1EB6.1

KPI B6.2

B E IR 12862

KPI B6.3

B E IR 12863
KPI B6.4

IRt R 1386.4
KPI B6.5

BRBAUEER6S

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods

of redress.

BUMREERNRENRRELZ S BE RERLES

BARAERTER

@ EE R

b) BFERTABEAFENEBEERRM

HER o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

for safety and health reasons.

EESEEREREEPAR 2 EREEAMAL KN A

nite

Number of products and service related complaints received and

how they are dealt with.

RERRERRREORFUEARES -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
W REERRENREEGWNED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

Wl E ST B2 R EmE R -
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

RUREEEHRE RLRBIGR  ARBBHTRER &
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GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 416: Customer Health and

Safety 2016

GRI 417: Marketing and Labeling

2016

GRI 418: Customer Privacy 2016

GRI2 : — #5318 §E2021
GRI3 : EARFE2021

GRI416 : BEREREZ 22016
GRI 417 : {735 E2IZR2016

GRI418 : EFE#.2016

Not directly covered under GRI

Standards
GRIZAIVEEREE

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 418: Customer Privacy 2016

GRI2 1 — ;18 %2021
GRI 3 EAFE2021
GRI418 : EFE#.2016

Not directly covered under GRI

Standards
GRIZAIVEEREE

Not directly covered under GRI

Standards
GRIEAIVEERNE

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI3: EAEE2021

2.1 Responsible
Investment,

2.3 Compliance
Operation,

2.4 Intellectual Property
Rights

21BEARE
23RHER
QAMHERE

2.3 Compliance
Operation
236HEBE

2.3 Compliance
Operation

23RHREE

2.4 Intellectual Property
Rights

LARBERE

2.3 Compliance
Operation

2361MEE

2.2 Information Security

2258%%

cm
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Description
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Rk - HEREBHRE

Relevant GRI Standards
R GRIZE A

Relevant Section

REEH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI B7.1

BRREAIEIRBT.

KPI B7.2

PR E IR 1287 2

KPI B7.3

g E IR 1287 3

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B LR 9% REREREN:

@ HER

b) BIUBRTARGEATYENEBEERA

MER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERAAHETAREESREVEEENETHAR

o8 A RFDER-

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HAhSEERERES ARRBRTRER A

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.

HRMEFRETRENRESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EHBS HERE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B8.1

BREMEERS.

KPI B8.2

BREAIEER82

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities” interests.
BREUME2ARBEREBRTHET ENRRAEEE
HEeERHENGENIE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEREE (¥R BREEE SIER R X

BE)-

Resources contributed (e.g. Money or time) to the focus area.

EEIREMPRER (MEEIHH)

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016
GRI 415: Public Policy 2016

GRI2 : —# 1852021

GRI3: EAEE2021
GRI205 : RE 52016
GRI415 : £ F5R2016
GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016

GRI205: R&[E2016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016

GRI2 : — 18 F2021
GRI3: EAEE2021
GRI205 : RE 2016
GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016

GRI 205 : R & 2016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 2 : — #5168 522021
GRI3:BAEE2021

GRI 203: Indirect Economic Impacts

2016
GRI203 : fA& I EEE2016

GRI 201: Economic Performance

2016
GRI 201 : & EE 72016

2.3 Compliance
Operation

235 EL

2.3 Compliance
Operation

LIBHESE

2.3 Compliance
Operation, Appendix |
- Key Performance
Table 8

236HRES Mk ——
BRENRS

2.3 Compliance
Operation, Appendix | -
Key Performance Table 8

236 MEE ME——
BRBMRS

4.2 Social Investment

4A2HERE
4.2 Social Investment
42t 8RE
4.2 Social Investment

AMERE

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREFRDA / F972024/25

141



142

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B A% AR

i) =R L
J
ZHONGHUI
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WEALTHINK AI-INNOVATION
CAPITAL LIMITED
(formerly known as WEALTHKING INVESTMENTS LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (formerly known as
Wealthking Investments Limited) (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 147 to 255, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on._ Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those -standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
using level 3 fair value measurement

Refer to Notes 6 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investments at fair value through
profit or loss with the changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss. This fair value measurement is
significant to our audit because the balance of investments at fair
value through profit or loss using level 3 fair value measurement
of HK$5,952,052,000 as at 31 March 2025 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's fair
value measurement involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuers engaged by the Company;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgements and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's fair value measurement of the
investments at fair value through profit or loss using level 3 fair
value measurement is supported by the available evidence.

B 2 BENHE

AR E T E IR

AR BT FHIREEMNETEHE R

HARHRAMBHRERNE EJrE%E%E’J%IECJ
BUBRRERMEABRESHBTHRE
EOEBRREEN RATEHELER
RUEBHER -

EAE=RAFEFENEATE
FFABEBERZRE

B2 e MR M 6 23 -

E;‘%§+§}§’A¥1EE+)\T§¥EE2&L'7§
MATEEBAGABRERR - RATE

AEHRMWETM a%%ﬁ ARR_-F

—ThHF=RA=1+—HERBE=ZH LA FAE
EMNZAFTEFTABRREZEEELEREE
5,952,052,000 ¥4 G B mEME B E
Reltsh BEEEMNAFEFEPRER

H & RERRE M-

BfIMESARFEE (BT EE)

-  ih ERRMZEBINEEERMS T
1ERE 1~ LM R iE

- BEIESEERS REIBEEM S
| A mRERARAZGERF
TAERTISBREAFEHEERYP R
A2 EXHE R R

- HERXEEE REMGEREGZEE
R M ABUR

- REGEREGZEMERE K
- FEEEMBHRRARAFEFEZE

B -

BiRA REEERE=RAFEISN
BZ’&EFTEDJFJ\?E SRR E 2 AT EFEE
Tﬁ"f néi*ﬂ‘
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ 2 BT R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Debt investments

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of debt investments for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of debt investments of HK$2,934,722,000
as at 31 March 2025 is material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on assumptions and

estimates.
Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

- Assessing the financial information of the debt investments;

- Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the Group’s

impairment assessment;
- Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors;

- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit

risk in the consolidated financial statements;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of

the external valuer engaged by the Company;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with

the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in

the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation

model to.supporting evidence; and

. Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for debt

investments is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ 2 BT R &

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mealEmRkE

fib 2 TH W 23 3%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 &2 — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

2025 2024
—E_REF T RS
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT I
Turnover = 7 598,364 522,006
Revenue W = 7 273,067 308,329
Other income and (losses)/gains, net  HE MUK A K& (EE) Iz F5E 9 (2,482) 77,664
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on KEE (BB W FE
— listed investments at fair value —BAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss EHRE 3,556 3,771
— unlisted investments at fair value — B AFEFABREZ
through profit or loss FELETRE (194,241) (42,572)
— investments in artworks — B REE (76) -
(190,761) (38,801)
Net realised gain/(loss) on disposal HUTEEEENHEREZ
of investments arising from BERWKE (EE)FE
— listed investments —FWERE 56,695 (14,247)
— unlisted investments —JEEFEMEE 203 (27,671)
56,898 (41,918)
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on financial & RAFETABZEZ
liabilities at fair value through ABRUBEE (BB
profit or loss W 2% F 58 (1,815) 692
Net realised loss on disposal of BRAFEGFABRREZ
financial liabilities at fair value EERMEBEBEFR
through profit or loss (64) -
Provision for expected credit losses EHEEEEREE (33,037) (3,956)
Operating and administrative expenses ‘&3 & 17 X (37,702) (61,939)
Operating profit EERR 64,104 240,071
Finance costs BE KA 10 (45,973) (86,366)
Share of profit/(losses) of associates  FE{GHtE N A MAEDE
and joint ventures a¥, (EE) 22 53,979 (99,097)
Profit before tax AT B 72,110 54,608
Income tax expense T8 ®i X2 11 (7,952) (955)
Profit for the year attributable to ZAAREEABERFEERR
owners of the Company 12 64,158 53,653
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBmkAEtEER@E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

2025 2024
SESRE T -MF
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
B BT T BT T
Other comprehensive (expense)/  Ht2mE (fIx%) k% :
income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit AJEEEFH HIEZ 8 2 HH -
or loss:
Exchange differences on translating ~ HBEGINEFRS 2 [ ¥ =458
foreign operations (25,279) (183,677)
Realisation of foreign currency FIRNENB QR ZINE
translation reserve from disposal bE
of subsidiaries (3,923) 31,939
Share of associate’s FE(R B & N A
- Exchange differences on translating —#E /8N 5¥75 2 IE 5 =50
foreign operations 22 28 (50)
Other comprehensive expense for ANEEHMEMEBIX
the year, net of income tax MNBRFT8 (29,174) (151,788)
Total comprehensive income/ ENREEAEEERFE
(expense) for the year 2HEkE (X)) #E
attributable to owners
of the Company 34,984 (98,135)
Earnings per share (HK cent) BREF (BWL) 15
— Basic and diluted —HARREE 0.61 0.51
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI AR

AS AT 31 MARCH 2025 R=ZZ-_AF=A=+—H

an

2025 2024
=i =Gm4E e TR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
F 5 BET T BT
ASSETS aE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Equipment B 16 2,389 4,585
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 7,442 8,654
Intangible assets EREE 18 - 71
Investments in artworks T M & 20 283,100 -
Investments in associates and REERAIREEDFE K
joint ventures 22 609,727 656,500
Investments at fair value through EBEATFTEFABRECKE
profit or loss 23 4,207,264 4,143,757
Debt investments BEHERE 24 189,309 72,097
5,299,231 4,885,664
Current assets REEE
Digital assets HTEE 21 136 -
Investments at fair value through EATFEFABRECRE
profit or loss 23 1,855,698 2,091,663
Debt investments BEHERE 24 2,745,413 3,677,392
Accounts receivables & UL BR X 25 104,439 89,610
Interest receivables JE WL F B 255,493 255,591
Prepayments, deposits and TR RIA - RS R HE M E K
other receivables FIE 7,057 32,527
Bank and cash balances RTRBESEF 26 58,472 45,006
5,026,708 6,191,789
Non-current assets held for sale BIEREZIERBERE 27 342,448 344,944
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 10,668,387 11,422,397
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERZRAE
Equity =
Share capital % < 33 1,052,032 1,052,032
Reserves &% 35 8,895,572 8,860,588
Total equity ERER 9,947,604 9,912,620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R a AR AR

AS AT 31 MARCH 2025 R=ZE-RAF=-A=+—H

2025 2024
—E_REF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

P = BRI T AETT

Liabilities 8B
Current liabilities RBasE
Accounts payables FETER 3K 28 50 50
Other payables H b JE T BB 29 38,782 60,805
Financial liabilities at fair value through &2 2 F{Est A1BEE 2
profit or loss MBaE 30 3,366 1,400
Borrowings BN 31 643,258 1,417,414
Lease liabilities HEARE 32 5,726 5,861
Current tax liabilities BIEAfi A B & 26,726 18,774
717,908 1,504,304
Net current assets REBEETFE 4,651,248 5,032,429
Non-current liabilities kFRBEME
Financial liabilities at fair value through %A F{EF ABEZ
profit or loss BHamE 30 477 1,542
Lease liabilities HEEaE 32 2,398 3,931
2,875 5,473
Total liabilities Hwae s 720,783 1,509,777
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HERREE 10,668,387 11,422,397
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,947,604 9,912,620
Net asset value per share BREERE 36 HK$0.95 HK$0.94

& ¥£0.957T B #50.947T

The consolidated financial statements on pages 147 to 255 were S 147E255B 2 AU BHRENR T -0
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on F/NAZ++HEEE S I E K IFETIE-

27 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by: THTIIEERREE:
WANG Qin WANG Shibin
E R S
Director Director
EF EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREmEER

AE=ZRA=+—HIEFE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 # %

_ B 1
|-

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREAHEEAES
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Share Surplus Exchange retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve profits equity
(REHER)
AEN ROEE BHREE EXfE REEA mED
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BB BETT BET T BEFT BEFT
At 1 April 2023 “=#pmA—H 1,052,032 9,111,087 465 (59,096) (93,733) 10,010,755
Total comprehensive (expense) AFE 2@ (HX) /
income for the year ekl - - - (151,788) 53,653 (98,135)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZWF=A
=+—H 1,052,032 9,111,087 465 (210,884) (40,080) 9,912,620
At 1 April 2024 R-E-NFMA—-H 1,052,032 9,111,087 465 (210,884) (40,080) 9,912,620
Total comprehensive (expense)) AFE 2@ (%) /
income for the year Wiz B - - - (29,174) 64,158 34,984
At 31 March 2025 R-B-HE=ZA
=t+-H 1,052,032 9,111,087 465 (240,058) 24,078 9,947,604
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-.r\/\IEﬁlﬂbE'lj—%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

2025 2024
SESRE T -MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cash flows from operating activities EEBCHERE
Profit before tax %R Al & A 72,110 54,608
Adjustments for: BLUATIEB 1B
Dividend income iz B A (8,284) =
Interest revenue A B s (264,783) (308,329)
Finance costs & AR 45,973 86,366
Net foreign exchange losses M 5 B8 5 4,609 146
Depreciation e 8,717 9,281
Loss on disposal of equipment HERBZER 25 -
Gain on lease termination IR E 2 s (268)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries BB QA 2 W F 5 (1,208) (84,308)
Net gain on disposal of a joint venture PE—HEELEZ
Wz F 58 (2,566) =
Net realised (gain)/loss on disposal of u“j%TxéfZEmfﬁ
investments (Wzs) EIRFE (56,898) 41,918
Net unrealised loss on investments BAVEFABRERZ
at fair value through profit or loss RERWE BT 190,685 38,801
Fair value losses on investments H2ifmRE 2 A TE
in artworks, net B85 76 -
Net realised loss on disposal of financial BERAVEFABREREZ
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss PRV BARERFE 64 -
Net unrealised loss/(gain) on financial BATEFABREZ
liabilities at fair value through RKEBMBEEBE
profit or loss (Wa) #88 1,815 (692)
Provision for expected credit losses TEHEEBERE 33,037 3,956
Share of (profit)/losses of associates and JEMREE RN AR ELEZ
joint ventures (&F) /EiE (53,979) 99,097
Impairment loss of goodwill arising from R—EBE AR ZIRE
investment in an associate EEXCEBRERRE 6,978 6,214
Impairment loss of intangible assets EBILEE 2 RERERE - 711
Operating loss before changes in HEECEDALEER
working capital (23,897) (52,231)
Change in accounts receivables J7E UK BR FR 1,145 2,048
Change in prepayments, deposits and TERTRIA - ke R HEME K
other receivables PIE 8 456 439
Change in-other payables Hih e IS 746 2,738
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMARSTE (21,550) (47,006)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘/-.ﬁ IE%/)ILE%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

2025 2024
—B-RFE T -MF
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHZRERE
Purchase of investments at fair value through ~ BB ER QA F(EF ABZHE 2
profit or loss ®& (329,531) (659,780)
Purchase of digital assets BEHTEE (137) -
Subscription of debt investments RBEBIKE (609,609) (1,412,364)
Purchase of investments in artworks BERMREKE (283,172)
Purchase of equipment EE & (129) (2,476)
Net proceeds on disposal of listed securities HEEMESFMERIAFE 240,416 54,817
Proceeds on settlement of debt investments EEEIRESRIE 1,317,255 1,044,761
Disposal and distribution from unlisted HERSEIE ETRERE
equity investments - 90,572
Interest received 2 A 245,304 160,959
Dividends received B A% 8 74,291 46,918
Distribution and redemption of NERERFLITREES
unlisted investment funds 98,801 2,126
Acquisition of an associate Ug b — FE Bt 22 A ) - (900)
Net proceeds received from disposal of LEME QRS WS RIE
subsidiaries F R 39,824 16,248
Net proceeds received from disposal of HE—HEeE2EEWME
a joint venture KIBFHE 5,767 -
Payment to investment partners AR E ZHA R (1,071) (219)
Repayment from an associate —EBE AR ER - 415
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETBME (FA)
investing activities ReFH 798,009 (658,923)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHZRERE
Repayment of borrowings EBEER (1,097,733)  (1,066,843)
Drawdown of borrowings REUER 403,213 1,781,492
Payment for principal portion of lease liabilities EEHEBBEASIH (6,654) (8,309)
Lease interests paid BENEERNE (651) (965)
Loan interests paid ERERFE (61,168) (62,800)
Net cash (used in)/generated from METEH (FTA) B
financing activities BEeFHE (762,993) 642,575
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERETRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

2025 2024
—E_REF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERZERABLEEE M
cash equivalents (BD)FE%E 13,466 (63,354)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FMHReREFRIBESIEER
of the year 45,006 108,360
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FREEGREFHREER
of the year 58,472 45,006
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERERABRESEE M
Bank and cash balances RTEBReER 58,472 45,006
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 &2 — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place
of business is Room 3910-13, 39/F COSCO Tower, Grand
Millennium Plaza, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company is set
out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) has adopted all
the new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 April
2024. HKFRS Accounting Standards comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS"); Hong Kong
Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption
of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards did
not result in significant changes to the Group's accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
investments and derivative which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It also
requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed; or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its“power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

ERBEREF/RA T / 4 $2024/25

3.

BERGETHR

WEFAVBRRDIZBE R G
Q%%%WZ%%%%%%&MQ*
HH BAEBRM G RARBR
PrExEMARA(TETRA) REE
(RBMER) BERBETERTE MR

I F 4R A B I MR T KR B L A
e ETRATVEIRZKRE RIT
ETREHRERT-

MAENTEB AW B RE LR SR
MEAVBRRFTEEAETEAR
REEHE - ERAEHBERE EFN
FEFLHE P REBBARHE N R RE
REEHEEFAVBERRBEALZ
HIEN GV BRI TI4TRE-

R EFEAVBERREERZE
REFTHRHIIMT -

mERE

HAMBBRREEARARENEA
T@ifﬂf+—5¢mﬁﬁﬁﬁow

RAEEAEEREBEGIENEE -
$%lﬁ%ﬁ§ S FT 15 A & [ oK E
R ZE#MN Y EBENZER
ZRNZEZZERR AXREEHZE
BEZHE BEAKEHERBENE
HEREZHERLID (HERER
BEARENRY)K AKEHZE
BHAEN-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or-less on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between . (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets of
that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When
assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Relevant activities are activities that

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group’s share of a joint venture's post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss,
and its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves
is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in
the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BEARNEEBK (#)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B W IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

n\/-_r\

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the

transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the exchange

reserve: When a foreign operation is sold,

such

exchange differences are recognised in consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #{Z2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Equipment

Equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of equipment is calculated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Motor vehicle 33',%
Computer equipment 25%
Office equipment 25%
Furniture 25%
Leasehold improvements 33", %

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s
useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The
principal annual rate of buildings is 30% to 33"/,%.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months
or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below United
States dollars(“US$") 5,000.

Intangible assets

Cryptocurrencies with indefinite useful life are stated at cost
less any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually
or when there is any indication that cryptocurrencies have
suffered an impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Digital assets

Since the Group actively trades crypto-currencies,
purchasing them with a view to their resale in the near
future, and generating a profit from fluctuations in the
price, the Group applies the guidance in HKAS 2 for
commodity broker-traders and measures the digital assets
at fair value less costs to sell. The Group considers there
are no significant
measurement of digital assets is based on their fair values

“costs to sell” digital assets and hence

with changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss in
the period of the changes.

The Group has assessed the terms and conditions attached
to stablecoins to determine whether they meet the
definition of financial instruments. Certain stablecoins that
are classified as financial instruments are measured at fair
values with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss
in the period of the changes.

Investments in artworks
Artworks, including porcelain and collectible Chinese
arts, which are held for long-term investment purposes
and are not traded in the ordinary course of business, are
initially measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investments in artworks are stated at fair value with any

gains and losses arising from the changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and
- Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including accounts and other
receivables and debt investments) are classified under
this category if they satisfy both of the following
conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portionof lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on
that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the.reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value
with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(i)  Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When a
loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated-future cash flow discounted at
the original effective interest of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loan and receivables are
recognised using the original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme available to all employees, generally
funded through payments to trustee-administered
funds. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

basic salaries. The retirement benefit

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(d) Bonus

The expected costs of bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligations can be made.

Liabilities for bonus are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing: costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation' rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that'are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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B W IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

n\/-_r\

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is'a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company:.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except investments and receivables to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal group are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale
is highly probable and the assets or disposal group are
available for immediate sale in their present condition.
The Group must be committed to the sale, which should
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets or disposal group classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ or disposal
group's previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is.not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgement that has the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Assessment of the Company’s status as an investment
entity under HKFRS 10

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
significant judgment has been applied by the management
in the determination of the Company’s status as an
investment entity under Amendments to HKFRS 10
“Consolidated Financial Statements”. Management have
assessed the definition of an investment entity under HKFRS
10 and given that the performance of the investments
in associates are not measured on a fair value basis,
management have concluded that the Company does not
fall within the definition of an investment entity under
HKFRS 10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Fair value of investments at fair value through
profit or loss not quoted in an active market
and underlying investments of investment in an

associate

In the absence of quoted market prices in an active
market, the directors estimate the fair value of the
Group’s investments at fair value through profit or
loss and underlying investments of investment in
an associate, details of which are set out in notes
23 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively, by considering information from a variety
of sources, including the latest published financial
information, the historical data on market volatility as
well as the price and industry and sector performance
of the Group's investments at fair value through profit
or loss and underlying investments of investment in an

associate.

(b) Expected credit losses (“ECL") of debt investments

and bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for debt
investments and bad and doubtful debts based on
assessments of the recoverability of debt investments
and receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor.
Impairments arise .where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of debt investments and
bad-and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of debt investments and receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such

estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c) Estimation of fair value of investments in
artworks

Investments in artworks are revalued at the end of
the reporting period by independent professional
qualified valuers. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty
and might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the estimation, market information of
investments in artworks of the comparable model is
considered. Further details are given in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as certain investments at fair value through
profit or loss, other receivables, bank balances, other
payables and borrowings are denominated in Renminbi
("RMB"). The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 31 March 2025, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened 0.5% against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, profit after tax for the year would
have been HK$10,549,000 (2024: HK$14,187,000)
higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of certain
investments at fair value through profit or loss,
other receivables, bank balances, other payables and
borrowings denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Price risk

(c)

The Group’s investments at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to
equity security price risk. The Directors manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with difference risk profiles.

As at 31 March 2025, if the fair value of the
investments increase/decrease by 10%, profit before
tax would have been HK$640,541,000 (2024:
HK$658,036,000) higher/lower, arising as a result of
the fair value gain/loss of the investments.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties fail to
perform their obligations in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
these assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
most of the counterparties are banks with investment-
grade credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group exposed to the credit risk if the
counterparty to a financial instrument would fail
to perform its obligation. The Group considers its
exposure to credit risk increased because of the
higher investment amount in debt securities. The
directors have overall responsibility for overseeing
the credit quality of the debt portfolio. The
management delegated investment teams responsible
for: monitoring '‘processes to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken to recover doubtful debts. Financial
positions of the underlying companies are closely
monitored by regularly reviewing their financial and
operation results and assessing their abilities to fulfill
the repayment obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #{Z2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

FERREIR 2
(c) EER (&)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(c) Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each dividend, interest and
other receivables at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

The Group uses three categories for debt investments,
accounts and other receivables which reflect their
credit risk and how the provision for ECL is determined
for each of those categories. The credit loss allowance
includes ECL for financial instruments that may default
in the next 12-month period for financial instruments
that have not observed a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition (“Stage 1) or over a
lifetime period for financial instruments that have
observed a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition (“Stage 2"). The allowance also
includes lifetime ECL for financial instruments where
there is objective evidence of credit-impairment at the
end of the reporting period (“Stage 3").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I Zrﬁ&#&’%% M—J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

s EREIRE #)

() FERER (&)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments, BEREE BREEMERZE
accounts and other receivables, and thus the HAENRELAEEERRD
maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: RSN :
2025 2024
“EB-RE —T-MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Debt investments BHERE
Stage 1 — Unimpaired and without E-—BBR-ABREAEERR
significant increase in credit risk 7 f 78 E L0 2,947,637 3,743,325
Stage 2 - Significant increase FE_BE-—EERRBEZIEIN
in credit risk 57,053 52,636
Stage 3 — Credit impaired E-RE-LREERE 6,203 =
Total gross debt investments BRREHARE 3,010,893 3,795,961
Less: provision for ECL B TEHEEEERE (76,171) (46,472)
Debt investments, BEBRE (HNKREHREE
net of provision for ECL EREEE) 2,934,722 3,749,489

Stage 1:

They are debt investments,

interest

bearing at 5.00% to 10.00% per annum

("p.a.”

) and with 9 months to 2-year term.

They were secured by financial support
commitments provided by the business
partner of the debt investees. The Group
did not observe a significant increase

in credit risk since initial recognition
and provided 12-month ECL with the
assistance of an independent valuer on the
Group’s ECL assessments at the end of the

reporting.period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-.r\ (=)= jﬁ%#’&% Bﬁ--LE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #{Z2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments,

accounts and other receivables,

and thus the

maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

Stage 2:

Stage 3:

It is debt investment, interest bearing at
9.00% p.a. and with 1-year term. The
Group observed a significant increase in
credit risk due to the financial difficulties
encountered by the debt investees during
the year and assessed the lifetime ECL
of these debt investments based on
the difference between (i) estimated
recoverable amounts from the debt
investees and (ii) gross carrying amount of
the debt investments.

They are debt investments, interest bearing
at 7.00% p.a. and with 1-year term.
Objective evidence including inadequate
repayment ability of debt investees and
borrower, uncertainty related to going
concern with the debt investee and
subsequent request of debt restructuring
from debt investee revealed credit
impairment of these debt investments
at the end of the reporting period. The
Group assessed the lifetime ECLs of these
debt investments based on the difference
between (i) estimated recoverable amounts
from the debt investees/borrower and/
or the guarantors and (ii) gross carrying
amount of the debt investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jiﬁ¥&%‘:€|§ﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iIZ — T _RAF=A=+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.
(c) Credit risk (Continued)
The gross carrying amount of debt investments,

and thus the
maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

accounts and other receivables,

BEHRE

MHRRERE®
() FERR (&)
1 L R A B K 2 B

TED 48 B A e AL obt 7 4 5 18 L B
BRALEWT: (&)

2025 2024
—E-RE T _UF
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Accounts and other receivables FE U R H fih BR =X
Stage 1 — Unimpaired and without E-BE-RFBELBEERR
significant increase in credit risk AP 4 A 2 AN 368,433 376,858
Stage 2 - Significant increase FE_BE-—EERRBEZIEIN
in credit risk 4,600 4,257
Stage 3 — Credit impaired E-RE-LREERE 382 =
Total gross accounts and W Rt iR AR RE
other receivables 373,415 381,115
Less: provision for ECL B TR EEEEEE (7,558) (4,529)
Accounts and other receivables, Bk EARR (FRTEHR
net of provision for ECL FEBEERESE) 365,857 376,586
Stage 1: They are interest receivables from —BE: ZERBREBR

debt investments,

accounts and other

receivables. The Group did not observe
a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and provided 12-month
ECL with the assistance of an independent
valuer on the Group’s ECL assessments at
the end of the reporting period.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREBR DA / F302024/25

B EW R HE MR
KR FE UL R B o AR
SEENSHERN
Xlﬂﬁé‘ﬁﬁg
B &9 K & 3 hn -
MR & KR %‘EH)J
B ER YA
EEBEEEET
i B9 1% BY &1 321218
AEHEEEBEERR
1o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #{Z2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments,
accounts and other receivables, and thus the

maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

Stage 2:

Stage 3:

They are interest receivables from debt
investments. The Group observed a
significant increase in credit risk due to
the financial difficulties encountered by
the debt investees during the year and
assessed the lifetime ECL of these interest
receivables from debt investments based
on the difference between (i) estimated
recoverable amounts from the debt
investees and (ii) gross carrying amount of
the debt investments.

They are interest receivables from debt
investments. Objective evidence including
inadequate repayment ability of debt
investees and borrower, uncertainty
related to going concern with the debt
investee and subsequent request of
debt restructuring from debt investee
revealed credit impairment of these debt
investments at the end of the reporting
period. The Group assessed the lifetime
ECLs of these debt investments based
on the difference between (i) estimated
recoverable amounts from the debt
investees and/or the guarantors and
(ii) gross carrying amount of the debt
investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FlNANClAL STATEMENTS
an\ /ZtﬁﬁeF&’%:ZMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continvead) 5. BFISE PR E I (2)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EER (&)
The gross carrying amount of debt investments, BEREE BREEMERZE

T 48 {8 A K2 [ ot A4 S 1R L B A9
BRALEWT: (&)

accounts and other receivables, and thus the
maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
F-KE FoEBR 0 E=ER
NRERAEY 2HES 20EH
FEFE fGEFR GEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT  BBFr  B%Tr  B%Tx
Debt investments BERE
Exposure at 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=NA—-HBzRR 3,366,809 45,528 - 3,412,337
Addition i 1,412,364 = - 1,412,364
Settlement HE (1,044,761) = - (1,044,761)
Transfer EL b 52,306 7,282 = 59,588
Exchange difference BN ES (43,393) (174) = (43,567)
Exposure at 31 March 2024 R-FE-ME=A=+-HK
and 1 April 2024 “EZ-MEMA-HZAER 3,743,325 52,636 - 3,795,961
Addition Hig 609,609 - - 609,609
Settlement e (1,317,255) - - (1,317,255)
Transfer b (81,548) 4,747 6,203 (70,598)
Exchange difference B =% (6,494) (330) = (6,824)
Exposure at 31 March 2025 RZ-E-EF=A=+-HZEAK 2,947,637 57,053 6,203 3,010,893
Accounts and other W R E AR
receivables
Exposure at 1 April 2023 R_E-_ZFMA—BZRK 291,929 6,915 = 298,844
Addition i 455,010 4,625 = 459,635
Settlement HE (265,881) = - (265,881)
Transfer EE b (52,306) (7,282) = (59,588)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB AT (47,666) = = (47,666)
Exchange difference =% (4,228) (1) = (4,229)
Exposure'at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NE=A=+-HEK
and 1 April 2024 “Z-_MEMA-HZAR 376,858 4,257 - 381,115
Addition g 337,030 5,092 160 342,282
Settlement #E (332,158) - - (332,158)
Transfer EE b2 (11,213) (4,747) 222 (15,738)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB A (1,362) = = (1,362)
Exchange difference ERZH (722) () = (724)
Exposure at 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_Z&F=A=+-HzEAK 368433 4,600 382 373,415
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The following table reconciles the movement in ECL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 &2 — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

5. AR ER #)
(c) EERR (&)

TRABEHEEBRRNUBEE

between the beginning and the end of the financial MEFRNEE 2 IR
year:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
E-FE E-RE EZK&
128 B & 5 2 HEH ZHEH
FEEE f[(FEFR GEER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BETr  B%Tr  B%Tx
Debt investments BEERE
ECL at 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FMA—AZ
BHEEBR 39,903 4,972 - 44,875
Addition i 1,529 = - 1,529
Settlement 7®8 (5,560) = - (5,560)
Remeasurement EFFE 6,061 28 - 6,089
Transfer 23 = 801 - 801
Exchange difference IE X =% (1,259) 3) - (1,262)
ECL at 31 March 2024 R-BE-mE=ZA=+-AK
and 1 April 2024 “E-MEMA-AZ
RHEEER 40,674 5,798 = 46,472
Addition g 10,119 - - 10,119
Settlement HE (3,453) - - (3,453)
Remeasurement BEHE 16,632 - 6,169 22,801
Transfer 3 (34) 522 34 522
Exchange difference IE 5 =R (279) (11) = (290)
ECL at 31 March 2025 R-BE-Z&=ZRA=+-Ax
BHEEER 63,659 6,309 6,203 76,171
Accounts and other R H AR R
receivables
ECL at 1 April 2023 RZE-=FMA—AZ
BHEEER 5,097 755 - 5,852
Addition i 50 - - 50
Settlement ey (1,731) - - (1,731)
Remeasurement ENEE 3,069 510 - 3,579
Transfer -3 - (801) - (801)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMEB AT (2,254) - - (2,254)
Exchange difference R =S (166) - - (166)
ECL at 31 March 2024 R-B-mEZA=+-BK
and 1 April 2024 “E-_MEMA-BZ
BHEEFE 4,065 464 - 4,529
Addition ik 352 - 160 512
Settlement Y (2,842) - - (2,842)
Remeasurement Bt 5,119 560 221 5,900
Transfer 3 (1) (522) 1 (522)
Exchange difference BN =% (20) 1 = (19)
ECL at 31 March 2025 R-B-RE&=ZR=+-Hz2
REEEER 6,673 503 382 7,558
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis,

based on undiscounted cash
flows, of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

FERREIR#®)
(d) "RBEL R

AEBZBRREHRERRER
BHZRBESRER
HFEARNEHEREERD

BETHE

2R

A B (R E

AEEFBAEBEZBHE N (F
RARBRASRE)WNT :

Less than Between Between

1 year or 1and 2 2and5
on demand years years Total

DPRA—F 16825 25 85T
WIRER o ZE it
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000
BT T BT T BT T BT T

At 31 March 2025 R-ZZBZ-HF
=A=+-—-H
Accounts payables FER R 50 - - 50
Other payables E A JE T 5RI8 38,782 - = 38,782
Borrowings R 695,494 = = 695,494
Lease liabilities HERE 5,962 2,262 174 8,398
740,288 2,262 174 742,724
At 31 March 2024 R-ZT-m4
=A=+—H

Accounts payables JERTAR R 50 - - 50
Other payables E h JE 1~ 5RI8 60,805 - - 60,805
Borrowings B 1,434,225 - 1,434,225
Lease liabilities HERE 6,358 3,879 180 10,417
1,501,438 3,879 180 1,505,497

(e) Interest rate risk

The ‘Group’s debt investments,

other receivables,

other payables and borrowings bear interests at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair value

interest rate risks.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(e) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(f)

NOTES TO T

HE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from

HEEREIRE#)

(e) FIEEBS (&)

its bank balances and borrowings. These balances

bear interests at variable rates varied with the then

prevailing market condition.

As at 31 March 2025,

if interest rates at that date
had been 25 basis points higher/lower with all other

REBZRIT?
MM EXEBREE-
5 T 353 15 0 1 R B 19 0% B M) R &5

EF GRS
ZER-RTFRE

B o
o

variables held constant, profit for the year would have

been HK$504,000 (2024: HK$637,000) lower/higher,
arising mainly as a result of higher/lower interest on

pA—.
FIRAZ BN, R 25 EHE R

ERFA
TLT(ZZFEZMF B

—hRF=ZA=+—8 4
MATEEMEREFTE KT
SR, 1 AN #504,000
637,000

borrowings. TL)  EERB\MERF LM
B FTEL
Categories of financial instruments at 31 (f) R=ERA=+—BZHKI
March 57
2025 2024
—E-RE _—_T_MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial assets: MKEE:
Investments at fair value through BAFEFABREZRE
profit or loss
— Designated as such upon initial —HRERRHIELB@ETE
recognition 6,062,962 6,235,420
Debt investments BHIEE 2,934,722 3,749,489
Financial assets at amortised cost R SERART | BR C BT IS B
(including cash and cash equivalents) (B3EFRERERIREEE) 424,329 421,592
Financial liabilities: MKkaE:
Financial liabilities at fair value through & QA F(EF ABFHEZ
profit or loss MBaRE
- Designated as such upon initial —HRERRHIELB@ETE
recognition 3,843 2,942
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LHESERR AP BR 2 I S B & 690,214 1,488,061
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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BEMFRZPHE-HEEMEERHK
BE-HABMAXN BB -ATHE
ZAVEFEERATERR FHEE
ﬁh%uﬁgﬂiﬁZE@&mZ%
ABIED B=M

— R AEE A E BB
BWABE: (SZHEREBEEXARE
HIER™ IS 2 RE R

mA) -

FEMR Br o — R A B 3 R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=)= jﬁ%#&%‘% M—J--LI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 &2 — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. N¥EFT= (®)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value (a) 2 EEBHAR=RA=1+—
hierarchy at 31 March H2EEHE
Fair value measurements using: Total
ERAUTRBZAFEE: @it
Description it Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2025
£-4 ok $=®R —B-IHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEHAFETE
Assets BE
Investments in artworks T mRE - - 283,100 283,100
Digital assets YTEE 136 - - 136
Investments at fair value through BRATEGFABERZEE
profit or loss
— Listed equity securities - LTREES 96,690 - - 96,690
- Unlisted equity investments - FETBRERE - - 2,741,768 2,741,768
— Unlisted investment funds and —FITREEERAR
limited partnership ARBLE - 14,220 1,623,284 1,637,504
— Unlisted economic interest — Lt - - 1,587,000 1,587,000
96,826 14,220 6,235,152 6,346,198
Liabilities 8
Financial liabilities at fair value BATEFABREERY
through profit or loss HEasE - - (3,843) (3,843)
Total recurring fair value REMAFEFELE
measurements 96,826 14,220 6,231,309 6,342,355
Non-recurring fair value HAEE MR B E -
measurements:
Non-current assets held for sale BEHEZHERBEE
Investments at fair value through BATEFABERZKE
profit or loss
- Unlisted equity investments —FLEmRERE - - 342,448 342,448
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. N¥{EFT=E (#)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value (a) 2FEERAR=A=1+—
hierarchy at 31 March (Continued) B2EEBHE &)
Fair value measurements using: Total
FRATRAZATEE: Bt
Description i Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
£ £ EF=H —T-pmF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEHAFETEZ -
Assets &E
Investments at fair value through BATEFABRR KA
profit or loss
- Listed equity securities - FhRER S 217,910 = = 217,910
- Unlisted equity investments —FEMRERE - - 2,630,081 2,630,081
~ Unlisted investment funds and - FEMREESRER
limited partnership AR E - 21,514 1,733,915 1,755,429
— Unlisted economic interest —ELmliEE - - 1,632,000 1,632,000
217,910 21,514 5,995,996 6,235,420
Liabilities 8
Financial liabilities at fair RATEGFABREZ
value through profit or loss BKasE - = (2,942) (2,942)
Total recurring fair value BEMATEFELR
measurements 217,910 21,514 5,993,054 6,232,478
Non-recurring fair value HBEHRFEE
measurements:
Non-current assets held for sale RFELEZERBEE
Investments at fair value through BRATEGFABERZRE
profit or loss
- Unlisted equity investments —JEEMRERE - = 344,944 344,944
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=)= Zrﬁ%#&%% Bﬁ--\-I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 &2 — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. NV EFE#
(b) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities (b) UE=ZFRAFEFEZE
measured at fair value based on level 3 EREEYHER

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

BRAVEFABERZRE
Unlisted Financial
investment liabilities at
Unlisted  funds and Unlisted Unlisted fair value
equity limited debt  economic Investments Total through
Description it investments partnership investments interest in artworks assets profit or loss
¥Em BAYE
¥tm  REEER ¥Em ¥Em TABRRR
RERE BRABLE EBRE W&k ENRRE BEE ZHBER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
B8R BRI B8R BETT B8TR BETT AT
At 1 April 2024 RZE-mEME-A 2,975,025 1,733,915 - 1,632,000 - 6,340,940 (2,942)
Total gains or losses recognised ~ ERZR AT FELE
—in profit or loss ¥ —FTABREAY (158,946) 8,365 - (45,000) (76)  (195,657) (1,879)
Addition HE 270,000 587 - - 283,172 553,759 -
Disposal and distribution HERAR - (98,801) - - - (98,801) 1,0M
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - (8,637) - - - (8,637) -
Exchange difference EREE (1,863) (12,145) - - 4 (14,004) (93)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-REE=A=1-A 3,084,216 1,623,284 - 1,587,000 283,00 6,577,600 (3,843)
® Include gains o losses WERRERAFRER
for assets and liabilities REEZHEDER
held at the end of the
reporting period (158,946) 8,171 - (45,000) (76)  (195,657) (1,879)
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FMmA-A 3,113,682 2,979,370 9,535 - - 6,102,587 (3,892)
Total gains or losses recognised B REZRATFELE
~ in profit or loss —HARERAY (20275) 22,554 (14 (72863) - (70,59) 692
Addition wE 1,874 439,002 - 1,704,863 - 2,195,739 -
Disposal and distribution HERA K (90,572) (2,126) - - - (92,698) 219
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR - (1,674,870) (9,521) - - (1,684,391) -
Transfer out a (7,745) - - - - (7,745) -
Exchange difference ERES (21,939) (80,015) - - - (101,954) 39
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME=A=+-H 2,975,025 1,733,915 - 1,632,000 - 6,340,940 (2,942)
# Include gains or losses WEERERAMFEER
for assets and labilities B haEE
held at the end of the
reporting period 7,39 22,554 - (72,863) - (42,913) 692
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4=

E B R R AR Y

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities

measured at fair value based on level 3

(Continued)

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss including those for assets and liabilities held
at the end of the reporting period are presented in
net unrealised gain/(loss) on unlisted investments
at fair value through profit or loss and investments
in artworks, and net unrealised (loss)/gain on
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
respectively in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income.

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements

at the end of the reporting period

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The chief financial
officer reports directly to the board of directors
(the "Board”) for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the chief financial officer and the Board at

least twice a year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 &2 — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. N¥EFT= (®)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by () ABREHREKEEHRAZ
the Group and valuation techniques and fHERFURDAFEFE
inputs used in fair value measurements RAZHERERB AR
at the end of the reporting period B2HE &)

(Continued)

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will ME=ZFAFEFE ~AEERA
normally engage external valuation experts with the BEEZREAEERAIEXEERRR
recognised professional qualifications and recent AR BOINBEEEREITHE
experience to perform the valuations, and refer to WREESERANRE -

prices quoted by fund administrators.

Level 2 fair value measurements FRAFETE
Fair value
ATE
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2025 2024
it HES % BWARE “E-RFE —ToNEF

HK$000  HK$'000
BETRT BB TR

Unlisted investment funds Share of net assets N/A 14,220 21,514
FLMIREES DB EFE i A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. N¥{EFT=E (#)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by () ABREHREKEEHRAZ

the Group and valuation techniques and

HERFUARQFEFTE

inputs used in fair value measurements RAZHELTERB A
at the end of the reporting period BoHE &)
(Continued)
Level 3 fair value measurements E=RAFETE
Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2025
BABEEM AF¥E
HER%E BEBECBAUE #E HAVFENRE S S
HK$'000
BT
Investments in artworks
giimRE
Precious and collectible Chinese arts
2 Em) ¥ B & i i
Market approach Transaction price per unit HK$3,100,000- Increase 283,100
HK$100,000,000- (note (ii))
Mm% BENRHER #3,100,0007T - #m ( B &£ (i) )
##100,000,0007T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
BRAFEFAERRZRE
Unlisted equity investments
FLTRERE
Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 733,952
(note (i)
BR5HE i F ~ER ~ER (HH=E (i)
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 442,765
AEEEFRE TEHR TEHR NER
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 7.00%-39.74% Decrease 1,673,409
(note (ii))
BRETHE A3 e (B &£ (i) )
Long-term growth rate 2.00%-3.00% Increase
REERE 10
Discount for lack of 15.60%-20.00% Decrease
marketability and control
W2 g R B R e
Market-approach Discount rate 12.84% Decrease 207,490
(note (iii))
Mm%k AR xR e (It & (iii) )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=)= jﬁ%#&%‘% M—J--LI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 &2 — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and

6.

NEEFT= (#2)

() RBEHMARAEERAZ
HERFUARQFEFTE

inputs used in fair value measurements RAZHERERB AR
at the end of the reporting period B2HE &)
(Continued)
Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued) E=WMAFETE (&)
Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2025
BAHEEM A¥E
HER%E BELBEZ G AHE #E HAVFENRE g
HK$'000
BETT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
BRAFEFABSRRZRE (&)
Unlisted non-voting preference shares
HLTEZXARESLR
Market comparable companies  Price-to-book ratio 1.92 Increase 26,600
(note (ii))
MBI ELRRA [ifl 0 GEADN
Discount rate for lack 20.50% Decrease
of marketabilities
R EEE ZBRE o
Unlisted investment funds and limited partnership
HLTREZEZREREFELE
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 1,623,284
NMEEEFAE TER TER TiER
Unlisted economic interest
FEihamE
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 1.71% Decrease 1,587,000
(note (ii))
BRRERE HBRRERE B (Bt (i) )
Long-term growth rate 2.02% Increase
REERE £
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
BRAVEFAEGZRZHBEE
Share of investment results N/A N/A N/A (3,843)
DEREER ~EA ~EA TER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jiﬁ¥&%‘:€|§ﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
at the end of the reporting period
(Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

6. NFEF=E (&)

() RBEEHMARAEERAZ
HERFUARQFEFTE
RAZEERERBAR
B2RE (@)

E=WMAFETE(F)

Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2024
B ABUIRIE N AYE
fHER % EEBR 2 BABE #E HATENFE —TomF
HK$'000
BETT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
BAVESABERZRE
Unlisted equity investments
HFHRERE
Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 457,645
BAR5(E TEA TEA TEA
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 432,353
PEEEFE TEH TEH ~ER
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 7.79%-35.38% Decrease 1,879,753
BREERE 83 % o
Long-term growth rate 2.02%-3.00% Increase
RBERE l
Discount for lack of 15.70%-20.00% Decrease
marketability and control
BT R 2 B W
Market approach Discount rate 14.65% Decrease 175,151
iR AR E wd
Market comparable companies  Price-to-sales ratio 72.33 Increase 5,623
MiA & LRA A RS bl
Discount rate for lack of 30.00% Decrease
marketabilities
T2 M BR & W
Unlisted non-voting preference shares
FLTEXRERTK
Market comparable companies ~ Price-to-book ratio 1.91 Increase 24,500
i Al A R A ik &
Discount rate for lack of 20.50% Decrease
marketabilities
W2 M BR X WD
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6.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=)= Zrﬁ%#&%% Bﬁ--LI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and

inputs used in fair value measurements
at the end of the reporting period
(Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

6.

NF¥ET= (2

() RBEEHMARAEREERAZ
HERFUARQFEFTE
RAZEERERRBAR
B2RE (#)

E=RDVEFE(F)

Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2024
BN 8 Sl AFE
HERE EEBR 28 A\ HE #E HATEMNYE —TomE
HK$'000
BETT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
BRAFEFABRRZRE (£)
Unlisted investment funds and limited partnership
HLTREZZREMREELE
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 1,733,915
PMEEEFE TER TEA TER
Unlisted economic interest
FLiTlem
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 11.70% Decrease 1,632,000
BRRENRE BB o
Long-term growth rate 2.02% Increase
RRERE 181
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
BRAVEFAEBSZRZHEER
Share of investment results N/A N/A N/A (2,942)
PEREEE AEA AEA TER
Notes: T 5

(i)

During the year, there were no changes in the valuation
techniques except the following investment:

RYNEEMZBER AR

The valuation technique was changed from “Market
comparable companies” to “Latest transaction price”
as the transaction price was arrived within a year and
constituted an appropriate reference for the most recent
valuation.

The fair value as at 31 March 2025 has been arrived at
on the basis of valuations carried out on those dates by
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
to the Group.

FARBRTATRE  FRERBMML
BEIELEES:

RYNEERZBERAF]

fER ER TSI ALRNH]
URERORZE] BAXSE
EE-FAMSH BBRRHN
HEMNEE2E -

N

RZZB-_AF=ZA=+—-HB'2
?TEm*ETFEﬁi$%@IME§H%B‘J
BUREBREXRMGHEMRZEFAR
HBETHMMEMSH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

7. TURNOVER AND REVENUE 7.

Turnover represents the aggregate of dividend income,
interest revenue and gross sales proceeds from disposal/
redemption of investments.

Turnover and revenue recognised during the years are
analysed as follows:

BEEERSWA R B KSR E
E/BERKREZIHENMBSRBRBE Y
BN o

DO

i

FAERZEXBRIREITT

2025 2024
—E-HFE —FT-UF
HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Dividend income [N PN 8,284 =
Interest revenue M B U = 264,783 308,329
Total revenue FEll & 273,067 308,329
Gross sales proceeds from disposal/ &/ TEBERE ZIHEME
redemption of investments FRIBHREE 325,297 213,677
Turnover T 598,364 522,006
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. DEEAE K

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as
the directors, subject to requirements of the Listing Rules.
The directors assesses the operating segments using a
measure of operating profit. The Group's measurement
policies for segment reporting under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are the same as those used in its HKFRS financial
statements.

On adopting of HKFRS 8, based on the internal financial
information reported to the directors for decisions about
resources allocation to the Group's business components
and review of these components’ performance, the
Group .has identified only one operating segment, being
investment ‘holding. Accordingly, segment disclosures are
not presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. DEER &)
Geographical information i & & R
2025 2024
—E-RFE —TomMF
HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Revenue Vg
- Hong Kong —&B 196,361 232,974
— Mainland China — B A i 71,614 70,730
— United States of America —XH 5,092 4,625
273,067 308,329
In presenting the geographical information, revenue in REV R ERE  BEKREIRE 2
relation to equity investments is based on the location of w2 TR EFREM AKIE A
the investments and revenue in relation to debt investments BEBKREZWEZFNTUREEE
is based on location of provision of credit. FFr 72 b 2 A 35
Non-current assets other than financial FARBEE (GBI EBRI)
instruments
2025 2024
—E-REF —ETZOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong BB 337,249 269,908
Mainland China R A 565,409 399,831
United States of America E[E = 71
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from major debt investments

Revenue of the Group which individually accounted for
10% or more of the Group’s total revenue is shown below:

D EBE R ()
FTEERRENKE

AEBHWS (BIEREFHRKZIE10%
LA E) T

2025 2024
—E-RFE T _UF
HK$'000 HK$'000

EET T BETT

Debt investment A BHILEA # 61,560
Debt investment B BFILEB 33,966 40,611
Debt investment C BBIREC 33,234 38,806
Debt investment D BRIEED 29,260 #
# Less than 10% of total revenue for the relevant year. # DRERFERKZEN10% °
9. OTHER INCOME AND (LOSSES)/GAINS, Ha g AR (EE) /I
N AN
NET m F 8H
2025 2024
—E-ERF —EF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B iE EET T BETT

Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries i & B A &) UKk F 48 37 1,208 84,308
Net gain on disposal of PE—HE&EEEENR
a joint venture FEE 2,566 —
Impairment loss of goodwill R—EEE AR 2K E
arising from investment in EECZHBREERE
an associate (6,978) (6,214)
Impairment loss of intangible BmIVEEZRERBE
assets 18 - (711)
Others H 722 281
(2,482) 77,664
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

10. FINANCE COSTS

11.

2025 2024
—E_RE S UL
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

Interest on borrowings BRZHE 45,322 85,401
Interest on lease liabilities HERBZHNE 651 965
45,973 86,366
INCOME TAX EXPENSE P 3FRBA X
2025 2024
—E-HF —E N4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Current tax BV EARE I8
— People’s Republic of China (“PRC") —FhEAREME ([HE])
Enterprise Income Tax, provision SR FREE

for the year

(7,952) (955)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during those years.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in the PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25%
(2024: 25%) on the estimated assessable profits for the
year ended 31 March 2025, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

HRAEBREBEEZE_ZE_AFK_F
ZHF=ZA=T—HLEFEEEBYL
EEETMNERNEBN RZEFEL
BREBNERIELEE-

AEBEBTFREBNAMEHEBED
RIEEBEMNRITED - BFIERIED
B EI)SY% (ZE-E:25% )58
BE-_Z_RAF=A=+—"HLHE
B b At FERRFLE F) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1. BB XX ()

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and
the product of profit before tax multiplied by the weighted

average tax rate of the consolidated companies is as

follows:

it BB AT &R FALE A 7
Du$%¥fzj$ﬁ$a’ai$§z;¢,ﬂ§ﬁuT-

2025 2024

“EBE-RE T _UF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Profit before tax w5t Al &2 7] 72,110 54,608
Tax at the weighted average tax rate BMEFAREAEZHIE 714 14,767
Tax effect of income not taxable A u%?rtﬁﬂﬁkzifﬁfx%’a 21,765 48,581
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAIHMBRAEZ BB E (23,063) (52,898)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FEBRAMBERBZHEZE (7,017) (11,176)

Tax effect of temporary differences REBREKEZE 2B BT E

not recognised (351) (229)
Income tax expense s ®iA X (7.,952) (955)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of HK$126,136,000 (2024:
HK$116,327,000) in respect of estimated tax losses
amounting to HK$764,462,000 (2024: HK$705,013,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These estimated
tax losses will be carried forward indefinitely.

J& BR T A F] £

116,327,0007T) °

AIIER - M EEREERIREE -

RS BIR - A S B &R K85 R 2R
fLZﬁEH}éIEEﬂé;‘%
¥764,462,00000 (=T & : B
705,013, ooo;ﬂﬁ@;{];ﬁk%ﬁl@éﬁ@%}%
#126,136,0007C (Z T PO F : B

B R SR AR E R
%

A REBERERRESE-
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12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

12. X FEAEF

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging the

AEERNERRBMNER THFER

following: IR -
2025 2024
—E_REF —EZOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Depreciation of equipment BEITE 2,302 2,031
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 6,415 7,250
Auditor's remuneration 2% RN & B
— Audit services —ZER TS 1,360 1,350
— Non-audit services —IEZ BURTS 120 118
1,480 1,468
Provision for ECL THSBEZEHREEEEEEG
— debt investments —EERE 29,989 2,058
— accounts, interest and other receivables — — FEURBRE Zx - FI B % H 4t fE Uk
HIE 3,048 1,898
33,037 3,956
Staff costs including Directors’ emoluments EEXK A (BIEEEZEE)
— Salaries and other benefits —FekEMETR 11,556 15,716
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions — iR K48 Fl 5t 21t 7% 306 382
11,862 16,098

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

EREHRREBRAT / F52024/25

207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 3.8 FTETHAENRTR
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' ZEaTEEMNSE
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERFTETHAEMS

emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the BEEAN EMANEROHERF
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing EEERIZTHRAEMENT
Rules, is as follows:
2025
—E-hE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Name #E Notes Fees other benefits  contributions Total
HeR BIREF
Lk e Ht B F g B3 @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

EETT BETT BT BETT

Executive director: HITEE:

Dr. LIU Zhiwei MEERL (i) 126 - - 126
Non-executive directors: FHITEE:

Dr. WANG Qin ESEL 500 - - 500
Dr. FU Weigang AR 1S+ 250 - = 250
Dr. WANG Shibin FHREL 250 - - 250
Ms. Sun Qing Hexzt (ii) - - - -

Independent non-executive directors: BTN TEE -

Mr. CHEN Yuming BRER %A (iii) 107 - - 107

Mr. YAN Xiaotian BEHEE 250 - - 250

Mr. ZHAO Kai I A 250 - - 250

Mr. Yang Songbin LN (iv) 143 - - 143

Chief executive officer: TTECAB# -

Dr. QIAO Bingya BREEL - 250 13 263
1,876 250 13 2,139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-.r\ (=)= jﬁ%#’&% Bﬁ--LE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #{Z2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 138 -FETRABRS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' ZE=mEEMNE 2
EMOLUNENTS«mmmww
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEMS

emoluments (Continued) (#&)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the RIBERMN EmRABEENRF
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing EEERFEITBRABMESHOT
Rules, is as follows: (Continued) (%)
2024
T NF
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Name e Notes Fees  other benefits contributions Total
ek RIKEF
Lik3 e HiiEH SRR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Executive director: HITEE:
Dr. LIU Zhiwei MEEEL (i) 250 - - 250
Non-executive directors: FRTEE:
Dr. WANG Qin THEL 420 - - 420
Dr. FU Weigang i 250 - - 250
Dr. WANG Shibin FHREL 250 - - 250

Independent non-executive directors: BN TEE

Mr. CHEN Yuming FRERRLEE (iii) 250 - - 250

Mr. YAN Xiaotian BREHLE 250 - - 250

Mr. ZHAO Kai ol A 250 - - 250

Chief executive officer: TTIRAB L, -

Dr. QIAQ Bingya BREEL - 250 13 263
1,920 250 13 2,183

Notes lhg=3

(i) Resigned on 9 October 2024. (i) MR- -_MFE+ANBEET-

(ii) Appointed on 29 November 2024. (i) R-ZE-NFEF+—A=-+hBE

Z1E-
(iii)  Resigned on 4 September 2024. (iy RZZE-_WNFHLAMNBBEE-
(iv)  Appointed on 4 September 2024. vy, RZZT-MOFNLANBEZE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jﬁﬁ-’F&%‘%Bﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES'

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director
and chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2025

(2024 nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in

transactions, arrangements or contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

(c) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group
during the year included nil (2024: nil) Director
whose emoluments are set out in note 13(a) to the
consolidated financial statements. Details of the
emoluments for the year of the remaining 5 (2024: 5)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13. 8
%

(a)

(b)

(c)

%m%

FET
= &+
:l?F1

o

BAENMTE
B E ()

iz (4

\]

mo—!

\

pii

\J

EERTETHRAEHS
(&)

BHEZ_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—H1L
FE- JIEI%%&IETTBU\E\
WEXRBERETAEH N L HE
(ZTZNF &) -

EERRZ REHEREHTF
ZERES

VEABAEEEBMARRIE
REF—FEARFESEHES
(THRERXBR)BEEAER
(REBEZ_FE-_RAF=A=+—
B 1 F R 3R F A E A B )
MEMEMERRS ZHRA
W(ZT_MHF:-E) -

TEBREHES

AEERAFENRAEERSFHE
BERRETR (T _MF :TFH)
o ﬁ%l%%%#iﬁ/—\ﬁﬂ%i&%%
BizE13(a) cAFE W IEAR
FREB ﬁIEﬁU\,\Zﬁ%TS%(_

ZF5R)EEEHES 2
CHBHET:

2025 2024
—EBE-HE T -UF
HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Basic salaries and allowances HARH € M2 4,887 5,520

Retirement benefits scheme RIREFIET SR
contributions 87 90
4,974 5,610
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13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
MQF = /zri§§%4§%§EBfTA?E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1385 -FETRASRSA
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' XE=mHmEEWNE @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Five highest paid employees (Continued) (c) EEBREFHEES (&)
The number of the highest paid employees who are WHESEMES N TATEHED
not the Directors and whose emoluments falls within =EaEE AT :

the following bands:

Number of individuals
A
2025 2024
—E-HF —EPUF

Nil to HK$1,000,000 T2 F#1,000,0007T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 71,000,001 L2
75 #1,500,0007T 2 2
5 5
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FR - AEBTEAETMES FE17T
to any of the directors, chief executive or the highest paid BABSESHFATINMESELN
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the BAEE s FoRNBRE 2 EEHIE
Group or as compensation for loss of office. BEERRES(E -
DIVIDEND 14. iz B
No dividends was paid or proposed for ordinary HE_ZTZ EEL¢ A=+—HILFE
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31 I MmN A FE B R R T sk &2 R
March 2025, nor has any dividend been proposed at the EJEHHQEHEA WA B RN E R RIR
end of the reporting period (2024: nil). FARE (ZTZNF &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

15. & I& & 7

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share BRERAR#EERANDBREBEUATEE
is based on the following: TE:
2025 2024
—B-HE —ToMF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Earnings ZF
Earnings for the purpose of calculating BT EBRER R EER T
basic and diluted earnings per share 2 B 7 64,158 53,653
2025 2024
—B-HE —ToMF
‘000 ‘000
F iR TR
Number of shares gl gE|
Weighted average number of ordinary RUAGEERERLREBERN
shares for the purpose of calculating 2B AR N RE T B
basic and diluted earnings per share 10,520,325 10,520,325
2025 2024
—B-HE —ToMF
HK cent HK cents
A A
Basic and diluted earnings per share BRERREERT 0.61 0.51
Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per TS B R ﬁﬁy’ﬂﬁﬂ J?
share as the Company did not have any dilutive potential 7%$QETE/\\@ —E-RFRZ

ordinary share during the years ended 31 March 2025 and

2024.

%/ﬁ/a %@Hﬁ"
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=)= Zrﬁ%#&%% Bﬁ--LI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T - HAF=A=+—HItFE

16. EQUIPMENT 16. 2% 14
Motor  Computer Office Leasehold
vehicle equipment equipment Furniture  improvements Total
RE  ERRE BHAERE KR  HEVXEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT  BETr A%t A%Txn BETT  E%Tn
Cost BA
At 1 April 2023 R-ZB-=FmA—-AH 777 1,863 275 2,377 4913 10,205
Addition RE = = = - 2,476 2,476
Exchange difference EXzS - ) (1) (14) (73) (90)
At 31 March 2024 and R=ZB-@mEZA=+-BK
1 April 2024 “Z-MEMA-A 171 1,861 274 2,363 1,316 12,591
Addition NE - 31 - - 98 129
Disposal HE - (1) - (126) = (127)
Exchange difference ERZEE - - - (2) (9) (11)
At 31 March 2025 R=ZB-AEZA=+-H 71 1,891 274 2,235 7,405 12,582

Accumulated depreciation §;’r?ﬁ§

At 1 April 2023 “ZZ=4¥MmA-A 171 1,648 251 2,123 1,228 6,027
Charge for the year imﬁﬁ - 99 17 160 1,755 2,031
Exchange difference EXER - (1) - (6) (45) (52)
At 31 March 2024 and RZB-@mEZA=+-BR

1 April 2024 “E-mEMA-A 777 1,746 268 2,277 2,938 8,006
Charge for the year ENER - 57 5 50 2,190 2,302
Disposal HE - - - (102) - (102)
Exchange difference EHZEE - - () (2) (9) (13)
At 31 March 2025 R-B-5%=fA=t-H 777 1,803 21 2,223 5,119 10,193
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2025 R-ZBE-RE=A=t-H - 88 3 12 2,286 2,389
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-ZME=R=1+-8 - 115 6 86 4,378 4,585
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 7. HENFEREEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: HEMHEMEEER -
At 31 March R=A=+-—H 2025 2024
—E-HE T _NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Right-of-use assets — Buildings FTHEEE-ZF 7,442 8,654
The maturity analysis, based on AEBEHESGBNIHADM
undiscounted cash flows, of the (AR ARURRERE)
Group's lease liabilities is as follows: mr
— Less than 1 year —L1E 5,962 6,358
— Between 1 and 2 years —1FE2F 7 [ 2,262 3,879
— Between 2 and 5 years —24F BS54 7 ] 174 180
8,398 10,417
Year ended 31 March BE-ZH=+—HLEFE 2025 2024
—E-HF C—TOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERFE—BTF
— Buildings 6,415 7,250
Lease interests MEFE 651 965
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R ERE 7,305 9,274
Addition to right-of-use assets RNEGHAEESE 5,945 4,730
Early termination of lease agreement RRERIEHEE W= 687 =

Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 3
to 3.3 years. Lease terms.are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions/ The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

18. B B E

Cryptocurrencies

g
HK$’000
BT T
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and R=ZE-_=FMA—H8-
1 April 2024 —E_WME=A=+T—HEK
“E-_NMFEMAE—H 782
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) HE—FKEAR (ME37) (782)
At 31 March 2025 R=-ZB-_RAF=A=+—H -
Accumulated impairment loss ZitREEE
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FMA—H -
Impairment loss VEREN SR 711
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-TE-ZOFE=ZA=+—HAK
—E-_WFEMA—H 711
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) HE—MEMB AR (MFE37) (711)
At 31 March 2025 R=-ZE-_HAF=ZA=+—H -
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2025 R-ZEB-HAF=RA=+—H -
At 31 March 2024 RZEZ_WMF=A=+—H 71
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES 19. [ B A 7]
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 RZE_AFR_ZFT_MNF=A
and 2024 which in the opinion of the directors, materially =+—H #FER ﬁ'ﬁTK%lEﬁﬁfZ%
affect the results on assets of the Group are as follows: BHEEATZENTZNBRAINGFRS
mE
Place of incorporation/ Issued and  Percentage of ownership
registration and paid up/ interest/voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRITRAR/ FeREs REE/
£8 By ERREEDLS AMEE PEBRNEDH TEEH
2025 2024
“E-Hf —T-QF
Directly held subsidiaries
HEREZHE LA
Golden Investor Investments Limited British Virgin Islands us$2 100% 100% Investment holding
("BVI")
Golden Investor Investments Limited EERUES 2ETT RAER
(RBRTHS])
Great Wonderful Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
BYBERRA ABRTHS 1% REZR
OP Capital Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
REEARERRAA Bk BEIT REZR
OP Digital Life (GP) Limited Cayman Islands Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Digital Life (GP) Limited HEHE (Ep RAER
OP Digital Me Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Digital Me Limited KERZES (E REER
OP Felicity Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Felicity Limited B0 BRI RAER
OPFI GP(2) Limited Cayman Islands HK$0.1 100% 100% Investment holding
OPFI GP(2) Limited MERs BB REZR
OP Fintech Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Fintech Holdings Limited HEHE (3 RAER
OP Investment Service Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Administrative service
centre for group
companies
RERBRBER AR Bt BEIT ERRZTBRBER O
Power Creation Global Limited BVI Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding
Power Creation Global Limited BERNES 100€7T RAER
Prosper Gain:Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Prosper Gain Holdings Limited RXEE (3 RAER
River King Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
River King Investments Limited BEETEE (Y RAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-.r\ (=)= jﬁ%#’&% Bﬁ--LE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #{Z =T - HF=A=+—HILFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. (NEB A7 ()
N aak -F - NEE A
:-i——EI '§$w7’%ﬂ$ﬁlﬁ’7§3%

BABATENTIZMNBERARANGE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 which in the opinion of the directors, materially
affect the results on assets of the Group are as follows:

(Continued) T (&)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and  Percentage of ownership
registration and paid up/ interest/voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BOREBR/ FiaERs, RER/
a8 B/ ERREEDS HEMEL PEBRNEL TEXEK
2025 2024
—$-FF -T-pF
South South Financial Investment BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Group Limited
HETHRESERRAA EBREHES (E REZR
Spring Inside Limited BVI = 100% 100% Investment holding
Spring Inside Limited ABERAES - REER
Spring Kirin Limited BVI us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Spring Kirin Limited EBERAES 1% REER
Suremind Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Suremind Investments Limited RBRTHS E REER
Wall King Industry Investment Limited BVI US$13,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
EREEREFRAF EBEAES 13,000,000% 7 REZR
WK Century Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Century Holdings Limited EBERAES E REER
WK Development Limited BVI us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Development Limited EBERAES D REER
WK Fintech Holdings Limited BVI us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Fintech Holdings Limited EBERAES E REER
WK Intellect Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Intellect Limited RBRTHS 1% REER
WK Management Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Management Limited EBERAES 1% REER
WK Quantum Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Quantum Holdings Limited EERUES E REER
RNEREEERZAERAA PRC HK$ 18,000,000 100% 100% Administrative service
(note) centre for group
companies
RYENEEERZARRAF e 7£%18,000,0007 SERRZTHREH L
i3]
WK Fortis Holdings Limited BVI us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Fortis Holdings Limited KERZHES (E REER
WK Frater Holdings Limited BVI us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Frater Holdings Limited KERZHES (E REER
WK Strata Holdings Limited BVI us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Strata Holdings Limited KERZHES (E REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. MY B A =] (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 RZE_AFR_ZFT_MNF=A
and 2024 which in the opinion of the directors, materially = — EI %$w7’%£$%lﬁ'}§fg%
affect the results on assets of the Group are as follows: BHEEATZENTZNBRAINGFRS
(Continued) W (48)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and  Percentage of ownership
registration and paid up/ interest/voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRITRER/ FeREs REE/
28 B/ ERREEDLS HAMEX PEBRNHEILE EEXH
2025 2024
ZE-RE —T-ME
Indlirectly held subsidiaries
BEREZER ]
Digital Life L.P. Cayman Islands = 100% 100% Investment holding
Digital Life L.P. FEHE - REER
Hong Kong Wall King Industry Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited
BREEREXREBRAA B 711,000,000 REZR
Keynew Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Keynew Investments Limited ABERUES E REER
Metaqi Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Metagji Capital Limited &% BRI REER
OP Digital Me Investment Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Digital Me Investment Limited AERUES E REER
OP New Health Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
REFREERAA B BEIT REZR
Wisland Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Wisland Investments Limited RRRTHS E REER
RIEXERBEEERD PRC HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
RNEXEREXERD h 711,000,000 REZR

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREBR DA / F302024/25



1)

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #lZ2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 which in the opinion of the directors, materially
affect the results on assets of the Group are as follows:
(Continued)

Note: Capital registered but not fully paid up.

AYEREZEEEZAEGRAA and RINEXZEREXZERA
7] are wholly-owned foreign enterprises established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particular excessive length.

As at 31 March 2025, the bank and cash balances of the
Company’s subsidiaries denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$26,962,000 (2024: HK$9,385,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations.

INVESTMENTS IN ARTWORKS

19. BT A &) ()

RZE-_RAEFE-_ZE-_MWM&E=H
=+t—H ESR ﬁﬂﬁﬁlﬂ’]éﬁﬁ
BREEATZENTIEMNBARMNGS
W (&)

fisE: EMEAERGR-

RYEMEEEEFANERAA LR
NEXZREZERRARRBNPERK
YZINEBELE-

ERFINEZR/TBEFEARARAE

AREERBBEZARENBEAR &

%gﬁ%'%M\JHMBHE’AE?ZE?I%%@
BHEMBRITE

W_ZE-_RAF=ZRA=+—80 K28
BRARANARKEFENRITER S
1% 575 #26,962,0007T ( =& — P4 :
75 1£9,385,0007T ) ° ¥ A R 5 i A5k
78 <7 P B A0 B B R R

20. BT iR &

2025 2024
—E-HE —TUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Precious and collectible Chinese arts, ZE/ R BN
at fair value BERFER 283,100 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

21. DIGITAL ASSETS 21. BN FEE
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-pE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Stablecoins = 136 =
22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 22. RBa R ke EhEZ
JOINT VENTURES "E
2025 2024
—E_FHE —E_pOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AT
Unlisted investments FEEMKE
— Associates — B 2N A
— Share of net assets —DHEEFE 403,021 442,602
— Goodwill —HE = 7,023
403,021 449,625
— Joint ventures — share of net assets —RELE-HHEEFE 206,706 206,875
609,727 656,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #lZ2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 21
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s principal associates and joint ventures

at 31 March 2025 are as follows:

Principal place

?’\éﬁ%//}j BEREZ
B \(/rﬁ

RIEZRAF=ZA=+—HZAEHE
TEBERRRAEECEFBNOT:

Percentage of ownership
interest and voting rights

Name of entity of business Place of incorporation  held by the Group  Principal activities
ARERENRAERER
EREH TEEEDY Rt RREREDL TEXH
2025 2024
“E-RE —ToME
Associates
AN
CSOP Asset Management Limited (“CSOP") Hong Kong Hong Kong 22.50% 22.50% Asset management and
(note (i) investment holding
BIRAEEERERAA B0 B BEEBRIRERR
(BHEE())
Guotai Junan Fund Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong note (ii) 29.90% Asset management and
trading in securities
BRELESEBBRAA &8 &8 B = (i) EEEHERESEE
Treasure Up Ventures Limited (“TUVL") PRC The Republic of 25.00% 25.00% Asset management
Seychelles
BZAIREBRAF (TTUVL]) g ETRLANE BEEE
REBEREARE (RUDAER PRC PRC 30.00% 30.00% Lease investments
RAREREEE ORI ERAR ((% H%ij) HE HE HERE
Joint ventures
BEPE
FNTEEENARNCELE (BR PRC PRC note (iii) 50.00% Investment holding
RITEEEBNZAGREE (AR FE FE it 2 (i) BAER
Golden Cloud Principal Technology Hong Kong BVI 19.90% 19.90% Investment holding
Company Limited (“Golden Cloud")
SEFREBRAR([2EIE]) &8 RERIHE BAEER
Notes: BT
(i) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, it is pledged to secured bank (i) ER-_ZE-_AFE_FT-_NF=A
facilities granted to the Group. =+— Elfﬁﬁ”’ﬁ%&%ﬂ‘%.ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ

(i) As at 31 March 2025, Guotai Junan Fund Management Limited

was liquidated.

(iii)  The joint venture was disposed during the year ended 31 March

2025.

HFELR ©

(i) RZF-_AF=A=+—0 BEFEZX
HeEBARARBER-

(iy ZAEECEORBE-_T_AF=A
z+ RlEFELE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jﬁﬁ-’F&%‘%Bﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

22. NBERAIREEDR
wE#)

AEEBTEHEARZIHBENHRRE
(B2 RE 2 ERKE)EIIMT :

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND E Yl

JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Dﬂ]

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
principal associates (based on the management accounts of

the associates) is set out below:

CSOP TUVL RAERE
BhERE TUVL RARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETR BT
(note (iv))
(Bt &£ (iv))
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RFE=A=1+-H
Non-current assets ERBDEE 26,205 - 8,165
Current assets RYEE 1,457,628 1,013,301 81,333
Non-current liabilities ERBDEE - = (14,342)
Current liabilities e E (942,490) = =
Net assets EEEE 541,343 1,013,301 75,156
The Group's share of investments' net assets FEBEGREEEFE 121,802 253,325 16,126
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-Z-_RFZA=+-HLEE
Revenue Yz 1,093,890 - 428
Profit/(loss) for the year AEEBF,/ (HE) 389,163 68,496 (171,345)
Other comprehensive income Hi2EK R 124 - -
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 2ANE/ (AX)@E 389,287 68,496 (171,345)
The Group's share of investments' profit/(loss) for the year ~ERNAEERERERF,/ (FHRE) 87,562 17,124 (51,404)
The Group's share of investments' other comprehensive FEAREEEGEREEMEEEE
income for the year 28 - -
Dividend from associate BEEAFNRE 77,654 - -
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-MEF=ZA=+-H
Non-current assets ERBDEE 4,241 - 45,871
Current assets MBEE 1,210,782 988,772 209,901
Non-current liabilities ERBDEE - - =
Current liabilities nRBEE (717,841) - (14,150)
Net assets BEFE 497,182 988,772 241,622
The Group’s share of investments’ net assets AERERGRELERE 111,866 247,193 66,019
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z_ME=A=1-HALEE
Revenue Wegs 844,671 - 370
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERF/ (F#B) 281,630 (667,039) (1,867)
Other comprehensive expense Htt2EHY (222) = =
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 2ENE/ (AX) @8 281,408 (667,039) (1,867)
The Group's share of investments’ profit/(loss) for the year ~ FRAEEEEIRERF,/ (HE) 63,367 (165,092) (577)
The Group’s share of investments' other comprehensive FRREEEGREEMZERE
expense for the year (50) - -
Dividend from associate BBERARNRE 61,775 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Note (iv): The Group’s share of investments’ net assets is calculated by
percentage of paid-up capital in the associate.

243

BERRIRAEERELZ
:}Xé(ﬂﬁ

MG AKERGEREEEFERNE S
REAMEHEANB DL HE

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share TRINSAEBELERAEREAR
of the amounts of all individually immaterial associates that R EERTEREEARMBEEE-
are accounted for using the equity method.
2025 2024
—E-HE —T-mMF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 31 March R=A=+-—
Carrying amounts of interests w2 REE 11,768 17,524
Year ended 31 March BE=A=1+—HLFE
Share of loss and total comprehensive EEAFEEEREZEREZ
expense for the year 4838 (2,335) (963)

As at 31 March 2025, the bank and cash balances of the
Group's associates denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$1,380,000 (2024: HK$19,227,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations.

RZZFE_RAF=RA=+—8 ~"EEHHK
ERNRIUARBHENRTRESLE
17 A7#1,380,00000 (=ZZF Y 4F : /&
#19,227,0007T) < #§ A R ¥ H 8 & 5)
A E ST B INEE IR AEH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FlNANClAL STATEMENTS
an\ /ZtﬁﬁeF&’%:ZMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

22 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 22. RBERAREEREZ
JOINT VENTURES (continued) KRE (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group'’s AEBEFESERECHMBERBE
principal joint ventures (based on the management accounts (REELEZEREERB)HINWT :

of the joint ventures) is set out below:

2025 2024
—E-RE T -NF
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT T AETT

Golden Cloud SEIE
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Non-current assets FRBEE 819,792 759,868
Current assets mBEE 721,248 743,481
Non-current liabilities FnBEE (17,934) (17,934)
Current liabilities mBAE (484,381) (461,927)
Net assets BEEFE 1,038,725 1,023,488
The Group's share of REEEGKRE

investments' net assets EEFE 206,706 203,674
Year ended 31 March BE=A=1+—HLEE
Revenue W am 8,652 3,857
Profit and total comprehensive AEERMEREZEHWEAE

income for the year 15,238 16,769
The Group's share of investments’ FRNREEERERERF

profit for the year 3,032 3,337
The Group's share of investments’ other FRNREERERE

comprehensive income for the year E b 2 E W - -
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share TRIAANEBELHRAEREZAR
of the amounts of all individually immaterial joint ventures BB TEREETLENEEE-

that are accounted for using the equity method.

2025 2024
—EB-HE T -UF
HK$'000 HK$'000

EET T BETT

At 31 March R=A=+—H
Carrying amounts of interests w2 BREE = 3,201
Year ended 31 March BE-ZHA=1+T—HLHFE
Share of profit and total other JEIEAREE R T REAM
comprehensive income for the year EAE G G = 831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

23. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23. 2 A FEFF ABmE 2%

PROFIT OR LOSS

)11133

2025 2024
—E-HE T UF
HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Listed equity securities (note (i) TR RS () 96,690 217,910
Unlisted equity investments JELEMRERE 3,084,216 2,975,025
Unlisted investment funds and FELEMEEES R
limited partnership (note (ii)) BRAEBEZE (M) 1,637,504 1,755,429
Unlisted economic interest IE b U a= 1,587,000 1,632,000
6,405,410 6,580,364
Less: non-current assets held for sale BBELEZERDEE
(note 27) (FMF3E27) (342,448) (344,944)
6,062,962 6,235,420
Analysed as: AT
— Non-current assets —JERBEE 4,207,264 4,143,757
— Current assets —mEEAE 1,855,698 2,091,663
6,062,962 6,235,420
Notes: 5L

(i) As at 31 March 2025, HK$771,000 (2024: HK$101,905,000) was
pledged to secure for the Group’s borrowings as detailed in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Unlisted investment funds and limited partnership represent
investments in unconsolidated structured entities. The maximum
exposure to loss is the carrying value of these investments. The
size of the investment funds ranges from US$3 million to US$211
million (2024: US$3 million to US$880 million).

0]

(if)

W—ZE-_A&E=ZFR=Z+—H" %
771,000 (=T M4 : B
101,905,0007T ) & & # J%ZK% BRZ
B FBEHNEGE M BRERMTE3 -

FEMBEESRBRAZLEBRE
BAANREBUEETBEORE - RABE
B AEZERENEAE REESH
BENF00BETE21MEET(ZE
— P4 30083 T E8.80f8F L) °

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25

ENERBREFRAT / FH2024/25

225



226

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jiﬁ¥&%‘:€|§ﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

24. DEBT INVESTMENTS

4 EBEE

2025 2024
—EB-HE —_T_UF
HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Debt investments BEBEE 3,010,893 3,795,961
Less: provision for ECL B TEEE B SR EE (76,171) (46,472)
Total debt investments, net BRIEERTFE 2,934,722 3,749,489
Analysed as: ST

— Non-current assets —JEmEBEE 189,309 72,097
— Current assets —mEBEE 2,745,413 3,677,392

2,934,722 3,749,489

The tenure of the debt investments ranged from 9 months
to 2 years (2024: 9 months to 2 years). The applied interest
rates ranged from 5.00% to 10.00% (2024: 7.00% to
10.00%) p.a.. They are expected to be settled on maturity
date.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has assessed
the creditworthy of the investees and closely monitors the
repayment ability of the investees.
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24. DEBT INVESTMENTS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=)= Zrﬁ%#&%% Bﬁ--LI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

24 BIE’RE ()

As at 31 March 2025, certain debt investments were

impaired. It is analysed as follows:

NS TR s s

BRERE - DT

B &TEH

Carrying amount at

REE
Loan Provision
principal for ECL 2025 2024
EHEE
EREE EBEEE —F-Rf _—T_OF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET BET R BET R BT
Neither past due nor impaired £ R E 2,947,637 (63,659) 2,883,978 3,702,651
Credit risk significantly increased 1= & & b 28 & 32 N 57,053 (6,309) 50,744 46,838
Credit impaired HEEERE 6,203 (6,203) = -
2,934,722 3,749,489

Provision for ECL was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

as follows:

EHMEEEERBERK

b2 HE WS RERNT

RGN E

2025 2024

—E-RFE T UF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Opening balance BR A 4 R 46,472 44,875
Charge during the year NCSAEES 29,467 2,058
Transfer from interest receivables B Y B 522 801
Exchange difference PE N =R (290) (1,262)
Closing balance B R 45 76,171 46,472

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREFRDA / F972024/25

227



228

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

25. & Y BR 3Kk

25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

2025 2024
—E-RFE —Z-lUF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2 BT T BT T
Accounts receivables JiE UK BR 5k (a) 796 779
Amounts due from associates, JE UGBS 2 R B
joint ventures and SEDLER
related companies Bl NGB (b 25,989 27,056
Dividend receivables ) (0) 77,654 61,775
104,439 89,610
Notes: B RE
(@) The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit (@) AEBEIERKREAEREBHEZEK

enhancements over the accounts receivables from co-investment
partners. The ageing analysis of accounts receivables, based on
invoice date of accounts receivables, and net of allowance, is as

ERFHEAERRIRLEMEELE

58 18 B o AR 1% B WURR 3K
Bl 2 YRR ERE D

BEQ WY G
LI UENE

follows:
2025 2024
—E-FHE —T-_NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Unbilled AREHERE 796 779
(b)  Amounts due from associates, joint ventures and related (b) EUWHZE R SECENRBEB QAR

companies mainly arise from advance money provided for
potential investment projects and administrative expenses paid
by the Group on behalf of its associates, joint ventures and
related companies. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, provision for ECL of
HK$38,000 (2024: reversal of provision for ECL of HK$24,000)
was recognised in profit or loss of amount due from one of the

associates.

(c) Dividend receivables represents dividend declared by CSOP in

both.years.
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26.

27.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 March 2025, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$28,412,000
(2024: HK$9,757,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Pursuant to a letter of intent dated 29 March 2024, the
Group will dispose certain investments at fair value through
profit or loss by means of disposal of its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, FINEXZEZEXEFR AT . The fair
value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss
as at 31 March 2025 was RMB320,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$342,448,000 (2024: HK$344,944,000)). As at 31 March
2025, the disposal was not yet completed. The assets,
which are expected to be sold within twelve months, have
been classified as non-current assets held for sale and
are presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of accounts payables, based on the
recognition date of accounts payables, is as follows:

26.

T8

28.

RITRBESET

R e R ST N
DAREGTENRTERESET A
#28,412,000t (ZE U &F : B #
9,757,0007T) ° i A R ¥ K RN E A
38 <F FR B S B R (AT o

RIEREZHERBDEE

BERHA-ZS-_NF=A=+hIA8
WERES AEEEARLEHRARE
EEMBRARARINELXEZEEEXBR
AR HERAFEFABEZEREZSE
FTRE-RAFEFTABREZRE
R-_E_HF=ZA=+—HHRQF
HA AR%320,000,0007T (SEB
#5342,448,0007C (ZFE M F - B
344,944,0007T) ) R ZZEZRF =R
=t —HB HEHKRTHR - BEHRT=
MAALENEEE D BARBIFLE
ZHERBEE CHRAVBHRARANE
b EI

J& +F R 3K

FE A BR IR FE A BR X R B BV BR i
DT

2025 2024

—E-HE —EUF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Over 1 year BRI F 50 50
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B W IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

29. H fib fE A5 k18

n\/-_r\

29. OTHER PAYABLES

30.

2025 2024
—EBE-RE —T-WNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest payables JE 1 A8 31,417 54,243
Others H Aty 7,365 6,562
38,782 60,805
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 30. B A FEFFABZR
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =R
2025 2024
—E_REF —EF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2 BT T BT
Current liabilities REasE
— Payable to investment partners —EREERMY (a) 3,366 1,400
Non-current liabilities eI I h=Ki
— Staff participation interest payable —Jf&ff & T £ @EFz (b) 477 1,542
Notes: My st

(a)

Pursuant to the financial participation arrangement signed
in May 2018 with investment partners, the Group received
US$1,950,000, equivalent to HK$15,267,000, from those
investment partners and in return, shared a portion of the
Group's future realised trading result of one of the equity
investments on a back-to-back basis.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, an unrealised loss of
HK$2,256,000 (2024: gain of HK$606,000),
investment partners’ share of unrealised profit (2024: loss) of

representing the

the project, was recognised in profit or loss as the payable to
investment partners’ interests were increased (2024: decreased).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-.r\ (=)= jﬁ%#’&% Bﬁ--LE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #lZ2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

30. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 300 AFEFTABREREZH

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

%%E\1E\(é%f’

BsE: (&)

(b)  As an incentive program to align risk and performance of the (b) ER—HEHSASERE ZRRRIRKIRE
Group’s investments with interests of the employees, the Group BEZHMNZ= —BNEBHFTR AEEHE
set up staff participation plan. At the inception of a qualified RMUBIZHGE -E-—BEEKZEK
investment, the Group will allocate not more than 10% of its BRI AEBEBSIRERBHAKRE
own interest in that investment for staff participation. Pursuant BZI0% Z2EGRmHETLE -BE
to terms of the staff participation plan, the eligible employees BETZ2HEAEKGK GEREETUN
will subscribe for the interest of the investment at the same BAEEKZENARKZ BERRERE
price as the Group's investment cost and share potential profit Em EAEERLEHERER EB
or loss in proportion to its participation upon the Group’s exit of BREZE B D ZBERE - RBE
such investment. The classification of current liabilities and non- ERERBEEZ DRREBRE 2D
current liabilities was determined based on the classification of 1 5E ©

the underlying investments.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, an unrealised gain of BHE_ZT-_RAF=RA=1+—RLFE"
HK$441,000 (2024: unrealised gain of HK$86,000), representing AER W ZF B 441,000 (-0
the staff participation’s share of unrealised loss (2024: loss) of F:REHRWEEKS6,000T) KK E
the qualified investments, was recognised in profit or loss as the I2MEERKBENREREBER(ZZ
payable to staff participation interests were decreased (2024: THFBE)NNE RENEISHE
decreased). B (ZZEZmFE Fd) mMr B
REER
H =4
31. BORROWINGS 31. &%
2025 2024
“E-RFE T -MF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Secured borrowings from banks (Note) RERITH BB ERK

(HaE) 260,000 885,000

Unsecured other borrowings KR B A AR 383,258 532,414

643,258 1,417,414
Note: Secured borrowings from banks are secured by the Group's MieE: REBRITHEERERRULAEER
certain interests in an associate and investments at fair value —[BE QRN E TR RIERTE
through profit or loss and guaranteed by GoFintech Quantum FABRRIREFER THEE
Innovation Limited (“GoFintech”), an investor holds 29.13% ETAHFERAA(IBEE 7] —
interests of the Company as at 31 March 2025 (2024: secured ERZE_RFE=ZA=T—BHEAR
by the Group’s certain interests in an associate, investments at NE29.13% R EE ) REER

fair value through profit or loss and debt investments).

(ZB -4 AREBRR— Faﬁﬂy%%@
AIME TEZ KEAFENFAERE
ZIRARBEBIRAEERR) -

The borrowings are repayable within one year or on BRAR—FANLBREE - RE
demand. The average effective interest rate as at 31 March —HFZA=Z+—H8 FHEBFMNX

2025 was 6.63% (2024: 6.55%) p.a

56.63% (ZE P4 :6.55%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jiﬁ¥&%‘:€|§ﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES

32 HERE

Lease payments

Present value of
lease payments

HEMNR HENRWERE
2025 2024 2025 2024
“ECRE —E-NF ZBE-HE T -NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AETT BT AT
Within one year —FR 5,962 6,358 5,726 5,861
Over one year but within two years ~ —F A EEMER 2,262 3,879 2,224 3,752
Over two years but within five years ™A FERAFR 174 180 174 179
8,398 10,417
Less: Future finance charge B ARRRE B R (274) (625)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEMRE 8,124 9,792 8,124 9,792
Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 B A EIH
within 12 months (shown HEEMNFIE (DR
under current liabilities) HEaBETIR) (5,726) (5,861)
Amount due for settlement after P12 A BB BEER
12 months (shown under FIE(RERBAR
non-current liabilities) ETHR) 2,398 3,931

As at 31 March 2025, the average effective borrowing rate
was 7.03% (2024: 6.96%) p.a.. Interest rates are fixed at
the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE
A% A<

FRAEAKIT (T F B
0.170) 2 E@%

33. SHARE CAPITAL 28

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2024: HK$0.1) each

Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EERHE =8
HK$'000
BETFT
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FMA—H 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
Addition (Note) AE (&) 30,000,000,000 3,000,000
At 31 March 2024, R-E-_mE=A=+-A8"
1 April 2024 and “E-NMENA-HR
31 March 2025 —E_HEF=A=1+-H 50,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BERTREE:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, R-E-=5DMA—-A"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 :g—ﬂa:ﬁ:+—a .
“E-NMENA-HER
—E-HF¥=A=+—H 10,520,324,505 1,052,032

Note: By ordinary resolution passed on 25 August 2023, the
authorised share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$2,000,000,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each to HK$5,000,000,000 divided into
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares by the creation of an additional
30,000,000,000 ordinary shares, such new shares ranking pari
passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company.

GES

BER-_ZE-_=Z=FNA_-_1+EHH
BRAMNLTEAZR BHEREFIH
30,000,000,0008% & @M% - 5 A2 A0
S TE B AN | 7 #2,000,000,0007T (5
/20,000,000,0000% & f% 78 #0.107T
Y 98 A% ) 3 10 &= 7% #5,000,000,000
7t (9 /A50,000,000,0000% % i %)

ZEFROESHFEEARRBRAR

ZHERSMAL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 & Z ~Z - R A =+—HIFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 33. AN ()

234

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. The Directors regard total equity as capital, for
capital management purposes.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of change in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new
shares.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities,
the Group is required to comply with certain financial
covenants, such as consolidated tangible net worth, ratio
of consolidated net borrowing to consolidated tangible
net worth, ratio of total liability to total asset, etc. The
Group has complied with these covenants throughout the
year by closely monitoring the Group’s financial position
and regularly re-visit the covenant requirements during
operations to ensure full compliance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a B R Ak MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. &AA B B Ak R &
THE COMPANY

2025 2024
—E-HRE —_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RAR KA 105,100 105,100
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGB 8,986,508 8,648,967
Investments in associates and joint ventures ~ REfZE AR LALLM EZ
wE 124,209 124,677
Investments at fair value through profit or loss A F{EF ABZHE 2 & & 983,013 1,082,127
Investments in artworks TR E 3,100 -
10,201,930 9,960,871
Current assets RBEE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss ZAF{EF ABFEZEE 83,676 54,116
Debt investments BBKE 66,106 62,229
Accounts receivables J7E U BR 3% 2,618 3,671
Interest receivables JFE U T 2, 5,680 3,840
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B8 « 12 & K& H b B UK
wIE 4,434 29,202
Bank and cash balances RTEReER 9,618 13,869
172,132 166,927
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 10,374,062 10,127,798
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. KA GBI BRI K ()

THE COMPANY (Continued)

2025 2024
—E-FHE —E-MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRkBE
Equity =
Share capital fi% A< 1,052,032 1,052,032
Reserves ] 8,649,831 8,715,454
Total equity R 9,701,863 9,767,486
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables B b fE < 5008 28,095 27,994
Financial liabilities at fair value through EAFEGFABRERES
profit or loss WBBeE 3,366 1,400
Borrowings B 640,261 330,000
671,722 359,394
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Financial liabilities at fair value through EAFEFABRES
profit or loss BxaE 477 918
Total liabilities wmesE 672,199 360,312
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HERRAE 10,374,062 10,127,798
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,701,863 9,767,486
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

35. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

The Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Company

35. &l
(a) &% H
AREEBRARERERBAEFE 2
HeEREGE2INEGEERR
H2HEKERREEERE
*o
(b) &2
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
% 17 8% 8 RAItER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T BT T

At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FmWA—H 9,111,087 (338,190) 8,772,897
Total comprehensive RFEEEZHEMZERE

expense for the year - (57,443) (57,443)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZWAF=RA=+—H 9,111,087 (395,633) 8,715,454
At 1 April 2024 R-ZE-_MNEMNA—H 9,111,087 (395,633) 8,715,454
Total comprehensive AFEEEERAZEE

expense for the year - (65,623) (65,623)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-_HAF=HA=+-—H 9,111,087 (461,256) 8,649,831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

5. @& ()
(c) RIEZHERAR

35. RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium (i) RHOEE
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman BRERSBESRARE AR
Islands, the funds in the share premium AR EERNE A DK
account of the Company are distributable to ?K“ﬂ%% ’\ﬁ?ﬁl@fk%
the shareholders of the Company provided DR EBH% RNRAAEAE
that immediately following the date on which B NEEERNA %%ﬁ‘%%@
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the RREIEAERS-
Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(ii) Surplus reserve (i) ZerfEE
According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC BEFBRAGE AEEZ
subsidiaries/associates of the Group (excluding mEKER R HE A 7
foreign investment enterprises) are required (& E,‘}EM\/%JJ:%)/A
to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, 10% 2 B BF (&F !Q
as determined under the PRC Accounting STEREE) B AEE B
Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve HE BEE%REERESR
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their HEFMEARZ50% - EHE
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve ZREBERARRIEERE
must be made before distribution of a dividend BI#ETT ©
to shareholders.

(iii) Exchange reserve (iii) EREE
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange EHREBEREBINET
differences arising from the translation of the M mREENFTBINEZE
financial statements of foreign operations. The BB HIRIBGRE MW
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the KW 2R E
accounting policies in note 3 to the consolidated o

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

36. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

37.

The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing
the net asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2025
of HK$9,947,604,000 (2024: HK$9,912,620,000) by the
number of ordinary shares in issue at that date, being
10,520,324,505 (2024: 10,520,324,505).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of Block Al Company Limited
(“Block Al")

On 9 April 2024, the Board has approved the disposal
of Block Al to an independent third party purchaser
for a consideration of HK$15,000,000. The disposal of
Block Al was completed on 9 April 2024.

36.

37.

SREEFE

BREEFEREASENR_ZT=-H
FE=HF=1T—HBZ2EBEEREBK
9,947,604,0007T (Z T Z I F : B &
9,912,620,0007C ) R AE HE #1722
B EE10,520,324,5050% (=&
— P94 :10,520,324,5050% ) 5+ &

mERTMERWE

(a) H%EBlock Al Company
Limited ([ Block Al |)

R-ZE-_WNFNBEALH EFE
EHERNBYIE=ZFERLE
Block Al X 1B &7 %15,000,000

o HEBlock AIERA-Z — M4
@ﬂnarﬂ

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REEEREEFENT:
HK$'000
BT T
Intangible assets mIVEE 71
Investments at fair value through profit or loss ERAVEFABERECRE 17,471
Prepayment TEH IR 23
Bank balances WITHEF 48
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE 17,613
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHEB AR EE (2,613)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BRE-NUBE2IHN 15,000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEENRERAFE:
Cash consideration received ERBEeRE 15,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHERSMERIRESER (48)
14,952
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

37.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Disposal of WK Millennia Holdings
Limited ("WK Millennia”)

e Re mEX B 5 ()

(b) & & WK Millennia
Holdings Limited ([ WK

Millennia |)
On 30 October 2024, the Board has approved the RZZE_MNFE+A=+HB &=
disposal of WK Millennia, to an independent third EEMAERN—BBIE=FEXK
party purchaser for a total consideration of US$1. 1 & WK Millennia B8R E A1
The disposal of WK Millennia was completed on 30 Lo HE WK MillenniaB A =&

October 2024.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

—mE+ASTEER-

REEERZEEFENT:

HK$'000
BET T
Bank balances RITHET 6
Other payables Hfh FE A 5RIB (4)
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE 2
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERBAREE (2)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash (included in K& — IR & I F
other receivables) (B N EL A e U 51 TE) -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMEENBESRLFE:
Cash consideration received EHRERE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERERERREER (6)
(6)
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37.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 37. WA REMERME (@
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Disposal of World Master Global Limited (c) HEFBRIRERAT
(“World Master”) ([FEI]RER])
On 27 March 2025, the Board has approved the R-_E-_AF=FA_-_++H8 #
disposal of World Master, to an independent $AETtt?Eﬁ*%ﬁZ%:\HE
third party purchaser for a total consideration of FHEFHERK BRERBE
HK$20,000. The disposal of World Master was 20,0007T ° ﬁ%ry%i&ﬂtaﬁé:
completed on 27 March 2025. E_HAFE=A-++tHEK-
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REEERCEEFENT
HK$'000
BET T
Bank balances wITHET 122
Other payables Hh JE S BB (2)
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 120
Release of foreign currency translation reserve R BR INEEIE 3 18 (3,923)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MHERQ R W 3,823

Total consideration — satisfied by cash (included in R & — IR & F

other receivables) (PN EAh EUFRIE) 20
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMEENESRLFE:
Cash consideration received BEWBESKE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERERERREER (122)
(122)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. %8R & mnE XM 2
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(d) Disposal of WK Venture Success Limited (d) HE WK Venture Success
(“WK Venture”) Limited ([ WK Venture |)
On 28 July 2023, the Board has approved the RZEBEZ_=F+tA=-+N\H &
disposal of WK Venture to an independent third party E2eCHERN—RBLE=FE
purchaser for a consideration of HK$40,000,000. The = HE WK Venture: (£B &B K
disposal of WK Venture was completed on 28 July 40,000,0007T ° it & WK Venture
2023. ERZZT_=F+A=-+N\Bx

B o
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REEEREEFEMT:
HK$'000
BT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss EAFEFABREZRE 9,521
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE 9,521
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary e — R E R A 30,479
Total consideration BB 40,000
Satisfied by: BT AR
Cash B 15,000
Cash (included in other receivables) He (A AEAEYRIE) 25,000
Total cash consideration @R e RE 40,000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEENRESRAFE:
Cash consideration received EWRESRE 15,000
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  37.

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(e) Disposal of WK Metalight Holdings
Limited ("WK Metalight”)

On 4 August 2023, the Board has approved the
disposal of WK Metalight through WK Intellect
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
to an independent third party purchaser for a
consideration of HK$1,500,000. The disposal of WK
Metalight was completed on 4 August 2023.

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

HABRERERWE @)

(e) HE WK Metalight

Holdings Limited ([ WK
Metalight |)

RZBE_=FNANA EFg
E#HEBARRAIZENBRA
WK Intellect Limited A — & &2
F =7 BRI EWK Metalight
KB BB % 1,500,0000C HE
WK Metalight ERZ=ZZFZ=4F )\
AMATER -

REEERBEFENT:

HK$'000
BT T
Investment in an associate R—REEBERAFZ2KE 66,219
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BATEFABRREZERE 397,305
Accounts and loans receivables JEURBR SR R B 3K 42,804
Interest receivables JE UL T B, 2,542
Other receivables H {th i W 5B 66
Bank balances RITHETF 249
Other payables H 8 < 5/ I8 (4,275)
Borrowings EE (559,188)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAEFREE (54,278)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve i B HIN IS BE R 31,939
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE KB A AR 23,839
Total consideration — satisfied by cash WRE-IRe SN 1,500
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRESMAFRE:
Cash consideration received BURERE 1,500
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHEREMEFERIAELIER (249)
1,251
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. &8 e R X Wit (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(f) Disposal of Silver Path Ventures Limited (f) HESilver Path Ventures
(“SPV") Limited ([SPV ])
On 27 September 2023, the Board has approved RZEZ=FhLhA=-++tH &£
the disposal of SPV through WK Strata Holdings EECHERBARRIZENE
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, AAJWK Strata Holdings Limited
to an independent third party purchaser for a total M—ZBILE=ZFERIE
consideration of HK$839,000,000. The disposal of SPV - 48 X € &8 #839,000,000
SPV was completed on 29 September 2023. T HESPVERZZEZ=FN1H
—t+ABERK-
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REEZREEFAEDT
HK$'000
BT T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BEAVTEFABREZRE 778,999
Bank balances RITHEF 1
Net assets disposed of EREEEFEAE 779,000
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— BB A AW 60,000

Total consideration — satisfied by investments at BRE - R ATFEFF ABEER

fair value through profit or loss ZIRE I 839,000
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: PEEERS ML FRE:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERENERRESER (1)
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. &8 e nea X Wit (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(g) Disposal of Prestige Power Global (g) HERHRIRBRAF

Limited (“PPG") (T HI|WER])

On 27 September 2023, the Board has approved RZTZ=FNLA=++tH &
the disposal of PPG through WK Strata Holdings R ERBARARRI2ENE
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, A A]WK Strata Holdings Limited
to an independent third party purchaser for a total BM—R2BUYEZFEREERN
consideration of HK$865,863,000. The disposal of IREK - B E BB 865,863,000
PPG was completed on 29 September 2023. ToHERNBHER Z_Z =

FARZTNABZERK

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REEZREEFEDT
HK$'000
BT T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BAVEFABREZRE 895,871
Bank balances WITHEF 2
Net assets disposed of EREEEFEAE 895,873
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR EIE (30,010)

Total consideration — satisfied by investments at BRE-URATFEF ABEER

fair value through profit or loss ZIELA 865,863
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: PEEERe ML FRE:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEReENERKRESEER (2)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. &8 e R X Wit (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

=

(h) Changes in liabilities arising from (h) EETHELEcEBEE
financing activities
The following table shows the Group's changes in TRETAFEAEEREZD
liabilities arising from financing activities during the EXzBEES:
year:
Total liabilities
Interest Lease from financing
payables Borrowings liabilities activities
R FE EE HEEE ZBaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT
At 1 April 2023 R-_ZE-=ZFWNA—AH 34,898 1,280,393 13,371 1,328,662
Changes in cash flows Bemned (62,800) 714,649 (9,274) 642,575
Non-cash changes EHEEY
— Interest charged -FEER 85,401 = 965 86,366
- Addition -hE S - 4,730 4,730
- Disposal of subsidiaries —HEWRB AR (3,048) (559,188) = (562,236)
- Exchange difference ~[EREE (208) (18,440) = (18,648)

At 31 March 2024 and R-E-ME=A=+-0RK

1 April 2024 —Z_NEMAB-A 54,243 1,417,414 9,792 1,481,449
Changes in cash flows BeRER (61,168) (694,520) (7,305) (762,993)
Non-cash changes kRe#
- Interest charged -MEER 45,322 - 651 45,973
- Addition -hE = = 5,945 5,945
- Settlement* —gEE (6,046) (79,879) - (85,925)
- Early termination of -RELLESHE
lease agreement - - (955) (955)
— Transfer — e (773) 773 = =
- Exchange difference ~ERES (161) (530) 4) (695)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-_HZ5=A=+—H 31,417 643,258 8,124 682,799
*  Set-off against debt investments * BEKREEN
38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. A ABIE
As at 31 March 2025, the Group and the Company did not RZZBEZRAF=A=+—HB AEEK
have any significant contingent liabilities (2024: nil). AR EEMERKREBE(ZZE
—mEE) e
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39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 BiZ2 —E-_hFE=A=1+—HIFE
39, B R IE

AREBERHEHRNEARAIELT

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

2025 2024
—E-RE T _UF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Capital contribution to 3 5 % MR EEETE (a) 96,314 97,016
Capital contribution to [a OP Fine Billion L.P. )£ &
OP Fine Billion L.P. (b) 5,000 5,000
Capital contribution to % &% 8¢ mRAIE s O8m)
(B BFRERERAA HFREERAA
("ReIZae") ([RelEeel) & (0 3,210 3,234
Capital contribution to mEBEEEBRERAR
LBEREBRERAER AR AR ([MEZXERE])FE
(“Hengjiamelian™) (d) 150,000 150,000
Capital contribution to A5 S8 IERKEMRE
SEBERREMBEIRE RO wER L ([FHREMR
("RREMES") Eg])xE (e) 77,051 77,612
331,575 332,862
Notes: M 5
(@)  According to “Investment agreement” of FELBEZE, the Group (@) MREREBEY (REHE)  A£EEE

has committed to a capital contribution of RMB90,000,000,
equivalent to HK$96,314,000 (2024: HK$97,016,000), to 3 &
#  The capital will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

According to the "Exempted Limited Partnership Agreement”
signed between OPFI GP(2) Limited, as the general partner,
and the limited partner on 24 November 2015, the Group has
committed to a capital contribution of HK$5,000,000. The capital

will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

of RAIZE &,
the Company has committed to a capital contrlbutlon
of RMB3,000,000, equivalent to HK$3,210,000 (2024:
HK$3,234,000), to E &I%5 A . The capital will be drawn down on
as-needed basis.

According to “shareholders’ resolution”

A [A) ROTE g 2 )+ & A R 190,000,000
7T (Z B %96,314,0007T (ZZE =Y
& % #97,016,00000) ) cE &I
EiE-) 8

R 3% OPFI GP(2) Limited (& — & ¥
NEESRABAR-Z—RF+—A
ZHHRAENZ(EREBEREAEW
&) A E B AT E B %5,000,000
T EE BT E MR

BEREIE 2 (RIRER) - AR

B AGE M R Al ﬁﬁ/iéf/\ﬁﬁzs,ooo,ooo
T (Z{EHB%3,210,000c (=T =
& R3,234,00000) ) KR BIRFE
fHEE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jiﬁ¥&%‘:€|§ﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)  According to a subscription agreement signed between

39, B AREIE ()
Bzt : (&)

(d  REARQ

A(EREE2EWMBRAR)HE

40.

the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, and
Hengjiameilian in September 2021, the Group has committed to
a capital contribution of HK$600,000,000. As at 31 March 2025,
HK$450,000,000 (2024: HK$450,000,000) has been paid. The
capital will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

According to Partnership Agreement of B %8fi1E £, the Group
has committed to a capital contribution of RMB780,000,000.
As at 31 March 2025, RMB708,000,000, equivalent to
HK$757,666,000, (2024: RMB708,000,000, equivalent to
HK$763,189,000), has been paid.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions and balances with related
parties

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions and

40.

1‘E;€E%H§W_$:—¢nﬂmwj 75
e - AN & B &G )T & B #600,000,000
T R-ZZTE-_AF=A=+—H BX
1< 7 #450,000,0007T (=T Z & : &
#450,000,0007T) - ZEB &M IEE R
RHER

RIEHSREMESHEAEDRE 5@
A #EEE AR ¥780,000,0000T R =
T-RF=ZA=+—H BEXFHAR%
708,000,000t (& B % #757,666,000
L) (ZZEZHF: AR %708,000,000
7t (S5 {E7#8%763,189,0007T) ) °

AR5
HEBATZRERES

BR

REAVMBRERMEE MBI D

2

BREEBALRZNETIN K&
BRAFEREBBA LIRS RE

balances with its related parties during the year: FoT:
2025 2024
—E-IfF —EZNE
Name of related party Nature of transaction Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BBRALTERE RHME B oF BETT BETT
GoFintech Loan interest expenses (573) N/A
BEEf ERMBHX TEm
Fortune Asset Management Limited (“FAML") Investment management fee - (915)
RREAEERARAR([ER]) REERE
ERAARB ORI BB AT (“E®AM")  Office rental income 117 =
& @k (ORI BR AR (T8 R% n’B]J) PREHSKA
ERBAE(NIDRERAEEEEARA Office rental income
("BREE) (© 242 523
FREE(MDBREREESEERRAR HAZHEEKA
(lE2ade])
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

Transactions and balances with related

parties (Continued)

40. Bt AT 5 ()

HEBATZXRERER (4)

2025 2024
ot S -3 —TomE
Name of related party Nature of balance Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BBALHB EENE b3 BETT BETT
FAML Investment management fee payable (b) 1,558 N/A
=R ERREERE TER
Rich Fortune Allied Limited (“RFAL")  Office rent, building management fee
and government rates payables (c) N/A 391
e EERAR ((MEME]) ENBAZERE BEFERBAK
IR 2= 6 AEA
Notes: P 5E
(a) GoFintech is a substantial shareholder and a connected person (a) HREBEEEFREE_ZT_HA fF =
of the Company, as GoFintech indirectly owned 29.13% of the A=+—HLFEME ??E BAR
Company during the year ended 31 March 2025. 29.13% EQES%-??%$’AETZI
ERFREEAT

(b) FAML was a related party to the Group as Dr. LIU Zhiwei, was
the director of the holding company of FAML. Dr. LIU Zhiwei
was resigned as the director of the holding company of FAML
during the year ended 31 March 2024. FAML is a wholly owned

subsidiary of GoFintech.

(0 =E#E: and B EE was a related party to the Group as Dr.
LIU Zhiwei, is a beneficial shareholder of E587% 78 and B8 & E .
They are wholly owned subsidiaries of GoFintech.

(d) RFAL was a related party to the Group as Dr. LIU Zhiwei, is a
common director and ultimate beneficial shareholder of RFAL.

Dr. Liu Zhiwei was resigned as the executive director of the

Company on 9 October 2024.

Compensation of key management

personnel

The key management personnel of the Group comprises all
directors, details of their remuneration are disclosed in note
13(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

(by HRYEEFLZAERZERAFTN
EE MEREAAKERBE S NS
BEIRBE-_ZT_NF=A=+— EI
LLEERIESE %ﬁZhH”"TE’]§$
BABREEFZ2EMBR

(0 MHARYSEBELREREANERESR
BEEBR MEREAREREEER
AEEBABT - ZERARBEEE T
2EMBAR-

(d ®BRANEEBLABENEZARAES
RBEEERZBRR UHEYEGRAE

Bzl
MEBBETR T -_MWFE+ANBEE
TEARRBHITES -
FTEEEASHM
AEBFTEZEEBASEREL2EES
FEZHSHFBNEA M BREMN T
13(a) # 55 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FlNANClAL STATEMENTS
an\ /ZtﬁﬁeF&’%:ZMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 B Z T -_hF=—A=1+—HILtFE

41. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 41. "NEBEEZ T EIREF

i

HELD BY THE GROUP ]

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March AEBRBE ETMRUNENEHREER =
2025 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules TR F=-A=+—HBFE2REHF

are as follows: BT :
Number of  Proportion Netasset  Unrealised  Realised  Dividend Percentage of
investee’s  of investees Carrying  attributable  gain/(loss)  gain for receivable/ the Group's
Narme of investments Nature of business shares owned  capital owned Cost ~ amount totheGroup fortheyear  theyear  received total assets
REAR fZ3%
FEMRELR DEZ AREME  EARER ERE  Eh/EH BEEL
RE2% $HHE ZRBEA EALH B BEE EETE UE/(FB) #%R4E ke Adk

HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
ARTn  EWTT BN EWTR EETn ARTn

Investments at fair value through

profit or loss
FATEH A BRI RE
OPIM - non-voting preference shares  Asset management 3,000 (Ordinary 100.00% 59,469 26,600 26,600 2,100 - - 0.25%
shares) and 580
(Preference Shares)
M -EEERZERR EEER 30008 (¥ER) R
5808 (B£R)
{CarbonX Group Limited - Medical and healthcare 7,960,784 773% 1,088,920 690,39 690,396 (107,230) - o 1 6.47%
ordinary shares
KEEREBARAA- Lk BERRE
Jiedaibao Limited Internet-based financial services 21,269,700 249% 900,389 983,013 983,013 (99,114) - - 9.21%
EEEARAE BRRSRRH
Hengjiameilian Equity and property investments, 1,568 14.92% 450,000 442,765 442,765 10,412 - - 4.15%
and commodity trading
f RERNERE HRERES
RS Asset management N/A N/A 757666 754,617 754,617 (1422) - - 7.07%
KR EHES EEEE TER TER
EERAERGTRERETL  Aset management N/A NIA 450444 319,666 319,666 269 - - 3.00%
(ERRIESY)
EERRERMMRERETL  HEER TER TER
([ZREHEE])
ERRARMRER AR Asset management N/A NA 481568 489,207 489,207 2739 - . 459%
[ FEERAL")
BEFRERREL AT HEER TER TER
Uzaznis))
IiEssRAr= T XERRAT Eucton N/A NA 1704863 1587000 1,587,000 (45,000) - - 14.88%
MiEenaiz e R s BARAR Mz TER TER
ZERRRRERAT Investment holding N/A 125% 370000 342,448 3,448 (676) - - 3%
SEERERRLT REAR TER

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2024/25
ENERREBR DA / F302024/25



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

41. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS  41.

HELD BY THE GROUP (Continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March
2025 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules
are as follows: (Continued)

AEERFB T BERER

15 &)

AEERE EMBAUFNEFRERZ
= A F=-_A=+t—HBHEEZHREF
EWT: ()

Net asset Percentage of
Principal activity Carrying attributable Total interest the Group's
Name of investments of borrower Tenure Cost amount to the Group  for the year Interest detail total assets
KEEME hEEEAEE
RELR BRAETEEH HR A KEE EERE FAASAR HERE ZEAL
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BRTn  BETn EETx
Debt investments
EHRE
Debenture A Investment holding 9 months 450,000 441,393 441,393 33,966 7.00% p.a., 4.14%
pay upon maturity
EBA RERR 9% A ER%E1.0% ¢
REBE A
Debenture B Investment holding 9 months 430,000 421,775 421,775 33,234 7.00% p.a., 3.95%
pay upon maturity
&8 REER 9% A ER%E1.0% ¢
REBE A
#: Represents ten largest investments as at 31 March 2025. fr BRZZEZRE=ZA=1T—HZTAEK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,ji%¥ﬁ%:2|§ﬁ?

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

41. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 41. "NEBEEZ T EIREF
HELD BY THE GROUP (continued) 15 %)

i

AEEREBEEMRUENERER =

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March

2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules TNF=A=+—HFEE2REHF
are as follows: BT :
Numberof ~ Proportion Net asset Unrealised Dividend Percentage of
investee’s  of investee's Carrying  attributable (loss)/gain ~ Realised gain ~ receivable/ the Group's

Name of investments Nature of busingss shares owned  capital owned Cost  amount totheGroup  fortheyear  for the year received total assets
EEARA hAER
EEFRELT NGV KEBfE  ERAR ME RE/BK BEEY
REZR $HILE WAl ERHBI RE BRE ZEERE (BB ME  #R4R ks Bl
HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  Afn EETn BETT  RETn BETR
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss
BAFEH FREIRE
OPIM - non-voting preference shares  Asset management 3,000 (Ordinary 100.00% 58,000 24,500 24,500 (15,400) - - 0.21%
shares) and 580
(Preference Shares)
O -EEERZEER EEER 30000 (BB R
580k (B5£)
iCarbonX Group Limited Medical and healthcare 7,960,784 773% 1098790 797626 797,626 (148,223) - - * 6.98%
- ordinary shares
KEEREBARAA- Lk BERRE
Jiedaibao Limited Internet-based financial services 21,269,700 249% 900389 1,082,127 1,082,127 111,607 - -k 9.47%
EEEARAE BEAcBRE
Hengjiameilian Equity and property investments, 1,568 149% 450000 432353 432,353 (15,083) - -k 3.79%
and commodity trading
EExE RERNEZRE HRERES
BREnEE Asset management N/A NA 803,084 761537 761,537 (1,441) = - * 6.67%
KR EMES EEEE R R
ERiHIES Asset management /A NA 450232 418281 418,281 4144 - - 3.66%
LY EEER el AER
RESRAS Asset management /A NA 489002 490,038 490,038 5,009 - -t 4.29%
REGMEL EREE AR R
B)PEEFEAREREEREAR  tducation NA A 1704863 1632000 1,632,000 (712,863 - - 1429%
M EEseAEEASEARAT 4 AR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-.r\ Pl jﬁ%#’&% Bﬁ--LE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #Z — T " HAF=A=+—HItFE

41. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 41. "NEBEEZ T EIREF

HELD BY THE GROUP (continued) (=R )
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March AEERE ETHRAUFNEHENC
2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules T_NFE=A=+—HFE2HREHF
are as follows: (Continued) BT (&)
Net asset Percentage of
Principal activity Carrying  attributable ~ Total interest the Group's
Name of investments of horrower Tenure Cost amount  to the Group for the year Interest detail total assets
REEfHE EAGEREE
REAR ERTLELH il A REE CEERE SRASER MEHE Zank
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AT BETT  B%TRn BETTL

Debt investments
Hong Kong Nanshan Trading 1 year 975,000 969,585 969,585 61,560 750% pa, * 8.49%
Development Limited pay semi-annually
7.5%
23-05-2024
FEHUERERLAR E5 15 FRI%7.50%
75% HEN-R*
23-05-2024
Debenture B Investment holding 9 months 450,000 447,501 447,501 40,611 9.00% p.a., pay * 3.92%
upon maturity
E%B REZR 9fi A FF1%9.00%
RYBER
Debenture C Investment holding 9 months 430,000 427,612 427,612 38,806 9.00% p.a., pay * 3.74%
upon maturity
fExC REZR 9fi A FF%9.00%
REBE A
e Represents ten largest investments as at 31 March 2024. 1 BRIZIEZWF=A=+—H2Z2+KE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #iZ2 — T - HF-A=+—HItFE

42 mMEMRER

BB MR

42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 December 2024, GoFintech, as the purchaser,
and the Company as the vendor entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which GoFintech has
conditionally agreed to purchase and the Company has
conditionally agreed to sell the 60,000,000 shares of
CSOP, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, representing 22.50% of the entire issued share
capital of CSOP (the "Disposal”), at the consideration in
the amount of HK$1,110,000,000, which shall be settled
by the allotment and issuance of 1,405,063,292 shares of
GoFintech at the issue price of approximately HK$0.79 per
Consideration Share.

As at the reporting date, certain conditions precedent to
completion of the transactions contemplated under the
sale and purchase agreement which include, among other
things, the approval of the Disposal, the sale and purchase
agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
by the independent Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company to be convened on 15
July 2025, have not been fulfilled. The parties shall use
reasonable endeavours to finalise the transaction on or
before 31 July 2025, being the long stop date of the sale
and purchase agreement.
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42.

43.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IS HRARMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 #lZ2 =T " HF=A=+—HIEFE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Upon the completion of such Disposal, CSOP will be no
longer accounted for as an associate of the Group.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 31 December 2024, 21 January 2025, 30 April 2025,
7 May 2025, 12 May 2025 and circular dated 25 June
2025.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June
2025.

42.

43.

e HI1E FI8 ()

RZMEFHERE BARRETH
ERAKBEZBERBAR-

HERBE2HARR B AT -
=t E i E N T R — A — B
—t+t—BA - ZE-_RAFWMWA=+H =
E-_RFRAEtHEZETE-_RAFHA
FTZECCAEURBBAZSE AT
ANAZt+HRBZBEK-

AR A M RK

gEepR_E-_AF<~A=-++tAH
HERRENZREEUBRE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
SR

AEESROREMBRFEZE AMEENRE
ERAENREZAEEZM RS EB2
FIMT -ABBETBEEZM B RR — &

not form part of the audited financial statements. e

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEE

256

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-RE —E-_NF —ZE-=F ZE-_-fF —E-_—F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT A%Tx A%Tx A%Tx  AETx
Results E4
Turnover S 598,364 522,006 469,589 271,503 624,258
Revenue Y25 273,067 308,329 192,741 93,929 110,522
Profit before tax AT &R 72,110 54,608 149,523 217,160 376,669
Income tax (expenses)/credit R (Ax) /#% (7,952) (955) (3,140) 4,113 (4,113)
Profit for the year REEEF 64,158 53,653 146,383 221,273 372,556
Other comprehensive (expense)/  E 2 (F%) /
income Yoz (29,174)  (151,788)  (119,452) 36,323 37,449
Total comprehensive income/ 2HEME/ (FAX)
(expense) ok 34,984 (98,135) 26,931 257,596 410,005
At 31 March
W=A=+-8
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-RE —_T-WNFE —ZT-=F —T--_F —T-_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A%Tx A%Trx A%Tx  AETx
Assets and liabilities EERAERE
Total assets BERE 10,668,387 11,422,397 11,366,205 7,441,213 5,368,288
Total liabilities BaE (720,783) (1,509,777) (1,355,450) (1,912,969)  (841,109)
Net assets EETE 9,947,604 9,912,620 10,010,755 5,528,244 4,527,179
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